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Maxnerva Technology Services Limited is a limited liability company
incorporated in Bermuda on 3 February 1994 and it has been listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) since 14 April 1994. Together with its subsidiaries, the group
principally engages in digital industry and digital life businesses.

OUR BUSINESS

Digital industry business

We provide a full range of smart manufacturing solutions and services to
our customers, including i) the implementation of a combination of software
systems (e.g. enterprise resources planning (the “ERP”), manufacturing
execution system (the “MES”), product lifecycle management system (the
“PLM”) and warehouse management system (the “WMS”) and automation
equipment into the production lines to lower costs and increase operational
effectiveness and efficiency through smart processes; ii) the implementation of
facility monitor and control system (the “FMCS”) for monitoring the efficiency of
the usage of water, power, and gas at production plants; iii) the implementation
of facial recognition system for labour and security management of the entire
industrial parks; and iv) the provision of testing and inspection services for new
and existing electronic products. We also provide daily |.T. operating services
and post-installation maintenance work in relation to those smart manufacturing
solutions.

Digital life business

Our digital life business mainly consists of smart office equipment, digital
signage and other retail solution business. Smart office equipment business
manages the supply chain and distributes branded meeting room and lifestyle
electronic equipment to Asia-Pacific, EMEA and Americas regions. Likewise,
we also provide advanced digital signage and other retail solutions to our
customers in Taiwan.
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OUR MISSION AND STRATEGY

By leveraging digitalization and advanced technology, we enable our clients,
predominantly business enterprises, to conduct businesses in more effective
ways.

To achieve the above mission, we are required to recruit, retain and motivate
talents in new market and new product development, and for project, product
and service delivery. Our long-term success also highly depends on our ability
to consistently build sustainable partnerships with qualified vendors and ensure
overwhelming customer satisfactions. Thus, we must have the apt corporate
culture and talent policies in place to achieve our corporate objectives.

OUR CORPORATE CULTURE

Innovation with constant improvement

We promote innovation with constant improvement since it is the root of
success in the highly competitive tech industry. It helps differentiate one from
the others and keep the winner ahead of its competitors. Without innovation
and improvement, one shall fall far behind and even face survival issues. To
promote innovation, we must tolerate failures which bestow invaluable know-
hows and experience as the foundation for our future success. What innovation
means to us is not only new inventions on technology but also includes
innovations on ideas, business models, work flows and processes etc.

Customer centric

We regard satisfying the present and future needs of our customers as our
top priority. Customer satisfactions lead to repeat purchases and word-of-
mouth resulted in more business opportunities. In addition, costs of serving
existing customers are in general lower than those of acquiring new customers.
To satisfy our customers, we must provide quality products or services at
reasonable prices in the required timeline. Excellent user experience and after
sales services are also vital to gain gratifications.

Mutual benefit to our stakeholders

We believe all stakeholders including customers, suppliers, employees,
shareholders, communities, environment etc. should obtain fair shares of
the results from the business in order to preserve a sustainable operation.
Traditional thoughts of extracting most from customers, exploiting the suppliers
and employees, abusing the environment and local communities to maximize
the returns are falling short of the general market expectations nowadays.

4 EZEHN R B R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

LFEURBEE FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
UTATERBELEMBFEFEZAHZES The following is a summary of the consolidated results, assets and liabilities of
BEKBE the group for the last five financial years.
8E HE HE H5Z S
EmE —$-=f —T--F T _Z°TF
+ZH +Z8 +Z8 +-R +ZA
=+-H =+—H =+—H =+—H =+—A
HEE EEFE IEEE EEE EFE
For the For the For the For the For the

year ended year ended year ended year ended year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
ARBETFR ANREEFT AEBEFT ANEEFT AREEFT
RMB’000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB’000 RMB 000

WA Revenue 558,939 677,877 832,461 596,349 523,417
MR FEL (B598) /s (Loss)/profit attributable to

shareholders (12,443) (16,831) 27,830 34,261 14,634

1 7’ 7 7 7

ZEZmE =5 IEZIZE -5 CETITH

+=A +ZH +-R +-A +ZA

=+-H =+—H =+—H =+—H =+-A

As at As at As at As at As at

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

ARBETFR ARETT AREBTT ARETZ ARETZ
RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

BEE Total assets 654,190 620,123 726,339 641,930 536,428
FEA=E Total liabilities 229,277 183,672 275,306 229,445 181,635
BEZE Net assets 424,913 436,451 451,033 412,485 354,793
(EEN Share capital 68,447 68,447 68,447 68,447 64,479
R mBRAMEE Share premium and other reserves 356,466 368,004 382,586 344,038 290,314
Fag Total equity 424,913 436,451 451,033 412,485 354,793
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INTERNATIONALIZATION

Our group has been undergoing its own evolution in responding to the external
economic and geopolitical development. Previously, we used to focus solely in
the PRC market, the world’s factory, due to our business nature. However, the
geopolitical development since 2018 has changed the entire global landscape.
A huge number of new factories have been rapidly built in Southeast Asia,
India, Eastern Europe and Latin Americas in wake of the production capacity
diversification strategy of the global manufacturing industry. To capture these
business opportunities, we have no other alternative but to expand our
footprints beyond the PRC market in order to survive and thrive. We faced
the same challenges like other players when expanding to new countries
and we are required to swallow the short-term pains such as acclimatizing
the new working culture and customs, new legal and regulatory systems,
and transforming our PRC-dominated workforce to diversified talents. It is
an unchartered water for us but we are moving forward. Our new office in
Bac Ninh City, Northern Vietnam, was opened in early 2024 and our office in
Bengaluru, Southern India, is expected to commence operation in second half
of 2025. We are also eyeing new opportunities in Taiwan and the US markets.

TRANSFORMATION

We have taken a hard look at our operations and refining our strategic focus
aimed at improving our efficiency and effectiveness, and driving our future
growth. We are confident that these initiatives will set the foundation for a
stronger and more resilient company. Our commitment to the company’s
long-term success remains unwavering.

APPRECIATIONS

On behalf of the board of directors, | would like to express our sincere
gratitude to our dedicated employees, our loyal customers, and our supportive
stakeholders. Your belief in our vision and your continued support are thrusting
us to overcome any obstacles and strive for excellence. Together we will build a
bright future for our company.

CHANG Chuan-Wang
Chairman
Hong Kong, 27 March 2025
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AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

We principally engage in digital industry and digital life businesses. Our revenue
fell by 18% to RMB558.9 million (2023: RMB677.9 million) and our reported
net loss decreased by 26% to RMB12.4 million (2023: RMB16.8 million) for the
reporting year. If stripping out the unrealized net losses from our investments,
the impairment loss of the intangible assets and investment in an associate, our
adjusted net profit in 2024 was RMB7.0 million versus an adjusted net loss of
RMBS5.1 million in 2023.

Inventory and Trade Receivable

As at 31 December 2024, there were approximately RMB123.3 million in
inventory (2023: RMB82.7 million) and they are primarily project-related
hardware and software products pending to be delivered to our customers,
and the finished goods of smart office equipment. Inventory turnover for the
reporting year increased to 80 days from 73 days as compared to the year of
2023 mainly because of the re-stock of the smart equipment business in late
2024 and the pile up of I.T. equipment for oversea projects.

As at 31 December 2024, there were approximately RMB190.6 million in trade
and lease receivables (2023: RMB205.3 million) which consisted of current
and non-current portions of RMB188.3 million (2023: RMB201.7 million) and
RMB2.3 million (2023: RMB3.6 million) respectively. Some of our projects
have been structured as finance lease in which customers are eligible to
pay in periodic instalments over a specific number of years. Trade and lease
receivable turnover for the reporting year increased to 129 days from 115 days
as compared to the year of 2023 solely due to the magnitude of the decrease
in revenue was much higher than the fall in the average trade and lease
receivable balance.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2024, we had a net cash position while our cash and
cash equivalents were RMB186.3 million (2023: RMB189.8 million). Our total
assets of RMB654.2 million (2023: RMB620.1 million) were financed by total
liabilities of RMB229.3 million (2023: RMB183.7 million) and shareholders’
equity of RMB424.9 million (2023: RMB436.5 million). We had a current ratio of
2.50 (2023: 2.90). Trade payables were repayable within one year. No banking
facilities were available to the group (2023: Nil) and we had no bank borrowing
as well (2023: Nil).

Treasury Policy

We generally financed our operations with internally generated resources.
We have adopted a prudent management approach to our treasury policies
and therefore maintained a healthy liquidity position throughout the reporting
year. We strive to reduce credit risk exposure by performing periodic credit
evaluations of our external customers.

8 EZEHN R B R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continueq)

Foreign Exchange Exposure

We mainly operate in the PRC, Hong Kong, Taiwan, the United States of
America (the “US”), Europe and Southeast Asia with most of the transactions
settled in Chinese yuan, US dollars, New Taiwanese dollars, Hong Kong
dollars, Vietnamese dong, Euro and British pounds. We are exposed to foreign
exchange risk from various currencies, primarily with respect to US dollars,
Euro and Vietnamese dong. We have a policy to require our group companies
to manage their foreign exchange risk against their functional currencies
which includes managing the exposures arising from sales and purchases
made by the relevant group companies in currencies other than their own
functional currencies. We also manage our foreign exchange risk by performing
regular reviews of the group’s net foreign exposures and would consider the
use of foreign exchange contracts to manage foreign exchange risks, where
appropriate. We did not use derivative financial instruments for speculative
purposes. Details of the group’s exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates
and related hedges are included in Note 3.1(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the reporting year, the world’s economy was vulnerable with immense
uncertainties due to the ongoing Russo-Ukrainian and Israel-Hamas Wars,
together with the self-feeding downward spiral in consumer and investor
confidence and economy growth in the PRC. Fortunately, major world
economies have started loosening their monetary policies since the third
quarter of 2024 and bringing some fresh air to the real economy.

Digital Industry Business

With the global and regional industrial players hastened their production
capacity diversification strategy from the PRC to the South and Southeast
Asia and near-shore destinations in Eastern Europe and Latin Americas, we
are falling behind in terms of local staff deployment when operating in new
countries. As a result, directing PRC staff to work for projects in new countries
increased our operating cost substantially. At the same time, the business
faced double bows in wake of the dramatic fall in the business opportunities
and increasing competitions in the PRC market. As a result, our segment
revenue and profit decreased by 20% and 54% year-on-year to RMB325.2
million and RMB18.8 million respectively.
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BUS|NESS REVIEW (continued)

Digital Life Business

Owing to the robust recovery in the retail sector in Taiwan after the pandemic,
our digital signage business has been performing well. New projects, including
sizable outdoor digital displays at a number of branches of a renowned
department store in Taipei and the digital signages at the new terminal of
Taoyuan International Airport, were delivered in 2024. Revenue of this business
increased by more than 7 times on a year-on-year basis during the year.

Players in the value chain of the smart office equipment business were
digesting the overstock inventory as well as facing challenges of slowing
market demand in the first half of 2024. We have made some adjustments in
our business in the second half of the year. Although we have witnessed some
recovering signs in late 2024, sales still fell by 33% when compared with the
year of 2023.

To sum up, segment revenue declined by 14% to RMB233.7 million but we
were able to turnaround this segment business and generated a profit of
RMB9.1 million during the year despite there was an amount of RMB2.3 million
impairment of the remaining intellectual properties (the “IPs”) of the Personify
business.

For the Personify business, we licensed the IPs from Hon Hai Precision Industry
Company Limited (“Hon Hai”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Hon Hai
Technology Group”) and commenced our trial run operation in February
2020 after the outbreak of COVID-19. The timing was perfect and video
conference had been widely adopted during the pandemic era. We decided
to acquire the IPs from Hon Hai Technology Group to enrich our product
portfolio after approximately ten months of trial-run operation. The transaction
was announced and completed on 27 December 2020 and 22 March 2021
respectively. The acquisition consideration is HK$23.34 million and settled
by the issuance of 46.68 million new shares to Hon Hai Technology Group at
HK$0.5 per share. Details are set out in the announcement and the circular of
the company dated 27 December 2020 and 22 February 2021 respectively. On
top of the subscriptions from B2C customers, we sub-licensed the software
and products to a number of well-known global corporations. From 2020 to
2023, Personify business contributed approximately US$8 million of revenue
to our group. We also devoted substantial amount of R&D resources to
develop new products in order to position the business for post-pandemic era.
Unfortunately, the newly developed products have been far from well received
by the market and its old products lost their appeals to the market in the post
pandemic era. As a result, Personify business dried out dramatically and its
revenue in 2024 was more than halved from 2023 to about US$0.4 million. The
management decided to make an impairment on the remaining net book value
of the IPs.

10 EZEHN R B R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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BUSINESS PROSPECT

The Trump administration of the US government brings new variables to the
entire world. On the positive end, Israel and Hamas agreed in early 2025
to cease fire for the Gaza war. US is also in talks with Russia for a peace
agreement to end the Russo-Ukrainian War through diplomatic efforts.
However, there are huge uncertainties on the global free trade system and
the Sino-US relations under the new US government. In addition, the wobbly
economy in the PRC remains a major global concern. Market generally believes
it may take years if not a decade for the world’s second largest economy to
shine again in face of the challenges from debt, demographics and deflation.

Digital Industry Business

We witnessed the business opportunities arising from production capacity
diversification from the PRC to other countries. With the strong emphasis of
reshoring initiatives by President Trump of the US, we believe there will be
interesting development in the US market in the forthcoming years. Besides,
many industrial players are investing heavily in new technology initiatives
and new capacities in Taiwan. We shall explore opportunities arising in
these markets in 2025. At the same time, we are accelerating our local staff
deployment and outsourcing strategy in Vietnam whereas our office in Bac Ninh
City, Northern Vietnam, has commenced operation since early 2024.

Digital Life Business

We are in talks with other potential new retail clients in Taiwan. With the new
and existing projects, we believe the digital signage business will continue to
contribute to the performance of the group in 2025.

For the smart office equipment business, we only take up a tiny global market
share in our verticals and we believe there are tremendous growth opportunities

in this business. We shall continue to dedicate sales and marketing efforts to
develop this business in 2025.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The company’s business risks are mainly the following:

(i) geopolitical and macroeconomic conditions of the globe and the PRC
which in turn will affect the general demand of I.T. solutions, services and
products;

(ii) market acceptance of our digital industry and digital life solutions;

(i) rapid technological changes that may disrupt the market positions and
demand of our existing solutions and products unpredictably; and

(iv)  greater foreign exchange risk exposure due to the expansion of our
businesses beyond the Greater China Region.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

Investment in SigmaSense, LLC (“SigmaSense”)

We invested US$2 million and US$0.5 million in 72,916 and 18,229 of
the preferred shares of SigmaSense in 2019 and 2020 respectively and
our investment accounted for approximately 1.56% of the total diluted
shareholding of SigmaSense as at 31 December 2024. SigmaSense was
founded in 2015 focusing on display related touch sensing technology for a
wide range of products, from laptops, tablets and smartphones to large format
interactive displays, gaming and automotive etc. Based on the assessment
of an independent appraisal, the valuation of our investment in SigmaSense
decreased to approximately US$4.2 million, about 4.7% of the total asset value
of the group as at 31 December 2024. The unrealized loss of the investment
was approximately RMB16.7 million during the reporting year. The investment is
expected to generate capital appreciations to the group in the medium to long
term.

Investment in GRC SinoGreen Fund V, L.P. (“GRC Fund”)

On 9 June 2021, the company announced that Maxnerva (Shenzhen)
Technology Services Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the company,
entered into the limited partnership agreement as a limited partner with GRC
SinoGreen Capital Co., Ltd. on 8 June 2021, in relation to the investment
in the GRC Fund. Pursuant to the limited partnership agreement, we have
committed to contribute RMB30 million which size is expected to account for
approximately 6% of the capital contribution committed by the partners of the
GRC Fund. The GRC Fund is established on 18 June 2021 and intends to
invest in strategic emerging industries, future industries and other industries
including but not limited to semiconductor, biomedicine, new energy, new
materials, high-end intelligent manufacturing and other high-tech industries.
Entering into the limited partnership agreement is a disclosable transaction and
details are set out in the announcement and supplementary announcement
of the company dated 9 June 2021 and 13 July 2021 respectively. We
invested RMB9 million and RMB21 million in 2021 and 2022 respectively.
As at 31 December 2024, the valuation of our investment in GRC Fund was
approximately RMB29.9 million, about 4.6% of the total asset value of the
group as at 31 December 2024. The unrealized loss of the investment was
approximately RMBO0.4 million during the reporting year. The investment is
expected to generate capital appreciations to the group in the long term.

Saved as disclosed above, we had no material acquisition and disposal of
subsidiaries, and significant investment during the reporting year.
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CHARGES ON GROUP’S ASSETS, CAPITAL
COMMITMENT, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES,
EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE

As at 31 December 2024, there were no charges on the group’s assets (2023:
Nil) and there were no capital commitments (2023: Nil).

As at 31 December 2024, the group was the defendant in an on-going
litigation. Combining with facts and the progress, as well as the opinions of
the external legal counsels of the group, it is uncertain whether the entity has
committed wrongdoing and the amount of potential claims is uncertain (2023:
Nil).

There were no material events after 31 December 2024.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND DIVIDENDS

As at 31 December 2024, the company has a total of 701,543,448 issued
shares with a par value of HK$0.1 each (2023: 701,543,448 shares).

Neither the company nor its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any
of the company’s listed securities during the reporting year of 2023 and 2024.

The board does not recommend any payment of a final dividend in respect of
the reporting year (31 December 2023: Nil).

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

For details of the continuing connected transaction, please refer to the
paragraph headed “Report of the Directors — Continuing Connected
Transactions” of this annual report.

EMPLOYEES, ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
COMPLIANCE

As at 31 December 2024, we employed a total of 270 employees (2023: 567
employees) located in the PRC, Taiwan, Vietnam, the US and Hong Kong.
We believe that our remuneration policy is in line with the prevailing market
practices and is determined on the basis of performance and experience of
the individuals. Sales personnel are remunerated by salaries and incentives in
accordance with the achievement of their sales target and account receivables
collection. General staff are offered year-end discretionary bonuses, which are
based on the divisional performance and individual appraisals.

We are dedicated to creating a favourable circumstance for caring of our
environment and community. It is our goal to build a more harmonious, civilized
and sustainable society by maintaining a high standard operation with integrity,
providing services of high quality and protecting the environment. For details,
please refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance (the “ESG”) Report
included in this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The board is committed to maintaining good corporate governance standard
and procedures to ensure the integrity, transparency and quality of disclosure in
order to enhance the shareholders’ value.

The company has adopted the principles and complied with all the applicable
code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out
in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) for the reporting year,
save for the deviations discussed below. The board will continuously review and
improve the corporate governance practices and standards of the company to
ensure that business activities and decision-making processes are regulated in
a proper and prudent manner.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTION

The company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its
own code of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions (the “Model
Code”). the directors have
confirmed that they have fully complied with the required standard as set out in
the Model Code throughout the reporting year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Having made specific enquiry of all directors,

The principal functions of the board are to:

1. shaping and monitoring the company’s culture;

2. setting long term strategic objectives and strategic policies with
appropriate focus on values creation and risk management;

3. ensuring appropriate and adequate reporting in the annual reports,
including financial statements, ESG, disclosures of the board’s practices
(e.g. the terms of references of its board committees), and various
policies (e.g. shareholder communication, remuneration, nomination,

dividend and diversity policies);

4, being accountable — the directors should be held accountable for their
actions or inactions, and where appropriate, take the shareholders’ and
stakeholders’ views into account in their decisions;

5. ensuring adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
especially for the issuer’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions; and

6. ensuring the fullest communication with shareholders and the company’s
recognition of their interest.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The board is collectively responsible for the leadership, control and overall
strategic development of the group, as well as overseeing internal control,
financial performance, overall management and operations of the group. The
board has delegated day-to-day operations to management, who is responsible
for implementing the group’s business strategies and managing the daily
business operations.

The board comprises two executive directors, three non-executive directors
and three independent non-executive directors. A list of directors and their
biographical details are set out on pages 65 to 70.

The company has established the following mechanisms to ensure independent
views and input are available to the board and these mechanisms will be
reviewed annually.

1. Composition of the board

(i) At least three independent non-executive directors and at least 1/3
of the board members are independent non-executive directors.
At least one independent non-executive director has professional
qualification on accounting and related financial management
expertise.

2. Independent assessment

(i) Nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) must
strictly adhere to the nomination policy and the independence
assessment criteria set out in the Listing Rules for nomination and
appointment of independent non-executive directors.

(if) Each independent non-executive director is required to inform the
company as soon as possible if there is any change in his own
particulars that may materially affect his independence.

(i)  Nomination Committee is mandated to assess annually the
independence of all independent non-executive directors by
reference to the independent criteria set out in the Listing Rules.

3. Remuneration

(i) No equity-based remuneration with performance-related elements
will be granted to independent non-executive directors.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

4. Board decision making

i)

(i)

(i)

All directors, including independent non-executive directors, are
entitled to seek further information and documentation from the
management on the matters to be discussed at board meetings,
and also seek assistance from the company secretary and
independent advice from external professional advisers at the

company’s expense.

All directors, including independent non-executive directors, shall
not vote or be counted in the quorum on any board resolution
approving any contract or arrangement in which such director or
any of his close associates has a material interest.

Chairman of the board shall at least annually hold meetings with
independent non-executive directors without the presence of other
directors to discuss major issues and any concerns.

5. Annual review

U]

The board shall make an annual review of the implementation and
effectiveness of this mechanism.

REMUNERATION PAID TO MEMBERS OF KEY
MANAGEMENT

Details of remuneration paid to members of key management (including all
directors and senior management) for the reporting year fell within the following

bands:

A#
Number of individual
—E-mE R =
2024 2023

AE#2,000,0017TE AR #2,500,00070
AE#1,500,0017TE A K #2,000,00070
AE#1,000,0017TZE A K #1,500,00070
ZE AR ¥1,000,00070 Nil -

RMB2,000,001 - RMB2,500,000 = -
RMB1,500,001 - RMB2,000,000 - -
RMB1,000,001 - RMB1,500,000 1 1
RMB1,000,000
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ATTENDANCE AT BOARD MEETINGS, BOARD
COMMITTEE MEETINGS AND GENERAL
MEETINGS

FREEELE BONEERY
Meeting attended/held
during the reporting year

EX098 RYZE99H BRZE9TE FHZEgLR BEAE
Nomination Audit Remuneration
Board Committee Committee Committee General

EEENE Members of the Board Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
HITES Executive directors
RELE! Mr. CHANG Chuan-Wang' 2/2 11 11 11
BEREE Mr. CHENG Yee Pun 4/4 2/2
B E W A2 Mr. CHIEN Yi-Pin? 0/2 0/1 01
B H L Mr. CAI LiTing? 0/2 11 0/1
BRFERE Mr. KAO Chao Yang? 0/2 01
ERTES Non-executive director
KIM Hyun Seok%t % Mr. KIM Hyun Seok 0/4 0/2
RESSTE? Mr. CHANG Kuo-Chin? N/AT 48 N/AT 18 3
BEEUL Ms. HUANG Pi-Chun’ 2/2 il
BT e Mr. KUNG Pei-Yuan'* 0/2 11
BIAERITES Independent non-executive directors
HeREE Mr. KAN Ji Ran Laurie 4/4 2/2 4/4 2/2 2/2
RERHR Prof. ZHANG Xiaoquan 3/4 2/2 4/4 2/2 1/2
HEmEE Mr. KAM Chi Sing 4/4 212 4/4 2/2 2/2

i RIBEZNE=ZF -+ HEZE
2 RIZZMFE=B=+/NHEHE
3 RIZEZMFENBZ+—HEZRT
4 RIZZ2ZMENBZ+—HEHE

EFEZTIEEER
apEAREAEEMANES Y AL FATE

ﬁéi‘rﬁ%ﬁ,ﬁﬂ B13.92(RBIMRTE - AR BRI =

ZRtNEEE HUlRSEEg 2 IFESE- %
$ﬁ‘ﬁiﬂy7ﬂb75_5_%)‘% BREZ=ZEZR 0FEF
RICMFH - XEHERKEKR URBEER
BEER - KRE-NARBRBFER -EZGRANE
ZEEURBAMA ZRAET WBEEREEL RS
N MEBHEFEGRES ENED -BARERM
RITEEAENIFEE HREEFEREEERMA
THHERIH - B SR EFEERE—NEERA
FOBEATIEBREETMHHN FHNEHEE
R BEFEREERAIAFHRRE-

! Appointed on 26 March 2024

2 Resigned on 26 March 2024
8 Appointed on 21 August 2024
4 Resigned on 21 August 2024

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

Since the company has a non-single gender board, the company has
complied with Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules. The company recognises and
embraces the benefits of having a diverse board which enhances the quality
of its performance. Diversity of board members can be achieved through
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural background and ethnicity, in addition to educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All the board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered
against appropriate criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on
the board. The inherent nature of work in the IT industry poses challenges to
achieving gender balance at the board level. In other words, diversity is not the
sole factor being considered, and there is currently no plan or timeline in place
to establish a gender-balanced board. The board will review such policy on an
annual basis.
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BOARD DIVERSITY

Below are the graphical presentation of the diversity of the board as at 31
December 2023 and 2024:
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BOARD MEETINGS

The executive directors meet on a regular basis to discuss the ordinary
business of the company. Board meetings are held to discuss the overall
development, operation, financial performance, interim results, annual
results and other business of the company that requires approval from the
board. Reasonable notice has been given to board members to offer them
an opportunity to attend. All board members are provided with relevant
documentation covering the subject matter of the board meetings. Board
members are also provided with sufficient information in a timely manner to
review and consider matters to be discussed at board meetings. The company
utilises telephone or video conferencing for directors who are not able to attend
in person.

During the reporting year, all directors discharged their duties in a dedicated,
diligent and proactive manner with reasonable prudence. They have executed
their duties in accordance with statutory requirements, the company’s bye-laws
(the “Bye-laws”) and the Listing Rules. All directors have exercised due care in
monitoring corporate matters of the company and provided sufficient time and
attention to all significant issues of the group.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The duties of the Chairman are as follows:

1. provides leadership and governance of the board so as to create the
conditions for overall board’s and individual director’s effectiveness, and
ensures that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the board in
a timely manner;

2. promotes effective relationships and open communication, and creates
an environment that allows constructive debates and challenges, both
inside and outside the boardroom, between non-executive directors and
the management;

3. ensures that the board as a whole plays a full and constructive part in
the development and determination of the group’s strategies and policies,
and that board decisions taken are in the group’s best interests and fairly
reflect board’s consensus;

4, ensures that the strategies and policies agreed by the board are
effectively implemented by the chief executive officer and the
management;

5. sets the board meeting schedule and agenda to take full account of the

important issues facing the group and the concerns of all directors, and
ensures that adequate time is available for thorough discussion of critical
and strategic issues;
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

(continued)

6. ensures that the board members are properly briefed on issues arising at
board meetings and receives, in a timely manner, adequate information
which must be accurate, clear, complete and reliable, to fulfil their duties,
such as reports on the group’s performance, the issues, challenges and
opportunities facing the group, and matters reserved for them to make
decision;

7. arranges informal meetings of the directors at least annually, including
meetings of the non-executive directors at which the chief executive
officer is not present, and ensures that sufficient time and consideration
is given to complex, contentious or sensitive issues;

8. ensures that there is effective communication with shareholders, and
that each director develops and maintains an understanding of the
stakeholders’ views; and

9. establishes good corporate governance practices and procedures and
promotes the highest standards of integrity, probity and corporate
governance throughout the group and particularly at board level.

Whereas the duties of the chief executive officer are as follows:

1. leads the management in the day-to-day running of the group’s business
in accordance with the business plans and within the budgets approved
by the board;

2. leads the management to ensure effective working relationships with the
chairman and the board by meeting or communicating with the chairman
on a regular basis to review key developments, issues, opportunities and
concerns;

3. develops and proposes the group’s strategies and policies for the board’s
consideration;

4, implements the strategies and policies as approved by the board and its
committees in pursuit of the group’s objectives;

5. maintains regular communication with the chairman on important and
strategic issues facing the group, and ensures bringing these issues to
the board’s attention;

6. ensures that the management gives appropriate priority to providing
reports to the board which contain relevant, accurate, timely and clear
information necessary for the board to fulfil its duties;

7. leads the communication program with our stakeholders including
shareholders; and
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

(continued)

8. conducts the affairs of the group in accordance with the practices and
procedures adopted by the board and promotes the highest standards of
integrity, probity and corporate governance within the group.

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman and
chief executive officer should be separated and should not be performed by the
same individual. This code provision has been complied with by the company
throughout the reporting year.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive directors bring independent judgment to the
board. Each independent non-executive director is required to send a written
confirmation of their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules to
the company annually. Based on these confirmations, the board considers that
all independent non-executive directors have met the qualifications of Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules for the reporting year.

The functions of non-executive directors should include:

1. participating in board meetings to bring an independent judgement to
bear on issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability, resources,
key appointments and standards of conduct;

2. taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;

3. serving on the audit, remuneration, nomination and other governance
committees, if invited; and

4, scrutinising the issuer’s performance in achieving agreed corporate goals
and objectives, and monitoring performance reporting.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Directors are appointed in accordance with their qualifications and experience
to ensure they are capable to perform their duties and protect the interests of
the stakeholders. Every newly appointed director receives a comprehensive and
formal introduction to ensure that he/she has an understanding of the group’s
business and operation, his/her responsibilities and obligations under the
Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements, and the Model Code. On 21
August 2024, Mr. CHANG Kuo-Chin was appointed as non-executive director
in place of Mr. KUNG Pei-Yuan with no fixed term of appointment. Mr. CHANG
Kuo-Chin obtained the legal advice referred to under Rule 3.09D of the Listing
Rules on 16 August 2024 and confirmed that he understood his obligations as
a director of the company.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS (continued)

Under code provision Part 2 C.3.3, issuers should have formal letters of
appointment for directors setting out the key terms and conditions for their
appointment. During the reporting year, the independent non-executive
directors are appointed for a specific term of office of one year and all non-
executive directors have no fixed term of appointment. Save for Mr. CHENG
Yee Pun and Mr. KIM Hyun Seok, all executive directors and non-executive
directors have entered into a service agreement or a letter of appointment (as
the case may be) with the company. Given all the executive directors and non-
executive directors are subject to retirement by rotation at the annual general
meeting of the company (the “AGM”) in accordance with the Bye-laws. As
such, the board considers that sufficient measures have been taken to ensure
that the company’s corporate governance practices are no less exacting than
set out in the CG Code.

According to the provisions of the Bye-laws and the Listing Rules, any director
appointed by the board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the next
following general meeting of the company, and in the case of an addition to
the existing board, until the next following AGM. Furthermore, each director,
including those appointed for a specific term or holding office as Chairman and/
or chief executive officer, are subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years.

CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

The directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The company
would provide a comprehensive induction package covering the summary of
the responsibilities and legal obligations of a director of a Hong Kong listed
company, the company’s memorandum of association and Bye-laws (the
“Constitutional Documents”) and the Guides on Directors’ Duties issued by
the Companies Registry to each newly appointed director to ensure that he/she
is sufficiently aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and other regulatory requirements.

Directors are continually updated on developments in the statutory and
regulatory regime and the business environment to facilitate the discharge of
their responsibilities. Continuing briefings and professional development to
directors would be arranged whenever necessary.

During the reporting year, all directors and company secretary of the company
confirmed that they have complied with the CG Code.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The board has set up three board committees, namely the Nomination
Committee, the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) and the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) to oversee
particular aspects of the group’s affairs. The committees are provided with
sufficient resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable requests,
are able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances
at the company’s expenses.

(a)

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises one executive director, one non-
executive director and three independent non-executive directors. The
current members are Mr. CHANG Chuan-Wang, Ms. HUANG Pi-Chun, Mr.
KAN Ji Ran, Laurie, Prof. ZHANG Xiaoquan and Mr. KAM Chi Sing. Mr.
Chang is currently the chairperson of the Nomination Committee.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee are to:

1. review the structure, size and composition of the board (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) at least once every year
and make recommendations to the board regarding any proposed
changes;

2. identify individuals suitably qualified to become board members
and select or make recommendations to the board on the selection
of, individuals nominated for directorships;

3. assess the independence of independent non-executive directors;

4. make recommendations to the board on relevant matters relating
to the appointment or re-appointment of directors and succession
planning for directors in particular, the chairman and the chief
executive officer; and

5. where the board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as
an independent non-executive director at the general meeting,
the Nomination Committee should set out in the circular to
shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying the
notice of the relevant general meeting why they believe the
individual should be elected and the reasons why they consider the
individual is independent.

The Nomination Committee monitors and reviews the diversity policy
of the board members. The company recognises that diversity of the
board members provides a balance of skill, experience and professional
knowledge for the company’s business and future development. The
diversity policy is achieved by consideration of various aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational backgrounds,
professional knowledge and experience with the business of the
company. The ultimate decision on selection of candidates will be made
upon the merits and contribution that the selected candidate will bring to
the board.
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BOARD COMM'TTEES (continued)

(b)

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established and is governed by its written
terms of reference in accordance with code provision D.3.3 of the CG
Code. It currently comprises three independent non-executive directors,
namely, Mr. KAM Chi Sing, Mr. KAN Ji Ran, Laurie and Prof. ZHANG
Xianquan. Mr. KAM is currently the chairperson of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing and supervising the
financial reporting process and internal control system of the group and
providing advice and recommendations to the board.

The Audit Committee is also authorised to obtain outside legal or
other independent professional advice and to secure the attendance
of outsiders with relevant experience and expertise if it considers this
necessary.

During the reporting year, the Audit Committee has performed the
following duties:

1. reviewed the annual financial statements with the auditor
and reviewed the unaudited interim financial statements, with
recommendations to the board for approval;

2. reviewed the changes in accounting standards and policies as
well as assessment of potential impacts on the group’s financial
statements;

3. reviewed the group’s internal control and risk management

systems, the effectiveness of the group’s internal audit function and
discussed the relevant issues including financial, operational and
compliance controls, and risk management functions;

4. reviewed the compliance issues with the regulatory and statutory
requirements;

5. considered and recommended the appointment, re-appointment
and approved the remuneration and terms of engagement of
external auditor;

6. discussed with external auditor the nature and scope of the audit
and reporting obligations; and

7. reviewed and monitored external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance
with applicable standards.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continueq)

(c) Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises three independent non-
executive directors and one executive director. The current members are
Mr. KAN Ji Ran, Laurie, Prof. ZHANG Xiaoquan, Mr. KAM Chi Sing, and
Mr. CHANG Chuan-Wang. Mr. Kan is currently the chairperson of the
Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the board on, among other things, the company’s
policy and structure for the remuneration of all directors and senior
management of the company and review the specific remuneration
packages for all executive directors and senior management of
the company. The remuneration packages for directors and senior
management are determined by reference to the skill, experience,
performance, contribution to the company and the prevailing market
condition. The Remuneration Committee is also responsible to review
and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The board has delegated the duties and responsibilities in performing its
corporate governance functions to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee
is responsible for corporate governance functions with the following duties:

1. to develop and review the company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and make recommendations to the board;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

3. to review and monitor the company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to directors and employees; and

5. to review the company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in
the Corporate Governance Report.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The board acknowledges its responsibility for the preparation of the financial
statements of the group which should give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the company and the group and of the results and cash flow for that
year in compliance with relevant laws and applicable accounting standards.
The board also ensures the timely publication of the financial statements of the
group.

The directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, therefore the directors continue to adopt the
going concern approach in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the reporting year, PricewaterhouseCoopers, the external auditor of the
company, provided the following services to the group and its respective fees
charged are set out as follows:

&H

W ERFEER Type of services charged Fees

ANBEFT

RMB’000

KEBEZBZRE Audit services for the Group 1,858

EEZRT Non-audit services -

4EZE Total 1,858
MEKRE% ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

EERARSAREAEREEEREN A EER
R B Y ERENEC B ERERNARS
FEEHBRER CRMEE TS BED SRR
ZEWE AREFENY BRRACRBACE &
AR o

RYMEREAERPREENERHRINEAFERS
86E8BE M ©

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the
financial statements of the group for the relevant accounting periods in
accordance with statutory and regulatory requirements. In preparing the
financial statements for the reporting year, the directors have adopted
appropriate accounting policies and applied them consistently. The financial
statements for the reporting year have been prepared on a going concern
basis.

A statement by the auditor about their reporting responsibilities is set out on
pages 86 to 88 in this annual report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

During the reporting year, the group has complied with principle D.2 of the
CG Code by establishing appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems. The management is responsible for the design,
implementation and monitoring of such systems, while the board oversees
management in performing its duties on an ongoing basis and an internal audit
on the internal control and risk management systems performed on an annual
basis. Main features of the risk governance and management systems are
described as follows:

Risk Governance and Management

The management of the group proactively manages the risks by establishing an
Enterprise Risk Management (‘ERM”) framework to assist the Audit Committee
and the board in discharging its risk management responsibilities and individual
business units in managing their key risks. With reference to the “Internal
Control — Integrated Framework” Issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COS0”), the main features of the
ERM system are illustrated below:

o Control Environment: a set of standards, processes and structures that
provide the basis for carrying out internal control across the group.

o Risk Assessment: a dynamic and iterative process for identifying and
analysing risks to achieve the group’s objectives, forming a basis for
determining how risks should be managed.

o Control Activities: action established by policies and procedures to
help ensure that management directives to mitigate risks in achieving
objectives are carried out.

° Information and Communication: internal and external communication to
provide the group with the information needed to carry out day-to-day
controls.

o Monitoring: ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain whether each

components of internal control is present and functioning.
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(continued)
AREARER (&) Risk Governance and Management (continued)

AERWEKREARBUTXAIRWIZERGIEE  The group’s risk governance structure is guided by the “Three Lines of
I8 o Defense” model as shown below.

Board of Directors
55

Audit Committee

BREEE

1st Line of Defence 2nd Line of Defence 3rd Line of Defence
BB SE2IERAR EIEPR
Financial Control
BATRERIE
Management
Controls System of Risk
EIEEEE Management and s
Internal Control g
B EIER AR IE RS o =
B3 Bs
B 3
Compliance Internal Audit ®Z S
P REEZ = %’
@
3
Risk Management Data Privacy and
and Internal Information Security
Controls BATLERENZR
Measures
BISEER
PIEBESIETETE
Sustainability
ARHEEE
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)

Risk Governance and Management (continued)
As the first line of defense, risk owners of all corporate departments and
business units of the group identify and evaluate the risks which may potentially
impact the achievement of their business objectives, mitigate and monitor
the risks (including but not limited to business, operation and ESG risks) by
designing and executing control procedures in their day-to-day operations.

They conduct risk assessment on a regular basis to evaluate the adequacy and
effectiveness of controls that are in place to mitigate the identified risks.

As the second line of defense, the group establishes specific functions to
ensure the first line of defense is properly in place and operating as intended.
The responsibilities of these functions include but not limited to financial
control, risk management and internal control, compliance, data protection and
information security, sustainability and so forth.

As the third line of defense, the existing Internal Audit (“IA”) function acts as
an independent assessor which is composed of professionals with relevant
expertise (such as certified public accountant). It is responsible for i) reviewing
the major operational, financial, compliance and risk management controls of
the group on a continuous basis and ii) proposing any enhancement to the
risk management and internal control systems for consideration by the Audit
Committee and/or the individual department concerned. It schedules its work in
an annual audit plan which is reviewed by the Audit Committee every year. The
audit plan is derived from risk assessment basis and is aimed at covering each
significant corporate department and business unit in which the group involves
in day-to-day management within a reasonable period.

Whistleblowing System is established for staff and other relevant parties to
report misconduct cases. Every reported case will be handled in confidentiality
and followed through in accordance with the Whistleblowing Policy and its
related procedures.

The Audit Committee assists the board in overseeing the risk management and
internal control systems of the group, including:

1. reviewing, at least annually, the risk management and internal control
systems of the group with the IA function to ascertain whether
management has fulfilled its responsibilities in establishing and
maintaining effective systems;

2. reviewing the risk assessment results, including changes in the nature
and extent of significant risks since the last review and the group’s ability
to respond to changes in its business and the external environment; and

3. discussing with management on the resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the group’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions to ensure that these are
adequate.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)
Risk Governance and Management (continued)

The board has the overall responsibility for establishing and maintaining sound
and effective risk management and internal control systems, including:

1. setting the group’s strategies and corporate goals;

2. evaluating and determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing
to take in achieving its strategic and business objectives;

3. overseeing management in the design, implementation and monitoring of
the risk management and internal control systems;

4, overseeing the risk management and internal control systems on an
ongoing basis, and ensuring that a review of the systems is conducted at
least annually to ensure their effectiveness;

5. reviewing the changes in the nature and extent of significant risks since
the last review and the group’s ability to respond to changes in its
business and the external environment;

6. considering any significant control failings or weaknesses that have been
identified during the period.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted for the reporting year, no
significant control deficiency was identified.

The board, through its reviews and the reviews made by IA function and
Audit Committee, concluded that the risk management and internal control
systems were effective and adequate. Such systems, however, are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. It is also considered that the resources, staff
qualifications and experience of relevant staff were adequate and the training
programs and budget provided were sufficient.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. TSANG Hing Bun has been appointed as company secretary of the
company with effect from 3 November 2015. Although Mr. Tsang is not an
employee of the company as required under code provision Part 2 C.6.1 of
the CG Code, the company has assigned Mr. CHENG Yee Pun, the executive
director, as the contact person with Mr. Tsang. Information in relation to the
performance, financial position and other major developments and affairs of
the group are speedily delivered to Mr. Tsang through the contact person
assigned. Hence, all directors are still considered to have access to the advice
and services of the company secretary in light of the above arrangement in
accordance with code provision Part 2 C.6.4 of the CG Code. Having in place
a mechanism that Mr. Tsang will be informed of the group’s development
promptly without material delay and with his expertise and experience, the
board is confident that having Mr. Tsang as the company secretary is beneficial
to the group’s compliance with the relevant board procedures, applicable laws,
rules and regulations. For the reporting year, Mr. Tsang has duly complied with
the relevant professional training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS INSURANCE

Appropriate insurance covers on directors’ and officers’ liabilities have been in
force to protect the directors and officers of the group from their risk exposure
arising from the business of the group.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Shareholders’ Enquiries

Shareholders are encouraged to maintain direct communication with the
company. Shareholders who have any questions for the board may write
directly to the company’s Hong Kong principal place of business, Room 1001,
10/F, Houston Centre, 63 Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon, or email
to ir@maxnerva.com. The company secretary will direct the questions to the
board.

Any questions regarding the shareholdings of the shareholders can be
addressed directly to the company’s branch registrar, Tricor Investor Services
Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong.

Shareholders’ Meetings

Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings or to appoint
proxies to attend, speak and vote at meetings if they are unable to attend the
meetings. The process of the company’s general meeting will be monitored and
reviewed on a regular basis, and if necessary, changes will be made to ensure
that shareholders’ needs are best served.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Shareholders’ Meetings (continued)

Under code provision Part 2 F.2.2 of the CG Code, the chairman of the board
and the chairmen of all board committees or their delegates, appropriate
management executives and external auditors should attend AGM to answer
shareholders’ questions. The chairman of the board did not attend the AGM
held on 31st May 2023 due to his overseas business commitments.

Procedures for members to convene a special general meeting

Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition deposited at the company’s registered office in Bermuda and its
principal place of business in Hong Kong, for the attention of the company
secretary, to require a special general meeting (“SGM”) to be called by the
board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. If the
directors do not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of such requisition
proceed duly to convene a SGM, the requisitionists themselves or any of them
representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all of them may
convene the SGM in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which
meetings may be convened by the directors, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionists as a result of the failure of the directors to
convene such a meeting shall be reimbursed to them by the company.

The written requisition must state the objects of the SGM, and such
requisitionists may add resolutions to the agenda of the SGM so convened.
The written requisition must be signed by the requisitionists and may consist
of several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of those
requisitionists.

If the written requisition is valid, the company secretary will ask the board to
convene a SGM by serving sufficient notice in accordance with the statutory
requirements to all the registered members. On the contrary, if the written
requisition is invalid, the requisitionists will be advised of the outcome and
accordingly, a SGM will not be convened as requested.

The notice period to be given to all the registered members for consideration of
the proposal raised by the shareholders concerned at SGM varies according to
the nature of the proposal is as follows:

o at least 14 days’ notice in writing if the proposal constitutes an ordinary
resolution of the company; and

o at least 21 days’ notice in writing if the proposal constitutes a special
resolution of the company.

The notice shall be exclusive of the day on which it is served or deemed to be
served and of the day for which it is given.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continuea)

Procedures for putting forward proposals at a general meeting

Pursuant to Sections 79 and 80 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981
(as amended), (i) shareholders holding not less than one-twentieth of the
total voting rights; or (i) not less than 100 shareholders (provided that 100
shareholders of the company shall not represent more than 10% of the voting
right at the time of the request in contravention of Appendix A1 Rule 14(5) of
the Listing Rules), are entitled to request the company to give shareholders
notice of a resolution which is intended to be approved at the next annual
general meeting or special general meeting. If any shareholders wish to
propose a resolution to be put forward at a general meeting of the company,
a written notice to that effect signed by the requisitionists with contact
information must be deposited at the company’s Hong Kong principal place of
business, Room 1001, 10/F, Houston Centre, 63 Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui
East, Kowloon (addressed to the company secretary). The notice shall contain,
inter alia, a description of the proposed resolution desired to be put forward
at the meeting, the reasons for such a proposal and any material interest of
the proposing shareholder in such a proposal. The request will be verified with
the company’s share registrar in Bermuda or the Hong Kong branch share
registrar and upon their confirmation that the request is proper and in order, the
company secretary will ask the board to include the resolution in the agenda for
the general meeting.

The notice period to be given to all the shareholders for consideration of the
proposal raised by the shareholders concerned at the AGM or the SGM varies
according to the nature of the proposal, the details of which are as follows:

o At least 14 days’ notice in writing if the proposal constitutes an ordinary
resolution of the company in SGM.

o At least 21 days’ notice in writing if the proposal constitutes an ordinary
resolution of the company in AGM or a special resolution of the company
in AGM or SGM.

In the event of failure in serving the notice to the company by the requisitionist
within reasonable time, the company reserves the right to claim from the
requisitionist any expenses incurred by the company in serving the notice of
the resolution and circulating the statement given by that requisitionist to all
shareholders in accordance with the requirements under the Listing Rules
(unless the company otherwise resolves).

The rights and procedures for proposing resolution to be put forward by

shareholders at a general meeting is posted on the company’s website www.
maxnerva.com.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Shareholders are one of our key stakeholders. The board and senior
management recognise their responsibilities to represent the interests and
create long-term sustainable value for the shareholders.

The company communicates to its shareholders through announcements and
annual and interim reports published on its website http://www.maxnerva.com.
Shareholders may put forward their enquiries to the board in writing by sending
the same to the company’s Hong Kong principal place of business, Room
1001, 10/F, Houston Centre, 63 Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon.
The directors, the company secretary or other appropriate members of senior
management respond to enquiries from shareholders promptly. All shareholders
are also encouraged to attend general meetings of the company to discuss
matters relating to the group. At general meetings of the company, the directors
will answer questions from the shareholders.

Investor relations has always formed an important part of the company’s
corporate governance.
management and the investment community and continually updates investors

It provides two-way communication between

on the company’s latest business developments in a timely manner. The
designated team also regularly provides the management with market feedback
and opinions from the investment community to improve the governance and
operations of the company.

During the year ended 31 December 2024,
implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders communication policy

the company reviewed the

which was found satisfactory and did not receive any adverse comments from
our shareholders.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The latest version of the Constitutional Documents can be downloaded from
the websites of the company or the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed, there was no significant change to the Constitutional
Documents during the reporting year.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The company is committed to sharing the results with shareholders while
striking a balance of continuous development of its business. Given the current
economic and financial conditions, the possible financial resources needed for
business development, the company does not expect to distribute any dividend
in the near term since it intends to invest the capital into its core businesses as
it strives to become one of the leading providers in digital industry and digital
life businesses.
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ABOUT THE REPORT

This Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report presents our efforts
and achievement made in sustainability and social responsibility. The ESG
Report details the group’s performance in carrying out the environmental and
social policies and fulfilling the principle of sustainable development.

Scope of the ESG Report

The scope of the ESG Report covered our facilities in Chongging, Wuhan and
Shenzhen from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (the “reporting year”).
It aimed to reflect the group’s environmental and social performance since the
majority of business operations during the year happened in PRC. There are
no significant changes in the reporting scope of this report from that of the last
one in 2023.

Reporting Standard

The ESG Report was prepared in accordance with the “Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide” under Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules. We
have complied with the above provisions during the reporting year.

Reporting Principles

The content of the ESG Report is determined through stakeholder engagement
and materiality assessment process, which includes identifying ESG-related
issues, collecting and reviewing the management and stakeholders’ opinions,
assessing the relevance and materiality of the issues and preparing and
validating the information reported. The ESG Report covers all key issues that
are concerned by different stakeholders.

Quantitative environmental and social KPIs are disclosed in the ESG Report
so that stakeholders are able to have a comprehensive understanding of our
ESG performance. Information of the standards, methodologies, references
and source of key emission of these KPIs are stated wherever appropriate.
To enhance comparability of the ESG performance between years, we have
strived to adopt consistent reporting and calculation methodologies as far as
reasonably practicable. For any changes in methodologies, we have presented
and explained in details in the corresponding sections.
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ABOUT THE REPORT

Information and Feedbacks

For details of the corporate governance of the group, please refer to the
corporate governance report on pages 14 to 34 of this annual report. Your
opinions are highly valued. If you have any advice or suggestions, please feel
free to contact the company through:

Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
Room 1001, 10/F, Houston Centre,
63 Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Tel No.: (852) 3628 3815
Fax No.: (852) 3188 1523

BOARD STATEMENT

We believe that good ESG governance strategies and practices are crucial
to the business in long term, especially in enhancing investment values and
returns. The board of directors is directly responsible for the oversight of our
ESG-related issues. The board has also delegated our chief executive officer
and chief financial officer to take up the responsibility to monitor the execution
of ESG-related actions and provide macro instruction for policy setting, as well
as review the content and quality of the ESG report annually.

We believe that effective ESG risk management can help us avoid impacts
associated with ESG and climate related risks. The board shall regularly
monitor our ESG risk assessment procedures, as well as the corresponding risk
mitigation measures.

The board understands that it is essential to set ESG approach and strategy
according to the importance of ESG issues towards the group and its
stakeholders, therefore the board has assigned a third-party ESG professional
to conduct a materiality assessment on ESG issues. To identify the material
issues, stakeholder surveys have been carried out, and industry-specific issues
were considered by using materiality maps together with professional advice.
Directors have also participated in the engagement exercise and provided
constructive opinions in determining the material ESG issues. The board is well
informed about the results and will keep reviewing the engagement channels
and exercise.

To make sure the management of ESG issues is on the right track, the board
oversees the coordination between departments according to their respective
targets, and will look for opportunities to set more explicit ESG goals and
targets for the group. The progress towards the goals on ESG matters is
reviewed annually.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Understanding and taking actions towards stakeholders’ concerns and
expectations is essential towards our sustainability development. The
engagement of stakeholders helps us recognise our sustainability performance,
therefore we have established appropriate communication channels so
that comments and feedbacks from major stakeholders are effectively and

timely addressed. The following table summarises the main expectations
and concerns of our key stakeholders and the corresponding management

responses.

Expectations

EEEERE BERE
Management Responses/
Communication Channels

BT R B E R 1E

Government and Regulators

BRER

Shareholders

EBmBH

Business Partners

EFEREE EREROER
Compliance with national policies,
laws and regulation
TRMEEEER

Support for local economic growth
(R 75 7 2E

Drive local employment
%05 B SR ANTR

Tax payment in full and on time

EIE

Returns

BRLE

Compliance operations
RARBEE

Rise in company value
EHRERBIESR
Transparency and effective
communication

MIERE

Operation with integrity

NEHF

Equal Rivalry

BiTE#H

Performance of contracts
EEEH

Mutual benefits and win-win result

EHERER

Regular Information reporting
FHERERBRITESR
Regular meetings with regulators
HHEER

Dedicated reports

% A K b B

Examination and inspection

KRE=

Shareholder conferences
NERBER

Announcements and circulars
BFHM - BEBMERABHEL
Email, telephone conversations and
company website

EEFER
Business communications
2 mEY
Exchange and discussions
AREME

Engagement and cooperation
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT (continueq)

HAZE

Expectations

BEEORE BRERE
Management Responses/
Communication Channels

ER

Customers

T
Industry

‘&

Employees

HERAR
Community and the public

. BEEDKERS

° Outstanding products and services
J BERZE

o Health and safety

J BITEH

° Performance of contracts

. HEEE

o Operate with integrity

. EHTEER

o Drive industry development
. Mo A 5E

° Protection of rights

. W 2E R R

o Occupational health

J i K @ )

° Remunerations and benefits
. HEERE

o Career development

. A EaE

o Humanity cares

J Bl ARAER
o Transparency
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° Customer service center and hotlines

. HREB TS

° Social media platforms
. BE R 8

o Calling for feedback

. SHETEERRE

° Participate in industry forums
. EREGH

° Visits and inspections

. HETHRITEHR

° Meetings with employees
. P &0 BRI B2 P B A

° House journal and intranet
. ETEE

° Employee mailbox

. EHIR TR

o Training and workshop

. BT &

° Employee activities

. NSIEENS

° Company website

. nE&E

o Announcements

. HRERTE

° Social media platforms
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B
Environmental

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

In view of the relevance and validity of this ESG report with our environmental
and social performance, we have conducted a materiality assessment to
identify ESG issues that are material to our business and its stakeholders.
The assessment is based on stakeholder surveys, materiality maps provided
by well-known external institutions', as well as professional opinions from the
third-party ESG professional. The material ESG issues as identified are shown
as follows:

. AEJR M FE
Energy Consumption

& 1% 52 85 T8 Bl

Employment and Labour Practices

. BIESR

Employment Compliance
. Hrif R @ Al

Remuneration and Benefits
. Bl & B

Training and Education

TP

Operating Practices

. Ltk TEKE

Diversity and Equal Opportunity
. BERRRAZSE

Occupational Health and Safety

. EEAR

Operational Compliance
. s E R RE

Intellectual Property Protection
. RES

Anti-corruption

R
L EENFERSENEEEEGERRABMSO)

WESGITXEZEME X  UAAFKBER G ERE
EE(SASBFTRFNEE I EE -

. mEEE
Quality Management
. ERABERE
Customer Privacy Protection

Note:
o The materiality maps referenced in the materiality assessment include the ESG

Industry Materiality Map of MSCI and the Materiality Map produced by Sustainability
Accounting Standards Board (SASB).
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CARING FOR EMPLOYEES

Employment

Human resources act as the pillar of the group, thus employing the suitable
talents for different positions is of ultimate importance. To recruit talent, we
offer competitive remuneration to all our employees. Throughout the reporting
year, we have strictly complied with relevant laws and regulations in its places
of business such as the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong, Labour Law of
the People’s Republic of China ((H1ZA £ ZAE 2 8% )), Labour Contract
Law of the People’s Republic of China ((FPZANERMEEESEZE)), the
Labour Code 2019 of Vietnam and the Fair Labour Standards Act of 1938
in the United States of America, in relation to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, antidiscrimination other benefits and welfare of employees. We have
made our best effort to ensure that the legitimate rights and interests of our
employees are protected in accordance with laws.

Anti-discrimination is highly valued during the employment process, we
select the right candidates only based on their qualifications, experience and
ability without taking into consideration of their gender, race, age, nationality,
marital status, pregnancy, disability and religion, etc. We strictly prohibit the
use of child labour and forced labour in accordance with the Provisions on
the Pronibition of Using Child Labour ((Z1F1&/H 2 T # & )) of the PRC and
other applicable laws and regulations. As a means to avoid employing child
labour, all newly employed staff is required to provide identification documents
for age verification purpose. Once such practice is discovered, we would
investigate the case thoroughly and dismiss relevant employees immediately.
An employment contract which clearly defines the job title and duties of the
respective employee are required to be signed to prevent the employee from
performing work out of their prescribed responsibilities. For employees who
wish to resign, we follow relevant procedures and conduct exit interviews as
an effort to collect opinions from them for any possible improvement of our
policies and operations. During the reporting year, no cases of child labour or
forced labour were identified by the group.
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CARING FOR EMPLOYEES (continued)

Employment (continued)

As of 31 December 2024, we employed a total of 270 employees and the
workforce (excluding directors and senior management) comprised 67% male
and 33% female. Our staff appointment is based on meritocracy and gender
diversity in workforce level will be less relevant due to the nature of the work
in I.T. business. Our recruitment strategy is to employ the right staff for the
right position at the right time regardless of the gender. As a result, there is no
plan and timeline in place to achieve gender-balanced workforce in our group.
The total workforce by gender, age group, employment type, and geographical
region are as follows:

By Age Group
HEGHERNE 5

4%
(12)

20%
(53)

2%

2024 2024
(12) 19%
—EomE s T —E-mE
76%
2023 2023
—®-= @09 —®-=
B Male Female B <30 30-50 >50
By Employment Type By Geographical Region
EREEERDS it E R 5
1% 4% 1%
@ 1 @
99% 12% 67%
(268) ©2) (182)
2024 2024
I EE T WE
2023 16% 2023
—ECo=f% =%F==
B Full-time Part-time B China || Vietnam Taiwan us Hong Kong
= 2 i = hE = M@ al =E &8
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FAZET = CARING FOR EMPLOYEES (continued)
B1E (& Employment (continued)

MNAREFE  BEBS T RAAEXA83% MR ~FE  During the reporting year, the overall employee turnover rate was 83%.
B ARR Bt @ B D B TR AR W ¢ Turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region are as follows:

HE-_ZT-_@mE HE-Z-=

+-RA=+—8H +ZB=+—H

ILEFE IEFE
For the For the
year ended year ended
BIREKER%) M Employee Turnover Rate (%) ™ 31st Dec 2024 31st Dec 2023
¥4 B & 9 By gender
B4 Male 86 13
Z% Female 76 9
HERARNE S By age group
<30 <30 50 9
30-50 30-50 92 11
>50 >50 75 67
i E s 5o By geographical region
e PRC 93 10
5% Hong Kong 50 50
=0 Taiwan 74 12
ESJE| us 27 92
e Vietnam 30 0
Byt Notes:
1. HRE-RTESEBHENRBEHEIARE > B 1. Due to the loss of an operating services agreement with a major partner, we were
RN FEE _FEHBAIB00HET required to let go about 300 staff in the second quarter of 2024.
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CARING FOR EMPLOYEES (continueq)

Training and Development

Building suitable career paths with a bright future is crucial to every employee.
We see employees’ career development as a component of our business
success. Hence, we deliver education and training to our employees in an effort
to build up their working skills and knowledge.

The group has established the Employee Training Management Measures
(BT HEINEEYE)), to provide clear guidelines for online training,
internal training, external dispatch training, and other types of training. During
the reporting year, we have organised various opportunities of training and
development for employees across different levels and departments. We have
offered introduction and training on product knowledge, sales technique,
customer service, human resources management, financial procedures,
procurement procedures and I.T. Targeting new employees, we have offered a
series of induction training with regard to our policies, system operation and
daily workflow of different departments in order to familiarise themselves with
our daily operation. Other than new employees, we have provided our middle
and senior management personnel with training sessions on topics including
human capital management and leadership skills. We aim to provide all-round
development to all employees from different levels and departments.

In addition, to keep abreast of the ever-changing business environment,
an educational subsidy policy has been put in place to encourage those
employees who pursue up-to-date job-related knowledge. We also sponsor
our employees who take examinations pertained to their designated roles and
responsibility.
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CARING FOR EMPLOYEES (continueq)

Training and Development (continued)

employee was 23.5 hours.

Percentage of
employees trained (%)

BE—_ZT-_MmF
+=A + B
LR

For the

year ended

31st Dec 2024

During the reporting year, we provided training to 231 employees which
accounted for 86% of our total workforce. The average time inputted for each

BE-T-=
+=B=+—H
IEFE
For the
year ended
31st Dec 2023

el E by
St
kg3

BESRE D
=R
AR
AR

TR RE (IE)

By gender
Male
Female

By employee level
High
Middle
Low

Average Training Hours (hours)

86
86

20
89
76

HE—_TS-MF
+ZA=+—H
LLEFE

For the

year ended
31st Dec 2024

91
91

74
08
99

BEZZT_=F
+=B=+—H
IEFE

For the

year ended
31st Dec 2023
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BESRE D
L
AR
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By gender
Male
Female

By employee level
High
Middle
Low
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CARING FOR EMPLOYEES (continueq)

Training and Development (continued)

As a well-rounded development pathway, we also offer promotion opportunities
to employees while providing training. We adopt the performance evaluation
and management policy in an attempt to assess the employees’ performance
regularly to provide a foundation for their promotion and salary adjustment.
By taking into consideration of the employees’ target accomplishment, job
completion, work quality and performance etc., we evaluate our employees’
performance with performance appraisal which includes face-to-face interview.

Employees who have achieved outstanding results in performance appraisal will
be given priority in the process of promotion.

Health and Safety

We always put priority on employees’ health and safety. During the reporting
year, we strictly conformed to the relevant laws in our places of business such
as the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control
of Occupational Diseases ((HZE A & H A E B 2%y 5%2)), the Law on
Occupational Safety and Health of Vietnam, the Occupational Safety and Health
Act of 1970 of the United States of America and the Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance ((Bt% %2 & #F 1541 )) of Hong Kong.

Our management is responsible for implementing safety measures so as to
assure our employees with a safe and healthy workplace. Our management
also ensures that necessary information, instruction and supervision are
provided so that all employees are safe from injury and health risks. We
organise safety orientation for new employees to keep them informed and
trained with safety regulations and emergency procedures. The emergency
procedures such as fire or explosion emergency plan have been well
established, and we regularly arrange rescue, fire and evacuation drills in order
to prevent casualties in case of accidents. In the past three years, there were
neither work-related fatalities nor severe work injuries, thanks to the effort put
by the group in creating a safety-first business environment.

BHE_T_E BE_Z_=#% BE_Z__&F

+ZB=+—H +ZA=+—H +=ZB=+—H

LHEE EFE FFE

For the For the For the

year ended year ended year ended

15 1% Indicators 31st Dec 2024  31st Dec 2023  31st Dec 2022

BTEBRAZET AHK Number of work-related fatalities 0 0 0

BTERBZIETE%) Rate of work-related fatalities (%) 0 0 0

RAIEmiakz TIEH Lost days due to work injury 0 0 19
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CARING FOR EMPLOYEES (continueq)

Employee Welfare

In order to stimulate the working initiative of the employees, we provide a wide
range of welfare including those required by laws and offered by the group. To
assure our employees of sufficient rest time, we follow relevant regulations to
define working duration for employees and we allow employees to have flexible
working hours. Our employees are also entitled to a number of leaves such as
public holidays, annual leave, maternity leave, marriage leave and funeral leave.
We also contribute to all applicable statutory insurance and mandatory funds
for employees in different locations. Besides, we offer allowances to employees
at different positions, for instance, salespersons who frequently communicate
with clients are granted communication allowances. Every year, we provide free
body checkup to all employees, and their family members can also enjoy the
services at a discounted rate.

In addition, we place emphasis on the work-life balance of our employees by
hosting various team-building activities, festival parties and birthday parties
which allow our employees to relax and interact. For example, at the beginning
of the year, we organised the dinner gathering activity, and distributed the New
Year gift package to our employees. We prepared exquisite gifts for female
employees on Women'’s Day, and held parties on Dragon Boat Festival and the
Winter Solstice Day. We believe that these activities can provide employees
with better work experiences and help them construct bonds between each
other.

OPERATING OUR BUSINESS

Supply Chain Management

To thoroughly fulfill the environmental and social responsibility, management
of our business operation including the supply chain cannot be neglected. As
a way to ensure that qualified products and services are provided, we target
and cooperate with suppliers with high credibility such as long-established
suppliers and those from eminent enterprises. We have set up comprehensive
procurement policies and systems which act as a guide to opt for and manage
our suppliers. During the selection process, suppliers are evaluated mainly
based on their product quality, delivery, and production capacity, compliance
and past performance from environmental, health and safety aspects. Suppliers
who fail to meet the requirements will ultimately be disqualified.
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OPERATING OUR BUSINESS (continued)

Supply Chain Management (continued)

Environmental and social risks along the supply chain are always considered by
the group. We give priority to suppliers that comply with national, regional and
industrial environmental standards, follow internationally recognised standards
and own certifications concerning energy management systems, environmental
management systems and social risk management. We also value the
employment and incorruptibility of suppliers. Also, we provide sufficient training
for employees responsible for supply chain management to ensure that they
have the knowledge base to accurately audit suppliers. Therefore, suppliers are
committed to uphold the human rights of employees by implementing internal
regulations in accordance with internationally accepted norms. Whether they
have adopted sufficient occupational health and safety policies and obtained
relevant certifications is also an important consideration. The cooperation with
suppliers who are found to be incompliant with relevant laws and regulations
regarding anti-bribery, anti-corruption and any other unethical business
practices will be terminated at once.

Furthermore, we endeavor to select environmentally friendly products and
service during procurement. For example, we prefer products which are
energy-efficient or made of recyclable materials such as refillable pens and
recycled paper. We also encourage staff to pay attention to the expiry date of
products and use products purchased earlier to avoid unnecessary wastage.
Besides, to reduce carbon footprint, we tend to select local suppliers or
suppliers geographically closer to the company.

Number of Suppliers by Geographical Region
BMEISMEERE
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OPERATING OUR BUSINESS (continueq)

Product and Service Quality

We provide digital industry and digital life solutions, in which our employees are
involved in the sales and installation of the hardware and software. We have
established a quality management system, which has obtained ISO 9001:2015
certification, to ensure that we can attain a high level of product and service
quality.

When selecting and purchasing products, the group strictly follows the Product
Quality Law of the People’s Republic of China ({1 A R HEAEERZE%)) .
We always set up contract terms regarding product quality with suppliers to
ensure that the corresponding products have passed necessary testing and
attained certain industrial standards. The products we provide are guaranteed
to have met all applicable health and safety requirements under China
Compulsory Certification ({7 2] % #)/1% Z 5858 ), as stipulated according to
the Provision on the Administration of Compulsory Product ({7 &% Z 42 5758
EEHE)) .

As a professional service provider, we never spare ourselves in the pursuit
of excellence in service quality and the complete provision of services in
accordance with customers’ needs and expectations. After-sales services such
as maintenance, training on product application and product return are always
provided, in addition to the major I.T. services we provide. We constantly
keep track of the experience and opinions of our customers by implementing
a thorough feedback-tracking system. In case of complaints on goods and
service quality, staff from different teams who have their own designated roles
and responsibilities will work together in carrying out prompt follow-up actions
so that impacts or inconvenience can be minimised. During the year, we did
not receive any major complaints about our products and services and did not
record any products sold or shipped that were subject to recalls for safety and
health reasons.

Privacy Protection

Throughout our business processes, we play a pivotal role in privacy protection
by handling information and data of customers and employees with the highest
degree of care. We strictly comply with relevant personal privacy regulations
adopted in our places of business such as the Personal Information Protection
Law of the People’s Republic of China ((FHZ A R FHIEIEN E 57 (RE%)),
Personal Data Protection Act (1A &l R:& %)) of Taiwan, Personal Data
(Privacy) Ordinance ((TAA & #l (% &) 1£#1)) of Hong Kong, Privacy Act of US
and Vietnam's Personal Data Protection Decree during the reporting year.
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OPERATING OUR BUSINESS (continueq)

Privacy Protection (continued)

We provide our privacy policy along with our services to let customers
understand how we collect, utilise, save and share their information, as well
as how the information is controlled, updated and protected. Specifically, we
have established a comprehensive database encryption system with regular
checking, both manually and automatically, to protect customer data. To
access customers’ personal data, employees are required to get approval from
several parties including the legal department and their department heads. Our
employees are also liable to not divulging confidential information of the group
to any third parties.

Furthermore, we show exceptional care to our employees’ personal
information, so we spare no effort on the prevention of data leakage.
Information of all employees, including the resigned ones and the candidates, is
used for recruitment purpose only and is absolutely confidential. Such data will
not be kept for a period longer than that required by relevant regulations.

Intellectual Property Rights

To prevent infringement of intellectual property rights of the group, our
customers, suppliers and any other business partners, we strictly conformed
to the relevant laws and regulations such as the Patent law of the People’s
Republic of China ((#HZ A ERFAEZF;%)), the Trademark Law of the
People’s Republic of China ((HZA £ ZAEE1Z:%)), Trademark Act ((B1Z
%)) of Taiwan, Trade Marks Ordinance ((E#Z1£#1)) of Hong Kong, Prevention
of Copyright Piracy Ordinance ({7 1E#Z BHRIE XA )) of Hong Kong, Trade-
Mark Act of US and Vietnam’s Intellectual Property Law during the reporting
year.

Our specialised talents are proficient in research and invention, particularly
in the aspect of software development. During the reporting year, we have
successfully obtained patents for 28 self-developed systems, such as remote
control app and total quality management system. To effectively apply for
and protect the invention patent and software copyright, we have established
and implemented a policy on intellectual property right protection. Besides,
protective clauses which have been reviewed and approved by our professional
lawyers are included in the contracts signed with customers, suppliers
and employees in order to give legitimacy to our intellectual property right
protection.

In case of advertisement, we are also devoted to preventing the infringement
of intellectual property rights, either by others or by the group, through the
conformity with relevant laws such as the Advertising Law of the People’s
Republic of China ({2 A £ Z A E £ 4)), Consumer Protection Act ((74 &
ZRE %)) of Taiwan, Trade Descriptions Ordinance ((& 4258851541 )) of Hong
Kong, Advertising Laws and Regulations of Federal Trade Commission of US
during the reporting year.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3§ 49



RIB-HERELARS

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

REEE @
REE

BSTANEABHSHMAERRE S R EREE R
BEERIRE HPIRTAFERABEEAERTLRNT
BANTH B AR ERESHBPIBITEERE
B RRHEFHLEERARHRESTA /Rl
BRESEHNRH-

RMEFELERM(RERRREFEER) » UFER L
BHET - RO REFkEBBHNEANEST
meHMfBBRERNAMBEEBRENETIEER
BREERZER URABAEE - HERATREN
SN MIEEERR $HR - MEFFROARETE R
MEExBE2EEREERETHHE T ERHEMEI
KEERMANRESEF HARZERAETRE
SR UREBETH BRELREED  RAERE
FIFRERRIEE - EAERRESHENTRRRE
RABREEREMH WOIESIRLERD

RMEERAETRMHEFITRABEMEENEINILUR
FEIHESTANEREFARZ -AFR > HME
MTREEEI LIESETINERME - RARKES
SRAEKE LE-—PHEBRETHESTTANIER
F70

BABERETAEMRES BE $R HEFRLE
BEREOER I (R EAR KBRS 5K
By~ BB (ESAFERA) - BB (B LEEKF
By ZEEN(RBINESE)RBEN(REFE) 1
FEE UEEMEREHER R NFERAER
R ERERNIT R

OPERATING OUR BUSINESS (continueq)

Anti-corruption

Corruptive behavior may be a source of risk that weakens our business’s
stability and hampers its development. We on no account allow any actions
and behavior to blemish the image of the group. Thus, we are committed to
ensuring that every department meets its legal obligations, at the same time
joins hands to prevent, detect and eliminate corrupt practices, hence reducing
the number of bribery and corruption incidents.

We have established and implemented the Anti-bribery and Anti-corruption
Policy (R BEEE B B5BIZR)), to present and respond to any corrupt
practices by employees, contractors, agents and business partners. We
communicate internal rules, laws and regulations to employees through
meetings and other usual communication channels in an effort to emphasis the
importance of integrity, honesty and fairness and to prevent potential bribery,
extortion, fraud as well as money laundering. All management and staff are
highly encouraged to report cases of suspected corruption, either to their
supervisors or other managers. Suspected corruption cases will be properly
investigated and associated actions, such as disciplinary action, reporting to
relevant authorities and prosecution, will be taken. Any breach of the anti-
corruption policy is deemed to have committed a major misconduct and is
meted out to a disciplinary action.

We believe that it is essential to provide training to the employees on topics
regarding corruptive behavior so as to maintain employees’ awareness towards
corruptive behavior. During the reporting year, we organised anti-corruption
training to enhance employee awareness. We shall continue to look for different
opportunities to further strengthen employees’ resilience against corruptive
behavior in the future.

We strictly abided by laws and regulation in respect of anti-corruption, bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering such as Regulations of the People’s
Republic of China for Suppression of Corruption ((F1Z A XA E#E S5
1%41)), Anti-Corruption Act ((E555E1&4)))of Taiwan, the Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance (([5 LE 85 BE 1251 ) of Hong Kong, Foreign Corrupt Practices
Act of US and Anti-Corruption Law of Vietnam. During the year, there were no
breach of laws and regulations in relation to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.
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PROTECTING OUR ENVIRONMENT

Pollution Management

As environmental issues are drawing increasing attention among the business
community, we are dedicated to mitigating negative environmental impacts,
such as climate change, by controlling and minimising our emission. We bear
the environmentally friendly concept in mind in our daily operation and business
development.

Owing to the service-based business, we generate no water pollutants
commonly discharged from manufacturing processes. Likewise, we do not emit
air pollutants except for the private car used for maintaining our daily operation.
As a way to reduce emission, we require all the drivers of the vehicle to switch
off the idling engine to avoid unnecessary emission.

BE_ZT-_MF HEZZT_=F

+_H:+—E +-B=+-8

LEEFE LEE

For the For the

Air Pollutant year ended year ended

ERISRYMBBIER

Emissions Indicators’

31st Dec 2024 31st Dec 2023

KRN0 (F52)
R 1E¥)(SOx) (F52)
ERY(PM) (T 72)

Htat -

1. 75 A BETRE BB SR A B B B B — TIRIR RS AR AL
ERERES ENAERRE L& REARS 5
o

S—EIEHNERELAERRLAEANBEEEBER
EEHNBEREY RAKESEE RMABTHEAEERE
EAREBNAEMERER AIU(PEARAENEE
BEYSRIREMAZ) ABEFE RMELERS
BERYRESERY AP ESERYOEREEM
MESERYEIEOEETHABMAMEENLIR -
HPRRERYREHRMANEBTMS L REKRT
TEREE BERRHEEBETERESRESTERNY
BUAER - FRIM AT EREERZEYEER
BoRMRBHBRHIRBERTNEZE WAEFR
EENESBERYIENRLAEMEIBHREFTAER
PERABIETWE MESEZYATRFREM
HEBWERAETEEEKSE-

Nitrogen oxides (NOx) (kg) 7.18 6.30
Sulphur oxides (SOx) (kg) 0.19 0.19
Particulate matter (PM) (kg) 0.53 0.46
Notes:
1. The calculation of pollutant emissions is based on Appendix 2 “Reporting Guidance

on Environmental KPIs” to “How to prepare an ESG Report” issued by the Stock
Exchange.

Another principal source of emissions is the waste generated from daily
business operations in our office. During the reporting year, we were in
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the group such as the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and
Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste ({312 A B A1 /2 2] F2 EF 1)
ST IR IE [ A 7)) . Both hazardous and non-hazardous wastes were generated
during the reporting year, of which the former included waste batteries and
the latter consisted of mainly daily office garbage produced by employees. We
deem that waste disposal is not of significance or risk to our business, and that
the amount of hazardous and non-hazardous waste is insignificant due to its
business nature. Because of that, we have not set targets for waste disposal.
Nonetheless, we still strive to avoid detrimental impacts on the environment,
non-hazardous wastes generated by the office were collected by the cleaning
company employed by the commercial building where the office is located at,
while the hazardous wastes were collected separately at specific points in the
building before collecting by the designated party.
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PROTECTING OUR ENVIRONMENT (continved)

Pollution Management (continued)

HE—_TSZMF BHE_Z =%
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LLEFE ILFEE

For the For the

Waste Disposal year ended year ended

BERVEEER

Indicators

31st Dec 2024 31st Dec 2023

BEEEEYEE (TR) Total hazardous waste (kg) 7.26 5.61
BLREREEZENEZTEEE (Tr) Hazardous waste discarded per

employee (kg) 0.03 0.01
BEEFERYESE (RN Total non-hazardous waste (tonnes)’ 26.73 47.52
BLREREEZENEZTEEE (B Non-hazardous waste discarded per

employee (tonnes) 0.10 0.08
Wizt - Note:
1. ERFI - REREEHRTEERNGSHIEARRHED 1. Estimated from daily office garbage volume and the volume to weight conversion

et EAmRAEN R ENEEEEMHEZAYEES factors provided by the Urban Management and Comprehensive Law Enforcement

Ho
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Bureau of Shenzhen, Wuhan and Chongqing.

We have carried out a number of measures by following the principle of “4R”
to minimise the amount of waste we generated. For example, we reduced the
use of paper by implementing double-side printing, and we spared no effort
to reuse office supplies such as stationary, papers, envelopes and files. For
recycling, we have set up sorting bins so that staff can sort and recycle plastics
and paper after using, and old computers would be recycled by electronics
companies. We also purchased recyclable and refillable products such as
refillable pens and rechargeable batteries to replace those disposable ones
in our office. During the reporting year, we did not produce any packaging
materials.

Greenhouse Gas Emission

Despite the fact that we are not involved in energy-intensive businesses,
normal office operation which is indispensable to maintain our remarkable and
professional services is still a source of greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emission.
Hence, we exert ourselves to abide by the relevant laws and make our daily
operation more environmentally-friendly. During the reporting year, we were in
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the group, such as the Environmental Protection Law of the People's Republic

of China ((PZE N B ZHENIRIZ 1R %)) .

In addition to the use of vehicles, which is a type of direct emission of GHG,
indirect emission from processes such as electricity consumption, water
and sewage treatment, disposal of paper to landfills and business trips
of employees are the main sources of greenhouse gas emission from our
operation.
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PROTECTING OUR ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Greenhouse Gas Emission (continued)

BHE-ZT-@NmE BE_Z_=F
+_H:+—E| +-B=+—H
IHEE FFE
For the For the
year ended year ended
BE RIS GHG Emissions Indicators’ 31st Dec 2024 31st Dec 2023
BEREHKEE (M_|thE=2) Total GHG emissions (tonnes CO2°) 195 325

BREEREREEREE E_atHmES) Total GHG emissions per employee
(tonnes CO2°) 0.72 0.57

BERRAERESR EE 2 (B-altha2 Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1)?

(tonnes CO2°) 31 31

B BEREER (BE2) (M _atikE=E Indirect GHG emissions (Scope 2)°
(tonnes CO2°) 79 175

B B=ERmEER (BEY)  (E_atiE=E Indirect GHG emissions (Scope 3)*
(tonnes CO2°) 85 116

Htat -

Notes:

1. FEENAEREBREEEE At FErE‘D
K- BAENEERER BREREHIRIEU SR
H 2(C020)F] 7R o 8 2= U BS HE MR B4 B 22 B T 85 B B 87
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2. BEEWREREEENERZH R - AR SERER
HEFRAFRTREERERNLESZESGRM-

3. BEIINBEBNFAEENBZERIER - BIR st BB
MO AFHTEERERMLEEZE R M-
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FELEHEEERES JOIEBRBEHMERT
FAR 5t SRR AR RO BE R R F BT 7 Bk A2 P F S RO MY 8 — TIR
BRRENIERREES AR MAR St EACHFE
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BB M EIRTT A BB E (R R A AE AR B
MEtEE) -
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BEREABZ TRBRARBKEISNERNS
BB R EREIETIERRI 2RI
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NEBEREIHZE - ERWEHR RAFELEER
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The group’s GHG inventory includes carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide.
For the ease of reading and understanding, the GHG emissions data is presented in
carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2e).The calculation of GHG emissions is based on the
reporting requirements of Appendix 2 “Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” to
“How to prepare an ESG Report” issued by the Stock Exchange.

Includes direct emissions from the fuel combustion in vehicles. The emission factor
used for calculating carbon emission is provided by the National Development and
Reform Commission of the PRC.

Includes energy indirect emissions resulting from the generation of purchased
electricity. The emission factor used for calculating carbon emission is provided by the
National Development and Reform Commission of the PRC.

Includes other indirect emissions that occur outside the group. The disclosed figures
are resulted from paper waste disposal at landfills, water consumption and business
air travel. The emission factor used for calculating paper waste can be found in
Appendix 2 “Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock
Exchange, while that for water consumption is provided by Shenzhen Water (Group)
Co., LTD. Emissions data relating to business air travel is based on the International
Civil Aviation Organization Carbon Emissions Calculator.

Although GHG emissions do not pose a risk to our business operations and
performance, and that the emissions amount is viewed to be insignificant,
we still target to minimise it and have adopted a number of measures from
paper recycling to energy conservation. For example, we require that printers
and computers be completely turned off during non-working hours to reduce
power consumption. We encourage video conferencing to replace non-essential
overseas business trips. We try to hold events in places with convenient
transportation and avoid using disposable items as much as possible.
Generally, we endeavor to build a green and healthy environment together with
all our employees, thus we encourage the use of public transport instead of
private cars in their commute to work.
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PROTECTING OUR ENVIRONMENT (continved)

Energy and Water Conservation

To make contributions to environmental protection, we endeavors to conserve
energy and water usage so as to reduce emission. We are always aware of
the possible impacts resulted from the overuse of energy and water, thus we
strictly manage energy and water consumption in our operation, particularly
in the office. We have set targets regarding energy and water conservation,
aiming to reduce energy and water consumption.

This year, we conducted environmental policy training and environmental
awareness training. Through the training, participants have gained a deeper
understanding of the concept of energy conservation and environmental

protection.
HEZZTMF BEZZZ=fF
+=-B=+—H +ZA=+—H
LLEFE ILFEE
For the For the
Energy and water year ended year ended

AETR R AKHFEIS R

consumption Indicators

31st Dec 2024

31st Dec 2023

AERHFEARE KRB Total energy consumption (MWh) 267 461
HiZERHAE OKRFE) Direct energy consumption’ (MWh) 125 128
R e R #82 UK FLE) Indirect energy consumption2 (MWh) 142 333
SLREEREEESE OLRF) Total energy consumption per

employee (MWh) 0.99 0.81
KEFEFEEE QLHK) Total water consumption (m?) 1,782 2,358
SHREBKERHEERE LH XK Total water consumption per

employee (m?3) 6.60 4.16
Brst Notes:
1. BEEWMARER BRAEEREEENEREF 1. Includes the use of fuel of vehicles. The conversion factor used for calculating energy

HYEERERNNEZEFRM- consumption is provided by the National Development and Reform Commission of the
PRC.

2. BIEIBES- 2. Includes the amount of purchased electricity.

THEEZET RMBRELBERERRE  LHER
RPBER KRR IEEAPORABMRESIKE
B> BTERKMNETENEREFURS KEH
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B UEEEEMA B RMTFAFIFARE LS
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PETKME > HATNHRZE N LERRNAKESN
KGN SEEAFERMBKRTRIUESE NG
KEH W HFZHEERFRERKIKERS It
Sh > I P SEM AR F B RO HEAT B R BB B ©

In daily operation, we always bear in mind the avoidance of energy waste in
order to achieve our targets. We set all computers to sleeping mode when
idling and require our staff to switch off appliances such as lights, computers
and printers completely when not in use and before leaving the office every day.
We also clean all light fixtures and air-conditioners in order to ensure that they
are running at the highest efficiency to avoid wasting energy. Besides, through
office design, we try to maximise the use of natural light and divide the office in
separate lighting zones so as to allow a more flexible use of light. Non-frontline
employees are also allowed to wear light so that energy for air conditioning can
be saved.

In terms of water conservation, we have also put in lots of efforts and have
implemented plenty of water-saving measures including putting up water-saving
reminder labels in toilets to raise our employees’ awareness of water-saving
and arranging for repair and maintenance for dripping faucets immediately. In
addition, grey water is reused for cleaning and irrigation wherever possible.
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PROTECTING OUR ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Response to Climate Change

Climate change is currently one of the most urgent global issues, prompting
corporates from different sectors to respond accordingly. We are no exception,
being highly aware of the potential risks and impacts brought to our business
operations by climate change. For instance, we are aware that increasingly
frequent and severe extreme weather events may put us at risk of numerous
negative impacts, especially potentially increasing operational costs since
facilities and equipment may be damaged and require repair.

In face of such climate-related risk, we regularly conduct climate-related
risk assessments to identify, monitor and manage potential climate-related
risks, so as to analyse the vulnerability of our business operations against
different aspects of climate change. Furthermore, we have put in place
various measures to prevent and mitigate the potential impacts that may
arise. Particularly, in order to mitigate the impacts from more frequent extreme
weather events, we have implemented an emergency management plan, which
details the specific measures against extreme weather conditions, such as
special work arrangements under thunderstorms.

Looking forward, we shall continue to monitor and assess the ever-changing
risks that climate change may bring to the group and shall swiftly take
preventive and mitigative steps once climate-related risks of any form arise.

CONTRIBUTING TO COMMUNITY

We encourage employees to care for and spend time on the local communities
through participating in all kinds of social activities such as attending local
community activities and charitable donations. Employees are also encouraged
to participate in environmental protection activities and promote environmental
awareness within the group.

During the year, our community engagement does not involve use of resources.

We shall continue to look for other opportunities to devote back to the
community in the future.
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HEERERA

Page no./
Explanation/

ESGI51E B =1-1] Reasons for
ESG Indicators Overview Sections Omissions
IR
Environmental
ATEERR — AR e SREE
A1 Emissions General disclosure Pollution Management 51
A1l B & 58 K A RE HE B o EHRER
The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Pollution Management 51
A1.2 RERBHRAER WBER) BE- AERBH®R
Greenhouse gas emissions in total and, where appropriate, Greenhouse Gas Emissions 52-53
intensity.
A1.3 FREAREREEMEER WER BE- EHRER
Total hazardous waste produced and, where appropriate,  Pollution Management 51-52
intensity.
Al.4 FREAREREEYHEER WER BE- EHRER
Total non-hazardous waste produced and, where Pollution Management 51-52
appropriate, intensity.
A1.5 R ENBIN B R kA BERZE BRI T 5 AERBH®R
Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to Greenhouse Gas Emissions 53
achieve them.
A1.6 HMEIREEERBEREYN S L LHARENRERE BSREE
IR/ 7 R B AR PTEREX A 2 83 o
Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes  Pollution Management 51-52
are handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set
and steps taken to achieve them.
A2ERfEF — AR EE B AEER K
A2 Use of General disclosure Energy and Water Conservation 54
Resources
A2.1 BB DNEER,HEEERHEREREE B AE B 7K
Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total Energy and Water Conservation 54
and intensity.
A2.2 BEKEREE- B AE B K
Water consumption in total and intensity. Energy and Water Conservation 54
A2.3 FEM SR8 A W an 5T B R PG R R © B AE B 7K
Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results ~ Energy and Water Conservation 54
achieved.
A2.4 FMSREGB A AR ERI B AR B URRFABKMa@mst Sk
B R PRE AR
Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water Energy and Water Conservation 54

that is fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and
results achieved.
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APPENDIX: CONTENT INDEX OF

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORTING GUIDE (continued)

B fBE S
HERFREE
Page no./
Explanation/

ESGI51E B =4:1] Reasons for
ESG Indicators Overview Sections Omissions
A2.5 U mPTAEEMBNEER WEBER) SEESE((EE. ik
Total packaging material used for finished products and, if Energy and Water Conservation 54
applicable, with reference to per unit produced.
ASIRIERRAER —WEKE REIRIE TEZMTE
FR Rl 2
B8
Environmental General disclosure Protecting our Environment Not material
and Natural as identified
Resources in the
materiality
assessment.
A3.1 HMEBEHHIRIERRAAERNEAZLEREHKNER RERER TEZMTE
BREAZENTHC B R
B8
Description of the significant impacts of activities on the Protecting our Environment Not material
environment and natural resources and the actions taken as identified
to manage them. in the
materiality
assessment.
AdRREAME — A R REIRIE
Climate Change General Disclosure Protecting our Environment 55
A4.1 B R EAIEEHETAELTENEARERRES REIRIE
B REHTH
Description of the significant climate-related issues which  Protecting our Environment 55
have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer,
and the actions taken to manage them.
e
Social
B1{E & — A R BT
Employment General disclosure Employment 40
B1.1 R BEEL  FRAN RN ES SN EEEH - BT
Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group Employment 41
and geographical region.
B1.2 R FEER R E B DHEEMALLEK. BT
Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and Employment 42

geographical region.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORTING GUIDE (continueq)

B g
HEERERA

Page no./
Explanation/

ESGI51E i =1-1] Reasons for
ESG Indicators Overview Sections Omissions
B2 REZ 2 — AR EE BERZE
Health and General disclosure Health and Safety 45
Safety
B2.1 AT THH A KEE BERZE
Number and rate of work-related fatalities. Health and Safety 45
B2.2 FSERCE =P MR (= BERZE
Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety 45
B2.3 HIMPT RN E R R 2R U KRBT RER RBEERZSE
ke
Description of occupational health and safety measures Health and Safety 45
adopted, how they are implemented and monitored.
B33 B R & — AR e Bl KERE
Development General disclosure Training and Development 43
and Training
B3.1 B kEEENEDNZIMEET DL Bl KERE
The percentage of employees trained by gender and Training and Development 44
employee category.
BN REEENE D SLEETHZINTEES . BIlRER
B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by Training and Development 44
gender and employee category.
B4% T 48 — AR e BT
Labour General disclosure Employment 40
Standards
B4.1 R T BB E G M HE BE LUB R B T R oI55 T o BT
Description of measures to review employment practices to Employment 40
avoid child and forced labour.
B4.2 i 7T 25 BB AR B R B E PR B R 1B L P ERERAY 27 B o BT
Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices Employment 40
when discovered.
B5fifEHE B 12 — AR EE g B IR
Supply Chain General disclosure Supply Chain Management 46
Management
B5.1 i E 8 o EHEREE - g B IR
Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain Management 47
B5.2 Him AR RAEEENEG nENTERAEMMNMEER MHEHREIE
BB URBEENTRERG A
Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, Supply Chain Management 47
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APPENDIX: CONTENT INDEX OF

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORTING GUIDE (continued)

HEE@Ee

HERRE

Page no./

Explanation/

ESGI51E B =4:1] Reasons for
ESG Indicators Overview Sections Omissions
B5.3 Hi AR EERSERENIRERTERENIES > HEEEIE
M iR AT R BE R 5 0% ©
Description of practices used to identify environmental and Supply Chain Management a7
social risks along the supply chain, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
B5.4 T REEEERNECELRIRRE R ERBNERG > X HERSE
AR NIT R R Ak
Description of practices used to promote environmentally ~ Supply Chain Management a7
preferable products and services when selecting
suppliers, and how they are implemented and monitored.
B6EREE — A R EnkRBES
Product General disclosure Products and Services 48
Responsibility
B6.1 EEHCEXERRHPAZRERRIEHMELNKNE EoERBES
e
Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to Products and Services 48
recalls for safety and health reasons.
B6.2 BERNERRRBINEFREEUKRER G % EnkRBES
Number of products and service-related complaints Products and Services 48
received and how they are dealt with.
B6.3 ol B A R R PR F B E B BRI 6 o g E
Description of practices relating to observing and Intellectual Property Rights 49
protecting intellectual property rights.
B6.4 WG EREBRERERBWER- EnkRBES
Description of quality assurance process and recall Products and Services 48
procedures.
B6.5 HaUH B EERRIERAREE  URERNITRERS B RE
o
Description of consumer data protection and privacy Privacy Protection 48-49

policies, how they are implemented and monitored.
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Page no./
Explanation/

ESGI51E i =1-1] Reasons for
ESG Indicators Overview Sections Omissions
B7TR &S — AR EE o RES
Anti-corruption General disclosure. Anti-corruption 50
B7.1 RBEAABETANERBERLLBEENESHNRE RES
HRHE KiFhiE R
Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt Anti-corruption 50
practices brought against the issuer or its employees
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the
cases.
B7.2 W PR IR R R RAR T U BRI HIT R EE R & o RES
Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing Anti-corruption 50
procedures, how they are implemented and monitored.
B7.3 HimEERETIRENRESE RES
Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors Anti-corruption 50
and staff.
B8t &I E — AR e BRtE
Community General disclosure Contributing to Community Not material
Investment as identified
in the
materiality
assessment.
B8.1 FIEREBES TEH TEZ MG
b RPN
E
B8.1 Focus areas of contribution. N/A
Not material as identified in the materiality assessment.
B8.2 THEIHEMBAER TEHA TEZ MG
R AT
E
B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area. N/A Not material
as identified
in the
materiality
assessment.
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The directors submit their report together with the audited financial statements
for the reporting year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in the digital industry and digital life businesses. An analysis of our
revenue and contribution to operating profit by reportable segments for the
reporting year is set out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

Our results for the reporting year are set out in the consolidated income
statement on page 89.

The directors do not recommend any payments of final dividend.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE,
FUTURE PROSPECTS AND DEVELOPMENT

Analyses of 1) our performance during the reporting year; 2) our future
prospects and business development and 3) description of the principal risks
and uncertainties facing by us, are set out in the section of “Management
Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report. There had been no material
events after 31 December 2024 till the issuance of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

We have always considered environmental protection and energy conservation
as one of our key priorities in order to enhance the sustainable development
and undertake relevant social responsibility. For details, please refer to the
section headed “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” in this annual
report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The board was not aware of any non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations that had a significant impact on the company during the reporting
year.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

We highly value the relationships with employees, customers and suppliers as
they are the foundation of our success.

Employees

We strictly comply with all the applicable rules and regulations in relation
to employment, to name a few, the Employment Ordinance, the Mandatory
Provident Fund Ordinance and the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, etc.
We have purchased all necessary insurance and made monthly pension
contributions for its staff and has measures in place endeavoured to protect
all staff’'s personal information. There are channels for staff to express their
opinions with regard to their work. Moreover, we also strive to provide a safe,
healthy and harmonious workplace with fair and equal opportunities for staff of
both genders and different races.

Customers

We provide direct services and goods to customers and conduct surveys to
interact with them to gain market insights and feedback. For the reporting year,
sales to our five largest customers in total accounted for approximately 27% of
our total revenue, with the largest customer accounting for approximately 7%.
Credit terms offered to customers ranged from 30 to 90 days. Management
makes periodic collective assessment as well as individual assessment on
the recoverability of trade receivables based on historical payment records,
the length of the overdue period, the financial strength of the trade and other
debtors and whether there are any disputes with the relevant debtors. Our
historical experience in collection of trade and other receivables falls within
the recorded allowances and the directors are of the opinion that adequate
provision for uncollectible receivables has been made in these financial
statements. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior management.
No significant recoverability problem is identified subsequent to the reporting
year.

Suppliers

Our suppliers are either well established companies or from well-known
enterprises to ensure that they are able to deliver goods and services as
requested. Our five largest suppliers in aggregate accounted for approximately
37% by value of our total purchases during the reporting year, with the largest
supplier accounting for approximately 24%. Furthermore, anti-bribery policies
are in place for all staff to comply.

During the reporting year, save for Hon Hai Technology Group, none of the
directors or any of their close associates or any shareholders which, to the best
knowledge of the directors, own more than 5% of the company’s issued share
capital had any interest in any of our five largest customers or suppliers.
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SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of our principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024 are set out in
Note 34(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in our property, plant and equipment are set out in
Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Details of our share capital are set out in Note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The amounts and particulars of material transfers to and from our reserves
during the reporting year are set out in Note 34(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, our reserves are not available for distribution. Under
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, contributed surplus is distributable to
shareholders, subject to the condition that the company cannot declare or pay
a dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if (i) it is, or after
the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due, or (i) the
realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its
liabilities and its issued share capital and share premium account.

DONATIONS

We did not make any donations (31 December 2023: Nil) during the reporting
year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws and there is
no restriction against such right under the laws in Bermuda, which would oblige
the company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of our consolidated results, assets and liabilities for each of the last
five financial years until 31 December 2024 is set out on page 6.
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DIRECTORS

The directors who held office during the reporting year and up to the date of
this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. CHANG Chuan-Wang (Chairman)’
Mr. CHENG Yee Pun

Mr. CHIEN Yi-Pin?

Mr. CAI LiTing?

Mr. KAO Chao Yang?

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. KIM Hyun Seok

Mr. CHANG Kuo-Chin®

Ms. HUANG Pi-Chun'

Mr. KUNG Pei-Yuan'#

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. KAN Ji Ran Laurie

Prof. ZHANG Xiaogquan

Mr. KAM Chi Sing

! Appointed on 26 March 2024

2 Resigned on 26 March 2024
8 Appointed on 21 August 2024
4 Resigned on 21 August 2024

Mr. CHANG Chuan-Wang, Mr. CHENG Yee Pun and Mr. KIM Hyun Seok will
retire by rotation in accordance with Article 99 of the Bye-laws and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM. CHANG Kuo-
Chin will retire in accordance with Article 88 of the Bye-Laws and being eligible,
offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

The terms of office of the directors, including the independent non-executive
directors, are subject to retirement by rotation and are eligible for re-election at
the company’s annual general meeting in accordance with the company’s Bye-
laws.

UPDATE ON DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

During the reporting year, there was no change in information of the directors of
pursuant to Rule 13.51B (1) save as the appointment of Mr. CHANG Kuo-Chin
and the resignation of Mr. KUNG Pei-Yuan, both as non-executive director on
21 August 2024.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive directors

Mr. CHANG Chuan-Wang, aged 56, was appointed as executive director
and Chairman on 26 March 2024. He has about 30 years’ experience in
the information and communication technology industry. In May 2009,
Mr. Chang joined Hon Hai whose shares are listed on the Taiwan Stock
Exchange Corporation (“Taiwan Stock Exchange”) (stock code: 2317),
focusing on group business strategy, operation control and performance
analysis management. Mr. Chang is currently an assistant vice president of
the Strategic Controlling Division in Hon Hai. He currently also serves as the
executive director of Ennoconn Corporation, principally operating the business
of industrial computer design, manufacture, processing and sale, whose
shares are listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange (stock code:6414). Since 14
April 2023, he has also been a chairman of the board of directors, a non-
executive director and a member of the remuneration committee of CircuTech
International Holdings Limited (“CircuTech”), whose shares are listed on the
GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8051). The ultimate controlling
shareholder of CircuTech is Hon Hai and its principal business is the sale and
distribution of IT product. Mr. Chang has acted as a non-executive director
of FIH Mobile Limited (stock code: 2038) and FIT Hon Teng Limited (“FIT”)
(stock code: 6088), whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, since 29 June 2023 and 21 June 2024 respectively. For the period
from 2002 to 2008, Mr. Chang was the chairman’s special assistant at Jabil
Green Point, whose shares were listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange and
were delisted in April 2007. For the period from 1995 to 2001, he served as
the head of the global operations management in Universal Scientific Industrial
Co., Ltd., whose shares were listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange and were
delisted in June 2010. Mr. Chang obtained a bachelor’s degree in Automatic
Control Engineering from Feng Chia University in 1992 and a master’s degree
in business administration from the Graduate Institute of Management at Feng
Chia University in 2007. In 2007, he was awarded the honorary membership
of Phi Tau Phi Scholastic Honor Society for his outstanding academic
achievements.

Mr. CHENG Yee Pun, aged 49, was appointed as executive director on 28
March 2018 and is assuming the role of group chief financial officer. Prior to
joining the company in 2016, he was the vice president of New World Strategic
Investment Limited, primarily responsible for private equity and venture capital
investments, M&A transactions and business development initiatives. Mr.
Cheng began his career with an international accounting firm and had worked
for a number of global financial institutions and Hong Kong listed companies.
He obtained his Master of Business Administration and Bachelor of Commerce
(Hons.) from the University of New South Wales and the University of Melbourne
in Australia respectively. Mr. Cheng is a member of HKICPA, CPA Australia and
CFA Institute.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continueq)

Non-executive directors

Mr. KIM Hyun Seok, aged 42, was appointed as non-executive director on 29
March 20283. He has been with SK Holdings (C&C) since 2017 and is currently
the Head of Strategic Investment Team. He holds a Bachelor of Science at Ohio
State University and a Master of Business Administration at Korea Development
Institute School of Public Policy and Management (KDIS), Se-Jdong City,
Republic of Korea.

Mr. CHANG Kuo-Chin, aged 56, was appointed as non-executive director on
21 August 2024. Mr. Chang has over 30 years of extensive experience in the
information technology field. He joined Hon Hai in 1998 whose shares are listed
on the Taiwan Stock Exchange under stock code 2317. Mr. Chang specializes
in information management, digital service platform establishment, and
business operations. He currently serves as the senior assistant vice president
and Head of the Central Information Department of Hon Hai Technology
Group. Mr. Chang obtained his Bachelor’s degree in Applied Mathematics from
Chung Yuan Christian University in 1992 and worked in the IT department
of Kuozui Motors, Ltd. for three years. From 1999 to 2020, Mr. Chang led
the Information Division of J Business Group at Hon Hai Technology Group,
where he planned and established various central digital platforms and laid
the digital operational management foundation for the rapid growth of Hon Hai
Technology Group. In 2016, he founded MinMax Technology (Shenzhen) Co.,
Ltd. and served as Chairman until 2023, demonstrating his visionary foresight
and exceptional management capabilities. Since 2013, Mr. Chang has held
the positions of chairman of Futaihong Precision Component (Shenzhen) Co.,
Ltd., and executive director of Fuchin Precision Industry (Shenzhen) Co.,
Ltd. Additionally, Mr. Chang was honored as one of Hon Hai Group’s Top 10
Inventors in both 2018 and 2020.

Ms. HUANG Pi-Chun, aged 52, was appointed as non-executive director on 26
March 2024. She has over 28 years of experience in finance and accounting
as well as operational analysis, and specializes in the operation of multinational
companies in large scale electronics manufacturing industry. She is currently
the assistant vice president of corporate accounting department of Hon Hai
and is responsible for issuing financial reports of the Hon Hai Technology
Group. Ms. Huang is responsible for conducting financial forecasts analysis
for top management’s decision making, and also holds major positions in the
finance and accounting digital transformation projects and has participated in
the due diligence on investment projects of the Hon Hai Technology Group.
Since 7 August 2023, she has also been a non-executive director of FIT.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continueq)

Non-executive directors (continued)

Ms. Huang obtained a Bachelor of Accounting from the Fu Jen Catholic
University in Taiwan in 1994. After graduation, she joined a Taiwan local CPA
firm (which was merged into Crowe (TW) CPAs in 2016) as an auditor and
was responsible for auditing financial statements, conducting tax audits and
providing initial public offering and over-the-counter market counselling for
clients. Ms. Huang left the CPA firm in 1997 and then served as accounting
supervisor of Lite-On Technology Corporation (“Lite-On Technology”), a listed
company on the Taiwan Stock Exchange (stock code: 2301) with its principal
business operations in the electronics manufacturing industry. During her 17
years of services in Lite-On Technology, Ms. Huang was responsible for issuing
financial reports for Lite-On Technology and conducting operational analysis.
She was also involved in the post-investment consolidation and management
work for the Lite-On Technology’s overseas establishment and closure of
factories as well as mergers and acquisitions. Ms. Huang has experience in
working in many countries, including the U.S., Mexico, Czech Republic, Finland
and Germany. In the course of digital transformation of Lite On Technology, she
successfully led her team to make significant contributions including but not
limited to the upgrade of enterprise resource planning (ERP), the optimization
of business warehouse (BW) database and the introduction of business
consolidation system (BCS) platform for consolidated reporting system. In
2015, she left her position as senior manager of Lite-On Technology and
joined Taikoo Motors Limited (Taiwan branch) (“Taikoo Motors”) as financial
controller. After serving Taikoo Motors for one year, Ms. Huang joined Hon Hai
in 2016.

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. KAN Ji Ran, Laurie, aged 64, was appointed as independent non-executive
director on 1 December 2015. Mr. Kan is a managing partner and founder of
ON Capital, a private equity firm that specialises in investing in China since
2004. Prior to founding ON Capital, Mr. Kan established i100 Corporation in
1999, a start-up incubator that went on to list on the main board of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange. He had also served as chief operating officer of CDC
Corporation (renamed to China.com later), founder of PointCast Asia, and had
established Sina.com in Hong Kong. Mr. Kan spent the earlier years of his
career successively at Apple Computer, Compag Computer, and established
Microsoft in Hong Kong and China. Mr. Kan graduated in business from Hong
Kong Baptist College and from the Stanford Graduate School of Business’
Executive Program for Smaller Companies.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continueq)

Independent non-executive directors (continued)

Prof. ZHANG Xiaoquan, aged 51, was appointed as independent non-executive
director on 31 March 2020. Prof. Zhang is currently a professor of Department
of Decision Sciences and Managerial Economics at The Chinese University
of Hong Kong (the “CUHK”) since 2017. Before he joined the CUHK, he
was an associate professor of Department of Information Systems, Business
Statistics & Operations Management at The Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology Business School from 2006. Before joining the academia,
he worked as an analyst for an investment bank, and as an international
marketing manager for a high-tech company. He holds a patent in the United
States, and co-founded several companies in the areas of social networking,
FinTech, and LegalTech. Prof. Zhang holds a Doctor of Philosophy degree in
Management from MIT Sloan School of Management in the United States, a
Master of Science degree in Management, a Bachelor of Engineering degree
in Computer Science and a Bachelor of Arts degree in English from Tsinghua
University in the People’s Republic of China. He has been an independent
director for NASDAQ-listed e-commerce company Secoo Holding Limited
(NASDAQ: SECO) since September 2017. He also offered advice to Hong Kong
Cyberport Management Company Ltd., Jingdong Finance, Hupan University,
Huawei Investment & Holding Co., Ltd., China Mobile Limited, China Merchants
Securities Co. Ltd., Douban.com, and Radica Systems Limited.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continueq)

Independent non-executive directors (continued)

Mr. KAM Chi Sing, aged 54, was appointed as independent non-executive
director on 28 September 2023. He has over 22 years of experience in
management accounting, auditing and assurance, taxation, corporate services
and cross border merger and acquisition consultation in Hong Kong and
China. Mr. Kam established Roger Kam & Co., a certified public accounting
firm in Hong Kong, in May 2000, and R&T Consulting Group Limited (‘R&T
Consulting”), a business consulting firm in Hong Kong, in July 2009. Mr. Kam
is currently serving as the managing partner at Roger Kam & Co, the managing
director at R&T Consulting and the chief representative of the representative
offices of Roger Kam & Co in Shanghai, Guangzhou and Beijing. Mr. Kam
has been acting as an independent non-executive director of Excellence
Commercial Property & Facilities Management Group Limited (stock code:
6989) since 28 September 2020 and LX Technology Group Limited (stock
code: 2436) since 27 September 2022 and a company secretary of Xinji Shaxi
Group Co., Ltd (stock code: 3603) since 11 March 2019, all of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr.
Kam is a founding member of the Alliance of Inter-Continental Accountants
and has been registered as a certified tax adviser and a chartered tax adviser
by the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong since 2011 and 2020, respectively. He
was admitted as a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in November 2003, a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in April 2006, a fellow member of the Institute of
Financial Accountants in March 2011, a fellow member of the Taxation Institute
of Hong Kong in January 2010, a member of the Society of Trust and Estate
Practitioners in April 2012 and a member of the Hong Kong Securities and
respectively. He is a committee member
of the taxation committee, a committee member of the financial and treasury

Investment Institute in June 2013,

services committee and a committee member of the China committee of
Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce. He has also been serving as a
committee member of the Chinese General Chamber of Commerce, Hong Kong
since November 2016. Mr. Kam was appointed as a member and honorary
treasurer of Hong Kong Red Cross Special Education & Rehabilitation Service
Governing Committee in November 2013, and school manager and treasurer of
the Incorporated Management Committee of Hong Kong Red Cross Princess
Alexandra Schools in July 2020. Mr. Kam was also appointed as a member of
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference in Shanghai Pudong New
Area in December 2023. Mr. Kam obtained his bachelor’'s degree of science
from the University of Hong Kong in November 1993.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continueq)

Chief Executive Officer

Dr. SHI Zhe, aged 35, was appointed as Chief Executive Officer on 26 March
2024. He obtained his Master and Doctor of Philosophy in Mechanical
Engineering from the Center for Intelligent Maintenance Systems (IMS),
University of Cincinnati, USA in 2014 and 2018 respectively. Currently he
is serving as the chief digital officer and head of the smart manufacturing
platform of Foxconn Technology Group, mainly responsible for the group’s
digital transformation strategic planning and intelligent manufacturing
implementation. Before joining Foxconn Technology Group, Dr. Shi was the co-
founder of Beijing Cyberinsight Technology Co., Ltd. and was responsible for
solutions and strategic key accounts. Dr. Shi has participated in the research
and development of industrial intelligence projects and intelligent system
development in rail transit, power generation, manufacturing, shipping and
other industries. Currently, he is mainly engaged in the digital transformation of
electronic manufacturing and the implementation of intelligent manufacturing
projects, including mold processing, large-scale machining, printed circuit
board assembly (PCBA) and large-scale assembly. Dr. Shi also serves as a
lecturer for the Masters of Business and Administration (MBA) programme
at the School of Economics and Management of Tsinghua University, a
guest lecturer at the Graduate School of Tsinghua University on intelligent
manufacturing, a business tutor for undergraduates at Beihang Sijia College,
and a business tutor for professional master programme’s students at Beijing
Jiaotong University.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the reporting year, the company did not enter into any equity-linked
agreement.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr. Chang Chuan-Wang and Dr. Shi has entered into a service
agreement with the company for a fixed term of three years in respect of the
appointment of Mr. Chang as executive director and Dr. Shi as Chief Executive
Officer respectively and Mr. Chang Kuo-Chin and Ms. Huang have entered
into an appointment letter with no fixed term with the company in respect of
their appointment as non-executive directors. Mr. Cheng and Mr. Kim have
not entered into any service contracts and do not have a fixed term of service
with the company. However, all directors are subject to re-election by rotation
at least once every three years in accordance with the Bye-laws. Each of the
independent non-executive directors has entered into an appointment letter
with the company for one year and is renewable automatically for successive
term of one year. None of the directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the company
which cannot be terminated by the company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contracts of significance in relation to the
group’s business to which the company or any of its subsidiaries was a party
and in which a director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at any time during the reporting year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As far as the directors are aware, none of the directors or their respective
associates has any interest in a business which competes or may compete with
the business of the group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the directors is currently
in force and was in force throughout the reporting year. The company has
maintained directors and officers’ liability insurance which provides appropriate
cover for, among others, the directors.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER’S INTERESTS IN
SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS

Save as the disclosure in the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions”, as far as the directors are aware, at no time during the
reporting year had the company or any of its subsidiaries, and the controlling
shareholders or any of its subsidiaries entered into any contract of significance
or any contract of significance for the provision of services by the controlling
shareholders or any of its subsidiaries to the company or any of its subsidiaries.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the then directors
and chief executives of the company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) which
were required, pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have taken
under such provisions of the SFO), to be notified to the company and the Stock
Exchange, or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register kept by the company, or which were required, pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers in
the Listing Rules, to be notified to the company and the Stock Exchange were
as follows:

Long position in the company’s shares of HK$0.10 each

PN B A S “mzt Bt
Personal Associate Total

interests Interests interests Percentage

= e 1,300,000 - 1,300,000 0.19%
Mr. CHENG Yee Pun (1)
(note)

Wizt -
ZREmB AT ERME -
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Notes:
The interest represents share options of the company.

Save as disclosed above, so far as the directors are aware, as at 31 December
2024, none of the then directors nor the chief executive of the company had or
was deemed to have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (i) were required to be notified to
the company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (i) were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein; or (i) were required to be notified to the company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers contained in the Listing Rules.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 31 May 2023, the 2013 Share Option Scheme was terminated by the
adoption of the 2023 Share Option Scheme pursuant to a resolution passed
by the shareholders of the company at the annual general meeting. Upon
termination of the 2013 Share Option Scheme, no further options could be
granted but the provisions of the 2013 Share Option Scheme will remain in full
force and effect to the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of options
granted prior to its termination or otherwise as may be required in accordance
with the rules of the 2013 Share Option Scheme.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, a total of 3,670,000 share options
under the 2013 Share Option Scheme were cancelled.

No share option under the 2023 Share Option Scheme has been granted,
exercised, lapsed or cancelled and there was no outstanding option under the
2023 Share Option Scheme during the reporting period.

Summary of the 2023 Share Option Scheme

1. Purpose of the 2023 Share Option Scheme
To motivate the eligible participants to optimize their performance and
efficiency for the benefit and long-term growth and profitability of the

group and to attract and retain or otherwise maintain the best available
personnel of the group.

2. Participants of the 2023 Share Option Scheme

(@) any employee (whether full-time or part-time, including any
directors, whether executive or non-executive and whether
independent or not) of the company or any of its subsidiaries (and
including persons who are granted share options under the 2023
Share Option Scheme as an inducement to enter into employment
contracts with these companies);

(b) any director or employee of the holding companies, fellow
subsidiaries or associated companies of the company; and

(c) any person providing services to the group on a continuing or
recurring nature in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
group, the grant of share options to whom is in the interests of the
long-term growth of the group as determined by the group:

provided that the board may have absolute discretion to determine
whether or not one falls within the above categories.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Summary of the 2023 Share Option Scheme (continued)

3.

Maximun number of share option available

(@)  The number of share options available for grant under the mandate
of the 2023 Share Option Scheme as at 1 January 2024 and 31
December 2024 was 70,154,344.

(o)  The number of share options available for grant under the service
provider sublimit of the 2023 Share Option Scheme as at 1 January
2024 and 31 December 2024 was 14,030,868.

()  The number of shares that may be issued in respect of share
options granted under the 2023 Share Option Scheme during the
reporting year divided by the weighted average number of shares of
the relevant class in issue for the year was nil.

(d) At as the date of this annual report, the total number of shares
available for issue under the 2023 Share Option Scheme was
70,154,344 and the percentage of the issued shares that it
represents was 10%.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the 2023 Share
Option Scheme:

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon the exercise
of all share options granted to each eligible participant (excluding any
share options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the 2023 Share
Option Scheme) in any period of twelve (12) consecutive months up to
and including the date of such grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares in
issue.

Period within which the share option may be exercised by the
grantee under the 2023 Share Option Scheme:

A period to be determined by the board at its absolute discretion
(provided that the period shall not be more than 10 years from the date of
grant of share options) and notified by the board to an eligible participant
as the period during which a share option may be exercised (subject to
any restrictions on the exercise of the share option as may be imposed
by the board).

Vesting period of share options granted under the 2023 Share
Option Scheme:

Not less than twelve (12) months from the date of acceptance of an offer
of the share option or such shorter period as may be determined by the
Remuneration Committee if the grantee is a director or a senior manager,
or by the board in any other case.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Summary of the 2023 Share Option Scheme (continued)

7. Price payable on application or acceptance of the share option
and the period within which payments or calls must or may be
made or loans for such purposes must be repaid:

A non-refundable amount of HK$1.00 (or such non-refundable nominal
sum in any currency as the board may determine) shall be paid by an
eligible participant in favour of the company on acceptance of an offer of
the share option.

8. Basis of determining the exercise price of options granted:

The exercise price of share options granted shall be determined by the
board and shall at least be the highest of: (a) the closing price of the
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the
offer date, which shall be a business day; and (b) the average closing
price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the offer
date; or (where applicable) such price as from time to time adjusted in
accordance with the Listing Rules.

9. Period of the Share Option Scheme

Unless otherwise cancelled or amended, the 2023 Share Option Scheme
will remain in force for 10 years from 31 May 2023.

For detailed movements of the share options during the year ended 31
December 2024, please refer to Note 27 of the consolidated financial
statements.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the company were entered into or
existed during the reporting year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” as disclosed
above, at no time during the reporting year was the company and any of its
subsidiaries of the company and its associated corporations a party to any
arrangement to enable the directors or chief executive or any of their spouse or
children under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in or debentures of the company or any other body corporate. Save as
disclosed in this annual report, none of the directors or any of their spouses or
children under the age of 18 was granted any right to subscribe for the shares
or debentures of the company or its subsidiaries or had exercised any such
right during the reporting year.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES

At no time during the reporting year was the company or any of its subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in the company or any
other body corporate.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Framework Agreements with Hon Hai

On 23 December 2015, the company entered into four Framework Agreements
(each a “2015 Framework Agreement” and collectively, the “2015
Framework Agreements”) with Hon Hai. Notwithstanding that Hon Hai
was not a connected person of the company under the Listing Rules at that
time, the company voluntarily complied with the reporting, announcement
and Independent Shareholders’ approval requirements for the transactions
contemplated under the 2015 Framework Agreements as if Hon Hai is a
connected person of the company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The 2015 Framework Agreements consist of (1) the I.T. System Operation and
Maintenance Framework Agreement, (2) the Build-Own-Operate and I.T. Project
Framework Agreement, (3) the Procurement Framework Agreement and (4)
the Sales Framework Agreement. Pursuant to the Framework Agreements, the
group agreed to (i) provide I.T. support and maintenances services to Hon Hai
Technology Group; (i) provide build-own-operate and I.T. project services to
Hon Hai Technology Group; (i) purchase enterprise-level products including
but not limited to communication software, servers and related hardware
equipment from Hon Hai Technology Group to be used primarily for the
provision of various I.T. services; and (iv) sell ancillary I.T. products to Hon Hai
Technology Group.

As the term of each of the 2015 Framework Agreements expired on 31 March
2018 and following the change of financial year end date from 31 March to
31 December, the company renewed the continuing connected transactions
as contemplated under each of the 2015 Framework Agreements for every
three years. New framework agreements were entered on 22 September 2017
(“2017 Framework Agreements”), 7 December 2020 (“2020 Framework
Agreements”) and 4 December 2023 (2023 Framework Agreements”)
respectively and each covered a term of three financial years ended from
31 December 2018 to 31 December 2020, from 31 December 2021 to
31 December 2023, and from 31 December 2024 to 31 December 2026
respectively.
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Framework Agreements with Hon Hai (continued)

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

The annual caps of the 2023 Framework Agreements for the financial years
from 31 December 2024 to 31 December 2026 are as follows:

—EE—
BHAMKRR EEx
EERE BHHKIEE
I.T. System Build-Own-
Operation and Operate and ®RE HE
Maintenance I.T. Project Procurement Sales
ANEEFT ANEWEFT NEMFTT ANEWEFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
—somE 2024 106,458 364,074 37,317 34,043
TEHEF 2025 127,750 436,889 44,780 41,931
TETRE 2026 153,300 524,266 583,736 50,317
BREER _Z_=—FERWERTEZEE LR Based on the applicable size tests performed with respect to the proposed
ETZBERARRAE B8EZZ"WNFE-"Z"FHF  annual cap amounts under the 2023 Framework Agreements, as one or more

ERZE2ZRETZR=+—HLE=ZEAMBREE H

RS =ZFIER % ZETRETZRGME
TR CFERBEZESFELRZ-BRZIE

L)ﬂé’ﬁtt%&fﬂ?%ﬁ%% TR ER% K%
5\10 000,000 7 ZE - = FERHBHE N EET

R BAEST FHRAE4AZTSE T 2HR - FES
7#%“*&5%4}&%#&/&2%1 AL B R4 BIK
FERIZZMFE—B=1+HBB MBILURIERN
G AERE S FERHE

of the applicable percentage ratios of the proposed annual caps of the 2023
Framework Agreements for the three financial years ending 31 December 2024,
2025 and 2026 for the transactions contemplated under the 2023 Framework
Agreements are expected to be higher than 5% and more than HK$10,000,000
on an annual basis, the transactions contemplated under the 2023 Framework
Agreements are subject to the reporting, annual review, announcement and
Independent Shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. As a result, a special general meeting was convened on 30
January 2024 where the Independent Shareholders approved all the 2023
Framework Agreements.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)
Framework Agreements with Hon Hai (continued)

The annual caps and actual transaction amount for the group’s continuing
connected transactions with Hon Hai Technology Group during the reporting
year are set out in the table below. All the actual transaction amount of the
group’s continuing connected transaction did not exceed the respective annual
caps.

—EIME
BRRXSEHE
—EZNE Actual
FELR Transaction
Annual Caps Amount
for 2024 for 2024
ANEEFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000

HEBRKER With Hon Hai Technology Group
BRI RREREE |.T. System Operation and Maintenance 106,458 49,098
BE-E-E28RMEAREER Build-Own-Operate and I.T. Project 306,074 172,263
REE Procurement 37,317 8,740
HH & Sales 34,943 17,073

WMARBR 2 _MFE—-—A+E BT ENBRF
KE —EC-—FERADEENRETHNXRZ AR
MEEBRKEHBEWALKRAERFEERAZ
0%t (MEfHF)) - BE-Z_MFE+_A=+—
HEFE BERKEERGEERERAGEBERAZ
49% c HIt > MR A BREFEDEBTIHRMGE -

As disclosed in the circular issued by the company on 15 January 2024,
the transactions as contemplated under the 2023 Framework Agreements
are also subject to the condition that the revenue attributable to Hon Hai
Technology Group will be less than 60% of the group’s annual total revenue
(the “Condition”). For the year ended 31 December 2024, the actual revenue
attributable from Hon Hai Technology Group represented 49% of the total
revenue. Thus we complied with the Condition for the reporting year.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)
Framework Agreements with Hon Hai (continued)

The independent non-executive directors have reviewed and confirmed that all
the continuing connected transactions taken place during the reporting year
were (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the group; (ii) on normal
commercial terms or better; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing the same on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests
of the company’s shareholders as a whole. Moreover, the company’s auditor
has provided an unqualified letter to the board containing their findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions taken place
during the reporting year in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, none of the related party transactions as disclosed
in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements constituted disclosable
non-exempted connected transaction or non-exempted continuing connected
transaction under the Listing Rules. The directors confirm that the company has
complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2024, to the best knowledge of the directors, the following
parties (other than directors or chief executives of the company), had an
interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares which are required
to be disclosed to the company under the provision of Divisions 2 and 3 and
Part XV of the SFO, or, who was, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more
of the shares.

RIEBAOT DK

FRisRR P BB 5 FEIERREE DL

FELFRIFIR1D & E Approximate

Number or percentage or

attributable EEtE attributable

RER&E number of Nature of percentage of

Name of Shareholder shares held interests shareholding

FSK Holdings Limited 239,050,141 Bm 34.07%
Beneficial

FDG Fund, L.P. 71,813,581 B 10.24%
Beneficial

Foxconn (Far East) Limited 46,680,000 B 6.65%
Beneficial
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INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

(continued)
Notes:

To the best knowledge of the directors after having made all reasonable enquiries, Hon Hai
and its affiliates indirectly holds more than 40% attributable equity interests in FSK Holdings
Limited. FSK Holdings Limited is a limited partner of FDG Fund L.P. contributing to about
75% of its total commitment. The 239,050,141 shares FSK Holdings Limited is deemed to
be interested in include the 71,813,581 shares held by FDG Fund, L.P.

General partner of FDG Fund, L.P. is FDG Fund GP Limited which, in turn, is controlled by
Mr. TSE Tik Yang, Denis, a former non-executive director who resigned on 7 December
2020.

Foxconn (Far East) Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hon Hai.

Save as disclosed above, the company has not been notified of any other
interest representing 5% or more of the shares and recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO as at 31 December 2024.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the company and within the
knowledge of the directors as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue
of this annual report, the company has maintained a sufficient public float
throughout the reporting year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE,
INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS, AUDIT COMMITTEE

Details of the company’s corporate governance practices, independence of
independent non-executive directors and the Audit Committee are set out in
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 14 to 34.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited financial statements of the
group for the reporting year, the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the group with the management and discussed risk management, internal
controls and financial reporting matters related to the preparation of the annual
results for the reporting year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the company nor its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any
of the company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023: Nil).
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TAX RELIEF

The company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares. Intending holders
and investors of the company’s shares are recommended to consult their
professional advisers if they are in any doubt as to the taxation implications
(including tax relief) of subscribing for, purchasing, holding, disposing of or
dealing in shares. It is emphasised that neither the company nor its directors
or officers will accept any responsibility for any tax effect on, or liabilities
of, holders of shares in the company resulting from their subscription for,
purchase, holding, disposal of or dealing in such shares.

AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.

On behalf of the board
CHANG Chuan-Wang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2025
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To the Shareholders of Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited
The consolidated financial statements of Maxnerva Technology Services Limited

(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on pages
89 to 196, comprise:

. the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2024;

o the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then
ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising material

accounting policy information and other explanatory information.
Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of

Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
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ATt EIE KEY AUDIT MATTERS

BT EERERMNEELE  RAHAER  Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were

EHUMHRRNBARALEENEZIH - SLEEIFZENE  of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the

HPBAEEEHVEREAKREESREETERE  current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of

HeRMAgHEEFTERHEERNER the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

HPEESFtTANOEARSAFTEEEELRIAEE  The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to the expected credit loss

WERIBU RGN EETEREERERERRM- allowance of trade and lease receivables and contract assets.
RRBHEE RSN RERREETEE

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

EERHERVIRENREGNEERPEEHGRER

Expected credit loss allowance of trade and lease receivables and contract assets

FE2EEHPBRRMEES () 19K20°
Refer to Note 3.1(b), 19 and 20 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RIZEZNHE+"A=+—H> BEERSEXERBEERNK
RIEBURENEEMLBD N ARIEBE259,847,0007T & AR B
3,176,0007T » Tt It 78 22 6k (B 5 5 4 A\ R #569,278,0007T ©

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had gross trade and
lease receivables and contract assets of approximately
RMB259,847,000 and RMB3,176,000, respectively, for which a
provision for impairment of approximately RMB69,278,000 was
recognised.

EEEREEEUGREENFIORBLEH EFAEDWEER
HERKREURGNEENSREMREERE (REEERS
/) #E-

The Group applied the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure
lifetime expected credit losses (‘ECL”) allowance for all trade
and lease receivables and contract assets.

HMEETUTREFUREZEREEE
We have performed the following procedures to address this key
audit matter:

- R THREEEHSERMBERKKRBEUARGNEETRBRE
EBENREER RTERER > WiEBE B Gt HEE LR
FE e i TE A HE FB VR B8 0% B FI i > sTh BB KSR SR R B B |
B o

- We obtained an understanding of the management’s internal
control and assessment process of the ECL of trade and
lease receivables and contract assets and assessed the
inherent risk of material misstatement by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty and the judgement involved
in determining the assumptions to be applied.

- BPTERZEEMEEBNAREES SEREDTER X
HIEWARIE RGO E A4 R UL B 14 E 1T E BBsTfl o

- We evaluated and tested the management’s key controls,
including aging analysis review and regular assessment
performed on collectability of the receivable and contract
assets balances.
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Key Audit Matter

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

BMNE M REMREESFE
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

EEERAREAAURBRBH CERADEETRETML U
EEtEEEE -GS RBEEEREXARARAENNBEEE
BREF > TEFHABURMMETE R B R EMEWRIESE
BHEBNZRECERZNIRE RS HEARMEER - R LTEMRE
ERELESRER EEEZREMEL - EERE U KA
ERMFEEZ T RER

Management estimated the loss allowance by grouping
together debtors with similar risk characteristics for collective
assessment. The estimated ECL rates were based on historical
credit loss rates for different groups and adjusted to reflect the
current and multiple forward-looking information on macro-
economic factors that are considered relevant to determine the
ability of customers to settle the receivables in the future. In
assessing the sufficiency of the ECL estimation, management
considered factors including the settlement pattern, credit profile
and on-going trading relationships with the customers.

MARCABBENRBHESHERFRIEEHEBWREHZE
ERAERUBBRBUKREGNEEMS BT EBIREE

For trade and lease receivables and contract assets relating
to accounts which are long overdue with known liquidity issue
or non-response to collection activities, they are assessed
individually for loss allowance.
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BMEHE BEEEERBEREZNESML PIRANRERERE
RNEETHRBEERENRIUFMARELBENI RS-

We assessed the appropriateness of the expected loss
provisioning methodology of the Group, the key assumptions
adopted and the reliability of the historical data used in
determining expected credit losses.

BMRBEEE - RTBNEREMBRAXG  HEZERSHE
BIEEEMAZHENRERREEREERIIREBEURS
HNEEDRE

We tested the payment profiles of sales and aging of trade
and lease receivables and contract assets used in the
calculation of loss allowance, on a sample basis, to invoices,
bank advices and other relevant documents.

BMEBXNZEBRNBAZRE BINMEANEERBEERX
FRENBEXRS) REFINSBHEE R AFER T HEEE
EAREMEENNSELE -

We assessed the reasonableness of the use of forward-
looking information by management by cross checking the
inputs of assumptions (e.g. GDP Growth rates and imports
growth rate, etc.) to the relevant external data sources or
public available information.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

KA E @R EAR S HIE
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BMMIEREERAERNEEUREGNEENTBREES
BEE DASEREEEERENGHERS ENMETTHETE
MREANTIERMERER B REBEHRNTRRREERD A
BEHBROAMRIIBEBERERHEG  UEETBEEES
SR U TRRRREHAEZL R

We focused on auditing the ECL allowance of trade and lease
receivables and contract assets because the estimation of ECL
allowance is subject to high degree of estimation uncertainty
and inherent risk of subjectivity. It involved significant level
of management judgement on the selection of internal and
external data from various sources that were considered to be
appropriate in their circumstances to establish the historical
credit loss experience and to adjust this experience for expected

- RPRBES BV BREENFORILEMEEREERUIER
BUERGHNEERBENRERSRE

- We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures related to
impairment of trade and lease receivables and contract assets
in the context of the HKFRS 9.

BERMBTREFNER RMXABEEBHNEXRHEERKIRIE
UERENEEGBREMRBNAE RBEREEESNERZF-
Based on the procedures performed, we considered that
management’s judgements and assumptions applied in relation
to the loss allowance of trade and lease receivables and contract
assets were supportable by evidence obtained.

future changes.
HE8

BEAREFANHMEEAE -HiEEEEFERN
BFrEER BT EEGHH B RE R BED
&

R EHYBRENERLTREEMER > KM
TAHZEEMEREREATANERER -

EERMYaHMBERRNES RANESEEHE
Hiz R ElBET ZEHMERESHEHY
BREARMEIEABETATRNBEREFEEKR
AN E L FEEERBRBRAN B -

ERFMEITH I IREMIR/EMEEEE
EAHEBERE RAFTEREZFE-EEHE R
FIRBERRE

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all of the information included in the annual report
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’'s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material

misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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MBS HBERRAEN  AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
=Rl OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

ERB(EBZTED ) ETEBERED HMER  As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
TEEE REF T BEEBERE MK judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
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o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken
to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Au Chi Ho.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 27 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED INCOMVMIE STATEMENT
HE_Z_NE+_A=+—HILEEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

—E-_MNE B =4F
2024 2023
btat AREFT ANEEFT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
L ON Revenue 5 558,939 677,877
iH & A Cost of sales 7 (470,998) (581,098)
EH Gross profit 87,941 96,779
Hnug A Other income 6 1,792 2,578
Hithikzs,~ (B518) - $ 48 Other gains/(losses), net 6 3,645 (274)
WANTEFABREZEMEET  Fair value (losses)/gains on financial assets at
NFE (BB W P58 fair value through profit or loss, net 17 (17,087) 964
mEEEREBE Impairment losses on intangible asset 15 (2,325) (10,634)
ETMEERBRERD Reversal of loss allowance for financial assets 3.1(b)(ii) 762 1,522
HERKIHAS Selling and distribution expenses 7 (34,281) (37,163)
—MRRITHAESR General and administrative expenses 7 (48,164) (58,837)
HEER Research and development expenses 7 (3,491) (9,017)
REEE Operating losses (11,208) (9,082)
FEUWA —F28 Finance income — net 9 2,169 1,636
DEBEAR 2 EE Share of results of associates 16 (22) (4,730)
KRE—BME QB2 HERE Impairment loss on investment in an associate 16 - (2,019)
FREFS IR ARSI Loss before income tax (9,061) (14,195)
FriEMB2 Income tax expenses 10 (3,382) (2,636)
FERE Loss for the year (12,443) (16,831)
B —ET=F
2024 2023
A BBl AN
RMB cents RMEB cents
EAREBEESFHREA Losses per share for loss attributable to
BBz SREE ordinary equity holders of the Company
EREXEE Basic losses per share 12 (1.77) (2.40)
SREEHIE Diluted losses per share 12 (1.77) (2.40)

RS R R R AR R R M B A —

GEEE

the accompany notes.

The above consolidated income statement should be read in conjunction with
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COVIPREHENSIVE INCOME
HEZZMNE+ZA=+—HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

—E_ME TE=F
2024 2023
AREFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FEFA Loss for the year (12,443) (16,831)
Hithir &1k - Other comprehensive income:
O FEEM T E Bm z HH Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss
SN B ERR Currency translation differences (3,523) (735)
OEEF G EH D IEEEm 2 IEH  Item that may not be reclassified to profit or loss
SMNEIE A5 Currency translation differences 5,973 2,036
FEHMEES WS Other comprehensive income for the year 2,450 1,301
FERKARIE Total comprehensive losses for the year (9,993) (15,530)
LAl & Bz & IR 5 7R PE 2 [B) BE B B 5 — HF B RE o The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

RIZE_ME+_-A=+—H
As at 31 December 2024

—EWE —ET=F
2024 2023
ok AREFT ANEHEFT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B5E ASSETS
EREEE Non-current assets
Mz KSR RRE Property, plant and equipment 13 14,596 6,491
FREEE Right-of-use assets 14 12,278 9,396
EEE Intangible assets 15 = 3,544
LB E AT Investments in associates 16 348 399
BAFEFAERZESHEE Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 17 60,439 76,608
HERAEREWIEE Trade and lease receivables 20 2,328 3,629
BENREREEERS Prepayments and rental deposits 21 146 71
FIEFTSINE E Deferred income tax assets 23 6,814 7,317
f%'_?fﬁ_?iﬁ:é_% _________ Total non-current assets 96,949 107,455
REBEE Current assets
=78 Inventories 18 123,311 82,742
BNEE Contract assets 19 3,164 1,452
HERAEREWIEE Trade and lease receivables 20 188,253 201,661
FENFIBE IS REMMBEWFRIE  Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 21 55,769 37,057
A Y [El R IE Tax recoverable 456 -
RERREEBY Cash and cash equivalents 22 186,288 189,756
f@_u_’ﬁ?ﬁ_‘%% ________ Total current assets 557,241 512,668
mEE Total assets 654,190 620,123
¥ EQUITY
AT ABERERFE Capital and reserves attributable to
owners of the Company
fig A& Share capital 26 68,447 68,447
i 17w (B Share premium 26 213,865 213,865
#1E Reserves 28 142,601 154,139
Wi Total equity 424,913 436,451
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
RIZE_ME+"-A=+—H
As at 31 December 2024

—E-mE —E-=fF
2024 2023
ik ARBFT ANEBFT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
=i LIABILITIES
ERBEE Non-current liabilities
HEEeE Lease liabilities 14 4,990 2,568
FIEFTSMEE Deferred income tax liabilities 23 1,509 2,680
WIERHER Total non-current liabilities 6,499 5,248
Gk JR=Ni= Current liabilities
T & 2 ER1E Trade payables 24 170,711 109,696
FEstE B R EME B Accruals and other payables 25 27,949 46,272
SHNEE Contract liabilities 19 13,852 11,331
HEEeE Lease liabilities 14 4,146 3,082
EIRIEB Tax payables 6,120 8,043
RSP N=R =} Total current liabilities 222,778 178,424
FER=R Total liabilities 229,277 183,672
HEGTkEE Total equity and liabilities 654,190 620,123
i aHEEBBREERMWM T —HHRIE The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the

accompanying notes.

BEIF16BEZ AHM B MERMEETFN2025F3H  The consolidated financial statements on pages 89 to 196 were approved by

27TEMERAHESEZ the Board of Directors on 27 March 2025 and were signed on its behalf.
REIE B R
*E HiTEE
CHANG Chuan-Wang CHENG Yee Pun
Chairman Executive Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEVMIENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RIZE_ME+_-A=+—H
For the year ended 31 December 2024

b NGiE 2PN
Attributable to owners of the Company

R 7 B iEE k& s
Share Share Total
capital premium Reserves equity
ANBEFT ANEEFT ANRBEFT ANBEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Hizt26) (Hizt26) (Hiz228)

(Note 26) (Note 26) (Note 28)
WZE_ME—H—HZ4# Balance at 1 January 2024 68,447 213,865 154,139 436,451

TRBE Comprehensive loss:

FEFE Loss for the year - - (12,443) (12,443)
Hittiz & W - Other comprehensive income:

SMNEIEEEE Currency translation differences - - 2,450 2,450
FERREER Total comprehensive loss for the year - - (9,993) (9,993)
NREABEBEAZSRDHE Transaction with owners in their

BEANETZRS capacity as owners:

EEEREEZ Employee share option schemes

—BERBEE - value of employee services - - (1,545) (1,545)
NEEABRBEAZEMHH Total transaction with owners in
BEAEGZARS their capacity as owners - - (1,545) (1,545)
MZZZME+ZH=+—H At 31 December 2024 68,447 213,865 142,601 424,913
ﬁf‘_:_g_;_i_if_—_ﬁijﬁ_z_ﬁ_ﬁﬁ,% Balance at 1 January 2023 68,447 213,865 168,721 451,033
FRIBE . Comprehensive loss:

FEBE Loss for the year - - (16,831) (16,831)
Hithiz Ui - Other comprehensive income:

SN EEE Currency translation differences - - 1,301 1,301
FEMRGEBR 0 Total comprehensive loss for the year - - (15,530) (15,530)
URERBEBEAZSME Transaction with owners in their

BEANETZRS capacity as owners:

EEBREE Employee share option schemes

—BERBEE - value of employee services - - 948 948
UREABBAZSME Total transaction with owners in
BEANETZERS their capacity as owners - - 948 948
MNZZE-=%+-"H=+—H At 31 December 2023 68,447 218,865 154,139 436,451
Pl EHEREBREER MM —RIE The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in

conjunction with the accompany notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HEZZMNE+ZA=+—HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

—EmE —E=HF
2024 2023
k=3 AREFT ANEEFT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
REFHZHAERE Cash flows from operating activities
RSB ZIRE Cash generated from operations 29(a) 14,774 36,179
U EF) B Interest received 2,442 1,842
B FRERM Income tax paid (6,521) (5,242)
f«fgfié_ﬁijfﬁ_ 5= _%Eﬁ_? ________ Net cash generated from operating activities 10,695 32,779
KREEZHZHAERE Cash flows from investing activities
BEYE - HMBRRE Purchase of property, plant and equipment (12,031) (1,532)
HEYE I RREFFESMIE  Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment 29(b) 166 -
iﬁ_%iiﬁ_ﬁijfﬁ_ﬁj_z_%fﬁ_ﬁ ________ Net cash used in investing activities (11,865) (1,532)
MEFHZHRERE Cash flows from financing activities
BEHEaBZELAR Repayment of capital and interest
FMEHD element of lease liabilities 29(c) (4,519) (10,087)
ﬁﬁ_%iiﬁ_ﬁijfﬁ_ﬁj_z_%fﬁ_ﬁ ________ Net cash used in financing activities (4,519) (10,087)
HERREEEYMZ GRL) Net (decrease)/increase in cash and
byl PR cash equivalents (5,689) 21,160
REVNZRERIBEEEY Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning
of the year 189,756 166,866
INEEREBHNIBEER Effect of foreign exchange rate change
ReEBY 2 EF8 on cash and cash equivalents, net 2,221 1,730
REXRZRERIBEEEY Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 22 186,288 189,756
M EHREREREER MW M T — HRIE The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction

with the accompany notes.
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1

GENERAL INFORMATION

Maxnerva Technology Services Limited (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, the “Group”), is a limited liability company incorporated
in Bermuda on 3 February 1994 as an exempted company under
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda. The address of its registered office
is Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda. The
shares of the Company have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 14 April 1994.

The Group is principally engaged in sales of I.T. products and software
applications, and the provision of system and network integration,
information technology solutions development and implementation, and
related maintenance services to corporate customers.

These financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), unless
otherwise stated.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a) Compliance with HKFRS and HKCO
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS”) as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622.
HKFRS comprise the following authoritative literature:
° Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

° Hong Kong Accounting Standards

° Interpretations developed by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continuea)

(b)

(c)

Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, which are carried
at fair values.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The area involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or area where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

New and amended standards, and interpretation adopted
by the Group

The Group has applied the following new and amended standards,

and interpretation for its annual reporting period commencing 1

January 2024:

Amendment to HKAS 1 Classification of liabilities as current or
non-current

Amendment to HKAS 1 Non-current liabilities with covenants

Amendment to HKAS 16 Lease liability in a sale and leaseback

Presentation of financial statements -
classification by the borrower of a
term loan that contains a repayment
on demand clause

Supplier finance arrangements

Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(Revised)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

The management assessed that the new and amended standards,
and interpretation listed above did not have any impact on the
amounts recognised in prior periods and are not expected to
significantly affect the current or future periods.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continueq)

(d)

New and amended standards, and interpretation not yet

adopted by the Group

The following new and amended standards, and interpretation have

been issued but are not effective for financial year beginning on 1

January 2024 and have not been early adopted by the Group:

Amendments to HKAS 21 and
HKFRS 1

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7

HKFRS 18
HKFRS 19
Hong Kong Interpretation 5

(Revised)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Lack of exchangeability’

Classification and measurement of
financial instruments?

Annual improvements to HKFRS
accounting standards - Volume 112

Presentation and disclosure in financial
statements?®

Subsidiaries without public accountability:
disclosure®

Presentation of financial statements -
classification by the borrower of a
term loan that contains a repayment
on demand clause®

Sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its associate or
joint venture*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026
s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027
4 A date to be determined

The Group will adopt the above new and amended standards and
interpretation when they become effective. Further information
about those HKFRSs that are expected to be applicable to the

Group is described below.
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2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(d)

New and amended standards, and interpretation not yet
adopted by the Group (continued)

HKFRS 18 introduces new requirements for presentation within
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, including
specified totals and subtotals. Furthermore, entities are required
to classify all income and expenses within the statement of
profit or loss into one of five categories: operating, investing,
financing, income taxes and discontinued operations, whereof
the first three are new. It also requires disclosure of newly defined
management-defined performance measures, subtotals of income
and expenses, and includes new requirements for aggregation
and disaggregation of financial information based on the identified
‘roles’ of the primary financial statements and the notes. In
addition, narrow-scope amendments have been made to HKAS
7 Statement of Cash Flows, which include changing the starting
point for determining cash flows from operations under the indirect
method, from ‘profit or loss’ to ‘operating profit or loss’ and
removing the optionality around classification of cash flows from
dividends and interest. There are also consequential amendments
to several other standards. HKFRS 18, and the amendments to
the other standards, is effective for reporting periods beginning on
or after January 1, 2027, but earlier application is permitted and
must be disclosed. HKFRS 18 will apply retrospectively. The new
requirements are expected to impact the Group’s presentation
of the statement of profit or loss and disclosures of the Group’s
financial performance. So far, the Group considers that the
adoption of HKFRS 18 is unlikely to have a significant impact on
the Group’s results of operations and financial position.

The directors of the Company have performed preliminary
assessment and do not anticipate any significant impact on the
Group’s financial position and results of operations upon adopting
these new and amended standards to existing HKFRS.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including foreign exchange risk and cash flow and
fair value interest-rate risks), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

Management regularly monitors the financial risks of the Group.
The use of derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk
exposures is governed by the Group’s policies approved by the
Board of Directors of the Company. The Group would occasionally
enter into certain foreign currency forwards options to manage
its exchange risks. The Group does not use derivative financial
instruments for speculative purposes.

(a) Market risk

() Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, Taiwan, the
PRC, the United States and Vietnam with most of the
transactions settled in HK$, RMB, United States dollars
(“USD”), New Taiwanese dollars (“NTD”), Euro (“EUR”")
and Vietnamese Dong (“VND”). Foreign exchange
risk arises when future commercial transactions or
recognised assets or liabilities are denominated in a
currency that is not the entity’s functional currency. The
Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk from various
currencies, primarily with respect to USD, NTD, EUR
and VND.

Management has a policy to require group companies
to manage their foreign exchange risk against their
functional currencies. It mainly includes managing the
exposures arising from sales and purchases made
by the relevant group companies in currencies other
than their own functional currencies. The Group also
manages its foreign exchange risk by performing
regular reviews of the Group’s net foreign exchange
exposures and would consider the use of foreign
exchange contracts to manage its foreign exchange
risks, where appropriate.
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3 HMEBERREREw 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (ontinued)
3.1 HMHBRAREZR & 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) WHHEE (& (a) Market risk (continued)
() SrERE (E (i) Foreign exchange risk (continued)
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EZEHN R B R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited

As at 31 December 2024, certain of the Group’s trade
and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents and
trade and other payables were denominated in foreign
currencies, details of which have been disclosed in
the respective notes to these consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31 December 2024, for group companies
with RMB as their functional currency, if USD had
weakened/strengthened by 5% against the RMB, with
all other variables held constant, post-tax loss for the
year would have been approximately RMB373,000
higher/lower (2023: RMB206,000), mainly as a result of
foreign exchange losses/gains on translation of bank
balances denominated in USD.

For a group company with NTD as its functional
currency, if USD had weakened/strengthened by
5% against the NTD, with all other variables held
constant, post-tax loss for the year would have
been approximately RMB281,000 higher/lower
(2023: RMB636,000) mainly as a result of foreign
exchange losses/gains on translation of bank balances
denominated in USD.

For a group company with VND as its functional
currency, if USD had weakened/strengthened by
5% against the VND, with all other variables held
constant, post-tax loss for the year would have been
approximately RMB100,000 higher/ lower (2023: Nil)
mainly as a result of foreign exchange losses/gains on
translation of bank balances denominated in USD.
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3.1

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

MBERARER (& 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) WHHEE (&) (a) Market risk (continued)

] SIEEJE [ (HE (i) Foreign exchange risk (continued)
MMEEBABTRMAE For the group companies with HKD and NTD as
NEB/KREATMS  ME their functional currencies, if EUR had weakened/
Bt R BT R EE DR strengthened by 5% against HKD and NTD
B/ FESRMFE &g respectively, with all other variables held constant,
BERTE FAKRRER post-tax loss for the year would have been
BREMND  BRLOARE approximately RMB430,000 higher/lower (2023:
430,00070 (ZE-=F: A RMB128,000), mainly as a result of foreign exchange
E#128,0007) » FEAR losses/gains on translation of bank balance and trade
BB DIBR 7T 5T B 2 SR 1T 45 R receivable denominated in EUR.
REXERREBEZEREIE
/IR FTER ©
BEERE BRBBREXSH In the opinion of the directors, the HK$ is reasonably
E BrRETHEEREE A stable with respect to the USD under the Linked
> IWEEEABTZ AT Exchange Rate System, and accordingly, companies
WARBERENETHEZR with HK$ as their functional currency do not have
S ERR 2 EREKXRINER any significant foreign exchange risk in respect
% o R B FETTHRNE 2 of transactions or balances denominated in USD.
o Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is performed.

(i) Bz AERATFEFEEE (i) Cash flow and fair value interest-rate risk
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The Group’s income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market interest
rates. The Group has no significant interest-bearing
assets except for the cash at banks, details of which
are disclosed in Note 22. The Group’s exposure to
changes in interest rates is mainly attributable to its
lease liabilities, details of which are disclosed in Note
14. Lease liabilities carried at fixed rates expose the
Group to fair value interest rate risk but management
considers that the fair value interest rate risk is
immaterial. The Group has not used any interest rate
swaps to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk.

No sensitivity analysis is presented as the Group did
not have material interest bearing liabilities as at 31
December 2024.
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HEEEEIE @ 3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 HMBRABEZER & 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) EEEME (b) Credit risk
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EEER KR AR AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited

Credit risk arises from cash at banks, trade and lease
receivables and contract assets, deposits and other
receivables carried at amortised cost.

()

(i)

Risk management

Credit risk is managed on a group basis.

The majority of the Group’s cash at banks are
deposited in major financial institutions located in
Hong Kong, The PRC and Taiwan, which are in good
reputation and high credit quality. Management does
not expect any losses arising from non-performance by
these counterparties.

Credit risk includes risks resulting from risks of
concentration and counterparty default. As at 31
December 2024, the Group has concentration of credit
risk as its top 5 trade debtors represent 21% (2023:
44%) of the total trade and lease receivables and
contract assets. The Group also has policies in place
to ensure that sale of products are made to customers
with an appropriate credit history and the Group
performs periodic credit evaluations of its customers.
Normally the Group does not require collaterals from
trade debtors.

Impairment

Trade and lease receivables and contract assets

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measuring expected credit losses which uses a
lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade and lease
receivables and contract assets, except for those trade
receivables which are long overdue with known liquidity
issue or non-response to collection activities which are
tested individually.
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3 HMBEKRERE@w 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 BERAKREZR &) 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) EEEE (&) (b) Credit risk (continued)
(i) JEE ) (i) Impairment (continued)
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Trade and lease receivables and contract assets
(continued)

Measurement of expected credit loss on individual

basis

Trade receivables relating to customers with known
financial difficulties or significant doubt on collection
of receivables are assessed individually for provision
for impairment allowance. As at 31 December
2024, full provision of these balances of individually
assessed trade receivable of RMB63,772,000 (2023:
RMB61,610,000) was provided.

Measurement of expected credit loss on collective

basis

The Group categories its trade and lease receivables
and contract assets, except those individually
assessed, based on the risk characteristics.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment
profiles of sales over a period of 36 months before
31 December 2024 and the corresponding historical
credit losses experienced within this period. The
historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and
forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors
affecting the ability of the customers to settle the
receivables.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)

EEER KR AR AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited

Impairment (continued)

Trade and lease receivables and contract assets
(continued)

Measurement of expected credit loss on collective

basis (continued)

The Group divided trade and lease receivables and
contract assets into 2 categories by the geographic
location of its customers and credit risk characteristic,
as follow:

- Category 1 is for customers conducting business
in Asia region

- Category 2 is for customers conducting business
in non-Asia regions

With different types of customers, the Group calculated
the expected loss rate respectively.

The Group has identified the China (Mainland) Annual
Fiscal Balance, United States Nominal GDP Per
Capita in USD etc to be the most relevant factors, and
accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates based on
expected changes in these factors.

On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 December
2024 and 2023 was determined as follows for both
trade and lease receivables and contract assets.
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3 MBRBEEIRE @ 3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 BBEABREZE &) 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) EEEE (&) (b) Credit risk (continued)
(i) JEE () (i) Impairment (continued)

SR NHERBREREGH

E (#)

F—H RoalteREE

BHER

Trade and lease receivables and contract assets
(continued)

Measurement of expected credit loss on collective
basis (continued)

Category 1: Customers conducting business in Asia

region

5%=F =E~ER AE+ZEB +=fEA
Trade and lease =40 i bkl bt I Gk 1 st

RZE-_ME+ZH receivables and Upto3 3t06 6to 12 Over 12

=+—HE¥RKMEE  contract assets as at months months months months
FERERBERENEE 31 December 2024 Current pastdue pastdue pastdue past due Total
ARBFT AREFT ARETFT ARETT AREFT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000

BHBEXE Expected loss rates 0.4% 0.5% 1.0% 1.3% 100%
REEE Gross carrying amount 115,425 18,502 9,749 11,748 4,706 160,130
BREE Loss allowance (419) (98) (95) (154) (4,706) (5,472)
REZE Net carrying amount 115,006 18,404 9,654 11,594 - 154,658

B%ZHE ZENER ~E+_fEAR +Z8A
Trade and lease 28 k| ki #i D 5t

RA_E_=F+_H receivables and Upto3 3to6 6to 12 Over 12

—+—HEERHE contract assets as at months months months months
EWRBREHNEE 31 December 2023 Current past due  past due past due past due Total
NEEFT ANEBEFT ARBEFT AEEFT ABEFT AEETFT
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB 000

BHBEX Expected loss rates 0.4% 0.6% 1.0% 1.4% 100%
REAE Gross carrying amount 145,465 12,162 4,787 8,275 6,336 177,025
BiaRE Loss allowance (541) (73) (52) 117) (6,336) (7,119)
REEE Net carrying amount 144,924 12,089 4,735 8,158 - 169,906
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)

3.1

EELEERUEIRER S
BE (8)

BHE NN ERE

Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i) Impairment (continued)

Trade and lease receivables and contract assets
(continued)

Measurement of expected credit loss on collective

basis (continued)

Category 2: Customers conducting business in non-

EBNER Asia regions

R%=fB ZENBR A~E+ZfER +Z{8R
Trade and lease ) ek ek ki N L@ @t

RZE-_ME+-A receivables and Upto3 3t06 6to 12 Over 12

=+—-HEEKRHEE contract assets as at months months months months
ERIRERENEE 31 December 2024 Current  pastdue pastdue pastdue past due Total
ANBEFT ABEFT ARBEFT AREFT ARETT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000

HHBEX Expected loss rates 0.1% 0.3% - - -
REAE Gross carrying amount 37,732 1,389 - - - 39,121
BiRkE Loss allowance (30) (4) - - - (34)
REFE Net carrying amount 37,702 1,385 - - - 39,087

B%=R ZE~BR ~EtZEA +ZEA
Trade and lease 218 bt B i e @t

A_E_=F+_H receivables and Upto3 3t06 6to 12 Over 12

—+—HEXRHEE contract assets as at months months months months
EUWERBERANEE 31 December 2023 Current past due  pastdue  past due past due Total
ANEEFT ANEEFT ANREFT ANEEFT AREFT ABEFT
RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB'000

HHERE Expected loss rates 0.2% 1.0% - 100% -
REAE Gross carrying amount 36,512 408 - 3 - 36,918
BiEkE Loss allowance (75) 4) - 3) - (82)
REVEE Net carrying amount 36,437 399 - - - 36,836

EZEHN R B R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

SR NHERBREREGH

E (#)

Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)
(i) Impairment (continued)

Trade and lease receivables and contract assets
(continued)

Measurement of expected credit loss on collective
basis (continued)

5 Total:

R%=fiB =E/ R ~E+ZfER +ZA
Trade and lease B8 ek k| B N L@ @t

RZZE-_ME+-AH receivables and Upto3 3t06 6o 12 Over 12

=+—-HEERHEE contract assets as at months months months months
REIRERANEE 31 December 2024 Current  pastdue pastdue pastdue  past due Total
ANBEFT ARBEFT ARBEFT AREFT ARBEFT AREFT
RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000

BHBEX Expected loss rates 0.3% 0.5% 1.0% 1.3% 100%
REAE Gross carrying amount 153,157 19,891 9,749 11,748 4,706 199,251
BEERF Loss allowance (449) (102) (95) (154) (4,706) (5,506)
REFE Net carrying amount 152,708 19,789 9,654 11,594 - 193,745

B%=fAE =E~ER ~E+_fAR +ZEA
Trade and lease 28 kil il FaIgt] M@ st

RZE_=F+_H receivables and Upto3 3t06 6to 12 Over 12

“t+—-BEEKREE contract assets as at months months months months
EURERANEE 31 December 2023 Current  pastdue  pastdue  pastdue  pastdue Total
ANEBEFT ANREFT ANREFT ANEEFT ARBEFT AEEFT
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB’000 RMB’000

BHBEXE Expected loss rates 0.3% 0.6% 1.0% 1.4% 100%
IREAEE Gross carrying amount 181,977 12,565 4,787 8,278 6,336 213,943
BiEkE Loss allowance (616) (77) (52) (120) (6,336) (7,201)
REFE Net carrying amount 181,361 12,488 4,735 8,158 - 206,742
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Impairment (continued)

Trade and lease receivables and contract assets
(continued)

Measurement of expected credit loss on collective
basis (continued)

Trade and lease receivables and contract assets are
written off when there is no reasonable expectation
of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the
failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with
the Group, and a failure to make contractual payments
for a period of greater than 180 days past due.

Impairment losses on trade and lease receivables and
contract assets are presented as net impairment losses
within operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited against the
same line item.

Movement in the loss allowances for trade and lease

BREHNBEEEHUWT - receivables and contract assets is as follows:
—E_NE —ET =4
2024 2023
ABBFT ANEBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
RER At the beginning of the year 68,811 68,531

HEEWNARBRIERE Reversal of loss allowance for

(g trade receivables (762) (742)
PERAE%E Exchange difference 1,229 1,022
REXR At the end of the year 69,278 68,811

BE_ZT_MmWE+_ A
=t+—HLEFE > LEE
SCRIMEE R S EEWARTE (2
LT RE AR
EERNKRESTHARE
780,0007T) ©

EEER KR AR AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited

For the year ended 31 December 2024, there was
no recovery of previously written off trade receivables
(2023: a recovery of previously written off trade
receivables amounted to RMB780,000).
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

(c)

Credit risk (continued)

(i) Impairment (continueq)

Other financial assets at amortised costs

Other financial assets at amortised cost include
deposits and other receivables (excluding tax
recoverable).

The credit quality of other financial assets at amortised
cost has been assessed with reference to historical
information about the counterparties default rates and
financial position of the counterparties. Management
considers that its credit risk has not increased
significantly since initial recognition and the impairment
provision is determined based on the 12-month
expected credit loss. The loss allowance for other
financial assets at amortised cost as at 31 December
2024 is RMB109,000 (2023: RMB106,000).

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity management implies maintaining sufficient
cash and cash equivalents and the availability of funding
through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities
and takes into account all available information on future
business environment.

The Group’s primary cash requirements have been for
additions of property, plant and equipment, purchase of
inventories, settlement of lease liabilities, payment for trade
and other payables and payment for operating expenses.
The Group mainly finances its working capital requirements
through a combination of internal resources and bank
borrowings, as necessary.
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(c)

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

HEE LR (& (c) Liquidity risk (continued)
AEBNBKRECHERErKTE The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
,HHE’\Ju@ﬂﬁﬁ?ﬁkuﬁgﬁ%nﬁhﬁg’] expected liquidity requirements to ensure it maintains
BERRASEBYURBHTEN sufficient cash and cash equivalents and adequate amount of
EXREGEEMRE LX;%'EE?EEHH&% committed credit facilities to meet its liquidity requirements in
B REBESE the short and long term.
TRV REREEHESLOTIHN The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into
H BY F &5 1A R A~ & B 48 R I HA 48 relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period
HEmaEs e TRIFENESE at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date.
AERAERABELHEIHRER The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
HetENENFEMRRERE 8 undiscounted cash flows, including interest payments
EERESAFETENR B computed using contractual rates, based on the earliest date
on which the Group can be required to pay.
—ER man
BER —F£ERE ZEERE REne RERE
Within Between Between Total
1 year or on 1and2 3and5 contractual Carrying
demand years years  cash flows amount
ANEEFT ANRBEFT ANREFT AEEFT ARETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ETHEEREEaEZ Contractual maturities of
ELEEE financial liabilities and lease
liabilities
RZZEZME+ZHF=+—H At 31 December 2024
EEEMRE Trade payables 170,711 - - 170,711 170,711
et & R At fE (28 Accruals and other payables 13,843 - - 13,843 13,843
HEARE Lease liabilities 4,308 3,462 1,863 9,633 9,136
188,862 3,462 1,863 194,187 193,690
RZZZ=F+"HA=+—H At 31 December 2023
EEEMNIRE Trade payables 109,696 - - 109,696 109,696
st ERREMETIE Accruals and other payables 14,464 - - 14,464 14,464
AEEE Lease liabilities 3,189 2,632 - 5,821 5,650
127,349 2,632 - 129,981 129,810
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2

Fair value estimation

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value
as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 by level of inputs to valuation
techniques used to measure fair value. Such inputs are categorised
into three levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

Level 1:

Level 2:

Level 3:

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active
markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and equity
securities) is based on quoted market prices at the end
of the reporting period. The quoted market price used
for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid
price. The quoted market price already incorporates
the market’s assumptions with respect to changes
in economic climate such as rising interest rates and
inflation, as well as changes due to ESG risk. These
instruments are included in level 1.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded
in an active market (for example, over-the-counter
derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques
which maximise the use of observable market data and
rely as little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If all
significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are
observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market data, the instrument is included in
level 3. This is the case for unlisted equity securities and
for instruments where ESG risk gives rise to a significant
unobservable adjustment.
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3 HBEAKEIRw 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueaq)
3.2 QXRFEEM #E) 3.2 Fair value estimation (continued)
BH&=
Level 3
—E_NE —ET =4
2024 2023
ABBFT ANEBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
RIE-_NF+-B=+—H At 31 December 2024
BATENABRZEREE Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
—JFEmRAE - Unlisted equity securities 30,503 46,307
—JELEHES - Unlisted fund 29,936 30,301
60,439 76,608
FRN BR— BR-EER=EEE There were no transfer between level 1, 2 and 3 for recurring fair
MATENtEMEER (CE =4 value measurements during the year (2023: Nil).
) o
RZE_NER_ZZ_=Z=H+2"AH Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of the Group
—t+—H AERERATESFABREZE were valued as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 with reference to
MEENDSEMGEANEET G the market approach and asset approach.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2

Fair value estimation (continued)

(a) Financial instruments in level 3

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded
in an active market is determined by using valuation
techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of
observable market data where it is available and rely as little
as possible on entity specific estimates. If one or more of the
significant inputs is not based on observable market data,

the instrument is included in level 3.

The following table presents the changes in level 3
instruments for the years ended 31 December 2024 and

—THZ®E): 2023.
—EWE B =4F
2023
AEBBFT ANEETFT
RMB’000
W—HB—H As 1 January 74,560
NFE (BB = Fair value (losses)/gains 964
fEREZRE Exchange difference 1,084
Bn+ZBA=+—H As 31 December 76,608
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3 MBREERE 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 QXRFEEM #E) 3.2 Fair value estimation (continued)

(a) HEER=ZAHLTHIA (& (a) Financial instruments in level 3 (continued)
TREBMER =ANLAFEFEFMA The following table summarises the quantitative information
HNEAFEERHABBZEEE about the significant unobservable inputs used in level 3 fair
# value measurements:

R-ZB-_ME R_E-=F
+ZA=+-H +ZE=+-H FRRBAYE
it HATE WATE  GEFE FRZHAKE HAFEMMG
Relationship of
Fair value at Fair value at unobservable
31 December 31 December Unobservable inputs to
Description 2024 2023 Valuation technique input fair value
ANEEFT NEEFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
ELmEAES 30,503 46,307 2EMHL FRAUELRARDN CEBERUTE CEEERUTE
CEEERUBABENES LERAAUALH LRATUAREH
HEM-—BREZGHEANE MEH - WEHEO AT
NETREDN (CTZ=F: Eds

SETNELBRNABATRS
RAELERATANHELS)

Unlisted equity Reference to market approach Movement The higher
securities with calibration analysis from of enterprise the movement
latest financing round to value divide by of enterprise

valuation date using movement  revenue multiples value divide by

of enterprise value divide by of comparable revenue multiples

revenue multiples of comparable companies of comparable

companies (2023: Reference to companies, the

comparable recent arm’s length higher the fair value

transactions and movement
of market capitalisation of
comparable companies

FLmEE 29,936 30,301  BEFE WH)) TEH TER
Unlisted fund Net asset value (Note (j) N/A N/A
60,439 76,608
(i) AEBEEENRRSHAR IFL (i) The Group has determined that the reported net assets value
METRENEREEEFHEA approximates fair value of the unlisted fund investment at the
NEEBE - end of the reporting period.
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RZE_NER_TE_=ZF+2A1
=t+—H AEERERBEEFEMRRT

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Fair value estimation (continued)

(b) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities measured

at amortised costs

The carrying amounts of the Group’s current financial
assets, including cash and cash equivalents, trade and
lease receivables and contract assets, deposits and other
receivables, and the Group’s current financial liabilities
including trade payables, accruals and other payables and
lease liabilities, approximate their fair values due to their
short maturities. The carrying amounts of non-current trade
and lease receivables, rental deposits and lease liabilities
approximate their fair values which are estimated based on

the discounted cash flows.

(c) Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

The Group has no financial assets and financial liabilities,
which is subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting

arrangements and similar agreements.

3.3 Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to ensure optimal capital structure and shareholder
returns, taking into consideration the future capital requirements
of the Group and capital efficiency, prevailing and projected
profitability, projected operating cash flows, projected capital
expenditures and projected strategic investment opportunities.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payments to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders, issue new shares or obtain new bank borrowings.

The Group also monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.
This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net
debt is calculated as total borrowings (including current and non-
current borrowings as shown in the consolidated balance sheet)
less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as
“equity”, as shown in the consolidated balance sheet, plus net

debt.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group was at net cash

position.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS

Estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical

experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that

are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The

resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related

actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk

of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and

liabilities within the next financial year are addressed below.

(a)

(b)

Expected credit loss of trade and lease receivables and
contract assets

The Group makes loss allowance for trade and lease receivables
and contract assets based on assumptions about risk of default
and expected credit loss rates. The Group uses judgement
in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the
impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing
market conditions as well as forward looking estimates. Details of
the key assumptions and inputs used are disclosed in the tables in
Note 3.1(b)(ii).

Revenue recognition of rendering of services for L.T.
Projects

The Group recognises certain revenue on the rendering of services
by reference to the percentage of completion of the contract
activity at the end of the reporting period, when the outcome of a
contract can be estimated reliably. The percentage of completion
is measured by reference to the proportion that contract costs
incurred for work performed to date compared to the estimated
total contract costs to be incurred under the transaction, or the
value of services performed to date as a percentage of the value
of total services to be performed under the transaction. Significant
assumptions such as the total budgeted staff costs, are required
to estimate the total contract costs and/or the percentage of
completion. The estimates are made based on past experience and
knowledge of management.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Income tax and deferred income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in the jurisdictions where
its subsidiaries operate. Significant judgement is required in
determining provisions for income taxes. There are certain
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for
anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the current and deferred income tax
assets and liabilities in the period in which such determination is
made.

The Group is also exposed to other taxes and duties. Significant
judgement is required in determining these provisions. Where the
final outcomes of these matters differ from the actual results, such
difference will impact the provisions made and the earnings stated
in the consolidated income statement.

Estimation of the fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

The fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss that are not traded in an active market is determined using
valuation techniques. The Group uses its judgement to select a
variety of methods and make assumptions that are mainly based on
market conditions existing at the end of each reporting period. For
details of the key assumptions used and the impact of changes to
these assumptions (Note 3.2(a)).

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, less estimated selling expenses.
These estimates are based on the current market condition and
the historical experience of selling products of similar nature. It
could change significantly as a result of changes in customer
taste and competitor actions in response to severe industry cycle.
Management reassesses these estimates at each reporting date.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASS UMPTI O N S (continued)

(f)

Impairment of non-financial assets
Non-financial assets, including intangible assets, property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets and investments in associates
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be fully
recoverable. The recoverable amounts are determined based
on the higher of fair value less costs of disposal or value in use
calculations. The recoverable amount calculations primarily use
cash flow forecast based on financial budgets and forecasts
approved by management and the estimated terminal value at the
end of the forecast period.

There are a number of assumptions and estimates involved in the
preparation of cash flow forecast for the period covered by the
approved budgets. Key assumptions include the growth rates and
discount rates to reflect the risks involved. Management prepares
the financial budgets and forecasts reflecting actual and prior year
performance and market development expectations. Judgement
is required to determine key assumptions adopted in cash flow
forecasts and changes to key assumptions could affect these cash
flow forecasts and therefore the results of the impairment review.
For details, see Note 15 and 16 for the impairment assessment for
intangible assets and investments in associates, respectively.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision maker has been identified as the executive
directors (collectively referred to as the “Chief Operation Decision
Maker” or “CODM”) that make strategic decisions. The CODM reviews
the internal reporting of the Company and its subsidiaries in order
to assess performance and allocate resources. Management has
determined the operating segment based on the Group’s development
plan and the internal reporting provided to the CODM.

To be consistent with the reposition strategy of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024 and to align the segment presentation in
the internal reports provided to the CODM, management determined
to change its operating segment presentation into the two operating
segments as follows:

1. Digital Industry Business
- The provision of smart manufacturing solutions and services
to improve the effectiveness and efficiency of production

lines, plant facilities and the management of industrial parks.

2. Digital Life Business

The provision of sourcing and distribution of branded smart
office equipment; and

The provision of digital retail signage and other solutions.

The comparative figures for the year ended 31 December 2023 have
been restated to conform with the current year’s presentation.

Each of the Group’s operating segments represents a strategic business
unit that is managed by the respective business unit leaders. CODM
assesses the performance of the operating segments based on a
measure of loss before income tax. Other information provided to the
CODM is measured in a manner consistent with that in the consolidated
financial statements.

Assets of reportable segments exclude corporate assets (mainly including
corporate cash and cash equivalents, property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, tax recoverable, prepayments and other receivables,
investments in associates, financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss and deferred income tax assets), all of which are managed on
a central basis. Liabilities of reportable segments exclude corporate
liabilities (mainly including lease liabilities, accruals, other payables,
deferred income tax liabilities and tax payables). These are part of the
reconciliation to total balance sheet assets and liabilities.
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WARDEBER @

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

BE_S-_ME+ZA=+—HLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

HFTEERE HFEEER et
Digital Digital
Industry Life
Business Business Total
AREFT AREFT ANREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
WA (Hizta) Revenue (Note a) 325,232 233,707 558,939
ERAWZEE Results of reportable segments 18,800 9,056 27,856
SRV XBRFEHEZ A reconciliation of results of reportable
HERMT - segments to loss for the year is as
follows:
EWRABzEE Results of reportable segments 27,856
RAEWA S (B (#fatp) Unallocated income/(expenses) (Note b) (40,299)
FEBR Loss for the year (12,443)
Hty &N Other segment information:
BEAMTH Capital expenditures 2,319 8,846 11,165
ME BB RREITE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 2,826 814 3,640
FRESENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 306 1,470 1,776
B EE Amortisation of intangible assets 446 600 1,046
B EERERE Impairment loss on intangible assets - 2,325 2,325
SREEERR (BR) /EE (Reversal of)/provision for loss
allowance for financial assets (1,648) 886 (762)
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5 WARDHBER @ 5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

BE_ZT_=F+°"RA=+t—HLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

(E7))
(Restated)
MFTHEYE HFLETER 1t
Digital Digital
Industry Life
Business Business Total
ANEEFT ANBEFT ANBEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
WA (Htzta) Revenue (Note a) 406,549 271,328 677,877
ERPBzEE Results of reportable segments 41,126 (26,877) 14,249
SRNAWPEEEREEHEIBHWIRMT . A reconciliation of results of reportable
segments to loss for the year is as
follows:
ERAB2ERE Results of reportable segments 14,249
KAERWA S F8) (Hfatn) Unallocated income/(expenses) (Note b) (31,080)
FEBRE Loss for the year (16,831)
HtyHER Other segment information:
BEAMTH Capital expenditures 549 942 1,491
ME- - BBRRREITE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 3,042 312 3,354
FREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 4,973 1,042 6,015
B EERH Amortisation of intangible assets 655 2,626 3,281
B EERERE Impairment loss on intangible assets - 10,634 10,634
SRS ERE BRE) G (Reversal of)/provision for loss
allowance for financial assets 7 (1,529) (1,522)
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5 WAKRDEER @ 5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)
Wizt Note:
(a) SDFEEBREHZWA (a) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

REML TS EEERGEE R R EER
BHEEERERMRBEERA

The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods and services over time
and at a point in time in the following major product lines:

BE_ZE_NE+-HA=+—HLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

BFT ¥R BFETER st
Digital Digital
Industry Life
Business Business Total
ARETFT ARETFT ARBETFT
I A FESE 2 B R Timing of revenue recognition RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
H#REE I. T. projects
— B S — At a point of time 142,698 69,094 211,792
— BEE R — Over time 114,231 5,489 119,720
B R EHREE Maintenance and consulting services
—BEERR — Over time 50,214 1,089 51,303
HEGM Sales of goods
— A EE R RS - At a point of time 15,729 158,035 173,764
FEAEKRA Finance lease income 178 - 178
RERERA (47:2) Operating lease income (Note) 2,182 = 2,182
325,232 233,707 558,939

HE_ZS_=ZF+"_B=+—HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

(2%
(Restated)
HFTEER HFLFEED Mt
Digital Digital
Industry Life
Business Business Total
NEETFT ANEWETFT ANEWETFT
I ARESR Z B Timing of revenue recognition RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
H#REE I. T. projects
— A B R B — At a point of time 162,301 29,098 191,399
—BEERRE - Over time 118,927 4,571 123,498
B R EHREE Maintenance and consulting services
—BEERRE — Over time 109,655 33 109,688
HEGM Sales of goods
— R EE R RS - At a point of time 12,653 237,626 250,279
FEAEKRA Finance lease income 297 - 297
RERERA (47:2) Operating lease income (Note) 2,716 - 2,716
406,549 271,328 677,877

EHER IR AR AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited



B R RN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5

WABRDEHBER @

Mzt (#)

(a)

DIFATFENZRA (B

KERBERARTEHRAZTREERARSERE
TEBERAMEBEEREERELNI
Ao

BHBUER D ZWMADRRBRERZNZ
BERMEE RERFAEMES INTF WA
BAK)in 1NN

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Note: (continued)

(a)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Note:

Operating lease income represents the income mainly generated from leasing
of servers, and operating the automated systems, to its customers by
charging a fixed monthly rental charge.

Revenue by geographical location is determined by the destination where the
services and products were delivered. Revenue from customers on the basis
of customers’ locations is analysed as follows:

—ENE TECZF

2024 2023

ARETFT ANEETT

RMB’000 RMB’000

i The PRC 271,769 315,892
BN Europe 81,768 108,508
ag Taiwan 62,625 73,324
ESET The United States 53,019 63,603
FTI03E Singapore 38,940 52,776
HiEx Other countries 50,818 63,774
558,939 677,877

HEZZ_NWE+ZA=+—HIFE &
HE -—RBEIZRXBELEMMAERLKRAI0%
FULHRA(CEZ=F: KAHARIE
91,564,000Tc K BE—F 5 hAEBBUA
14%) cHE_ZT_MNE+_B=+—HIF
B oHAEEAATL ZIHEMBEGEAREERLS
WWAKI27% (B =4F : 37%) °

HE_Z_ME+"_B=+—BHLEEE KA
# AR 238,433,000t (ZZT =4 : ARK
335,241,0007T) RERAEA TR EEETER
DERABREEEAT  (LAEBELLKAL3%
(CEZ =51 49%)

For the year ended 31 December 2024, no revenue was derived from
transactions with a single customer representing 10% or more of the Group’s
revenue (2023: revenue of approximately RMB91,564,000, representing 14%
of the Group’s total revenue, is derived from a single customer). For the year
ended 31 December 2024, sales to the five largest customers of the Group
in total accounted for approximately 27% (2023: 37%) of the Group’s total
revenue.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, revenue of approximately
RMB238,433,000 (2023: RMB335,241,000), representing 43% (2023: 49%)
of the Group’s total revenue, is derived from related parties, Hon Hai Precision
Industry Company Limited and its group companies.
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WABRDEBER @

Htet -

(b)

&

KARBA X TBROERCEEEESE
BB e BRI (B518) BHE RAT
Bt ABEZEMEEZATE (B18) id
FEORBEBACEEERANRA - ME HER
RBITE - ERAREERE - DEBMERT X
B RE-BBMEQARNZREBIE EREREE
BR ERAXREMEERS -

BENP2 FERAFEBBEEHROT

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)
Note: (continued)

(b) Unallocated income/(expenses) mainly include government subsidies, net
exchange gains/(losses), fair value (losses)/gains on financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss, net, finance income, employment benefit
expenses, depreciation of property, plant and equipment, depreciation of right-
of-use assets, share of results of associates, impairment loss on investment
in an associate, legal and professional fees, income tax expense and other
operating expenses incurred at corporate level.

A reconciliation of operating segments’ results to total loss for the year is provided as

follows:

—ENE TR =F
2024 2023
AREFT ANEBBTFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
DEBEE Segment results 27,856 14,249
KAMBA S (FI%) - Unallocated income/(expenses):
—BUF 8D — Government subsidies 1,252 1,870
—RRE IR A - Finance income 2,442 1,842
—RBATEFABRZEREEZ — Fair value (losses)/gains on financial assets
NFE (FBER) /W FE at fair value through profit or loss, net (17,087) 964
—ERm (B518) $58 - Net exchange gains/(losses) 1,265 (214)
—DMEBERT ZEE - Share of results of associates (22) (4,730)
—RE—HBE T2 HERBIE — Impairment loss on investment in an associate = (2,019)
—MEEBRRBINE — Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (130) (96)
—EREEEINE - Depreciation of right-of-use assets (3,285) (2,874)
—rEREEER - Legal and professional fees (2,174) (2,391)
—EEEABEXZ - Employment benefit expenses (12,849) (14,437)
—IZ BB = — Auditors’ remuneration (1,858) (2,562)
—FriSMx — Income tax expense (3,382) (2,636)
—Hth — Others (4,471) 3,797)
FEBIE Loss for the year (12,443) (16,831)

BE_S_MF+_A=+—HLEFE FIEELRNEX

Ty RERE GERERE (CE=F  PE-
XE) -

0/

EZEHN R B R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited

During the year ended 31 December 2024, all capital expenditure were incurred in the
PRC, Taiwan and Vietnam (2023: the PRC, Taiwan and the United States).
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5 WARDHBER @ 5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continueq)

RZIE-MNFE+-ZA=+—H
As at 31 December 2024

T TEER BTHETER st
Digital Digital
Industry Life
Business Business Total
ABEFT ABEFT AEBEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
IREE Segment assets
DEEE Segment assets 205,407 176,510 381,917
HEtRDEEE (Hfzta) Other unallocated assets (Note a) 272,273
EHEERRRNEEE Total assets per consolidated
balance sheet 654,190
SBaE Segment liabilities
nHBEE Segment liabilities 94,576 101,462 196,038
HitkDE&E (D) Other unallocated liabilities (Note b) 33,239
EHEERRRNEER Total liabilities per consolidated
balance sheet 229,277
R_B_=F+"F=+—H
As at 31 December 2023
(E7)
(Restated)
HFTEER HFEEER “ast
Digital Digital
Industry Life
Business Business Total
ARBEFT ARBEFT ANEEBTFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
SHEE Segment assets
DWEE Segment assets 188,496 146,940 335,436
HM kDB EE Wita) Other unallocated assets (Note a) 284,687
EHEERERNEEE Total assets per consolidated
balance sheet 620,123
baR: =R Segment liabilities
pa =R Segment liabilities 72,526 61,885 134,411
HEtkDEEBE WD) Other unallocated liabilities (Note b) 49,261
EHBEEARRNEERE Total liabilities per consolidated
balance sheet 183,672
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WARDEBER =

Htet -

(@)

RIZ_MER-_F-_=F+-B=+—8"
HiR N REETZAEQARNEBAZRERER
TEEY ME - BBRRFB EHREE T
W 1A TE ~ TR TR K B R UGR IR ~ i AT E
ARG EREE - REHE QT URIEIE
FRISIREE -

RENMz EELQEEHRNT ¢

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Notes:

(@)

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, other unallocated assets mainly included
cash and cash equivalents, property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
tax recoverable, prepayments and other receivables, financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, investments in associates and deferred income tax
assets for corporate usage.

Operating segments’ assets are reconciled to total assets as follows:

—E-mE —E2T=HF

2024 2023

AREFT ANEBTFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

ERNMWZNBEE Segment assets for reportable segments 381,917 335,436

FPEEE Unallocated assets

—REeERREEEY - Cash and cash equivalents 186,288 189,756

— W) ISR — Property, plant and equipment 1,648 1,102

—EAREE - Right-of-use assets 7,469 2,886

— AT RRIE K E A FE IR - Prepayments and other receivables 8,811 6,619

— A [E R I8 - Tax recoverable 456 -

—REHERE - Investments in associates 348 399
—RBAFEFABRZERMEE - Financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss 60,439 76,608

—RIEFTIRNEE — Deferred income tax assets 6,814 7,317

EHEESBERNEEE Total assets per consolidated balance sheet 654,190 620,123

ER - RKDBEERNTENE BERRES
AR #866,0007t (ZEZ =4 : AR%41,000
7o) ©

AR CMER-—F=F+"RB=+—8"
FEBMZRPLOIERBEEMUN FE > MEAM
BlUREHE - a8 - ZERER (T2 -_=ZF
FEMRPE HMUNES 28 xkER -

During the year, the addition to property, plant and equipment in unallocated
assets was RMB866,000 (2023: RMB41,000).

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, majority of the Group’s non-current assets
were located in the PRC with others located in Hong Kong, Taiwan, the United
States and Vietnam (2023: mainly in the PRC with others located in Hong
Kong, Taiwan and the United States).

EZEHN R B R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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st (&

(o)

5.1

RIZ-_MFER-FZ_=ZF+"B=+—8"
Hth A D EEEIZQAEADERAZETE
A HMEMRE BEaE BEMSRER
R eI IE -

KENHz aBERBEENRNT

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(o)

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, other unallocated liabilities mainly
included accruals, other payables, lease liabilities, deferred income tax
liabilities and tax payables for corporate usage.

Operating segments’ liabilities are reconciled to total liabilities as follows:

ZEZMNE ==
2024 2023
AREFT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
2RPWMWZNEEE Segment liabilities for reportable segments 196,038 134,411
RPEEE Unallocated liabilities
—EstE R R EMEAIE — Accruals and other payables 18,449 35,858
—fHEaE - Lease liabilities 7,161 2,680
—FENRIE - Tax payables 6,120 8,043
—RIEFTISIRAE - Deferred income tax liabilities 1,509 2,680
EHEESBERNESRE Total liabilities per consolidated balance sheet 229,277 183,672
Bt R Z AR 5.1 Accounting policies of revenue recognition

WAZBWSERREZATENE R
®E Mt EREIRE M - WA TEI R
T RENEEREIR  AEBEH T
FERSEStBURA 28 BRI A RIREHK
FERABBUREERUATEEER
O EMRARSEIIUA -

(a HEER

AEBREHEEARREES
BIEEIARMAMRE  BrE-
Mondopads ~ B i R 8 > &
Hfth ¥ B 48 2 G o ' B R B0 2RI
ERF (MERERNFER &
FHEGNEEREREBRAERY
Mg BB BT R BNE
SR RBITERRE) (HEERE
B - BERMDEXINETME
EnREREANRAREEREE
BE RBEERRBIEESNEBEMNE
G MR B AW AAER
BEEBIEEBMAREMIEENSD
B RTBIE TR ©

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable, and represents amounts receivable for goods
supplied, stated net of discounts, returns and value added taxes.
The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can
be reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the entity; and when specific criteria have been
met for each of the Group’s activities, as described below.

(a)

Sales of goods

The Group engages in sales of I.T products including but
not limited to servers, monitors, Mondopads, computer
hardwares and softwares, and other loT products. Sales of
goods are recognised when the control of the products has
transferred, being when the products are delivered to the
customer, the customer has full discretion over the channel
and price to sell the products, and there is no unfulfilled
obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of
the products. Delivery occurs when the products have been
shipped to the specified location, the risks of obsolescence
and loss have been transferred to the customer, and either
the customer has accepted the products in accordance with
the sales contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed,
or the Group has objective evidence that all criteria for
acceptance have been satisfied.
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5.1
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(a)

(b)

HERdm (&)

FEUW BRI B R B R0 o 1L
EREFASERTE REZER
H—BEERARNBRESEIHN-
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EREMRERERZWATIRE S
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£ BIanss E 58 1 5B RTS  A8
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5

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

5.1

Accounting policies of revenue recognition (continued)

(a)

(b)

EZEHN R B R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited

Sales of goods (continued)

Accounts receivable is recognised when the goods are
delivered, this is the point in time that the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage of time is required
before the payment is due.

I.T. Project

Revenues from |.T. Project are generated from providing
services for development of tailor-made software, platform
and related hardware in smart manufacturing and other loT
applications. The revenue is recognised based on the actual
service provided to the end of the reporting period as a
proportion of the total services to be provided because the
customer receives and uses the benefits simultaneously. This
is determined based on the actual labour hours spent relative
to the total expected labour hours.

The revenue of rendering of services comprises the
agreed contract amount. Some contracts include multiple
performance obligations, such as the sale of hardware,
consultation services and related installation services. Where
the contracts include multiple performance obligations, the
transaction price will be allocated to each performance
obligation based on the stand-alone selling prices. Where
these are not directly observable, they are estimated
based on expected cost plus margin. If contracts include
the installation of hardware, revenue for the hardware is
recognised at a point in time when the hardware is delivered,
the legal title has passed and the customer has accepted the
hardware.

Estimates of revenues, costs or extent of progress toward
completion are revised if circumstances change. Any
resulting increases or decreases in estimated revenues or
costs are reflected in profit or loss in the period in which the
circumstances that give rise to the revision become known
by management.
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HENBIERH WARDREE
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AEIEREHRES

HEE R EARB WA TR R L
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5

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

5.1

Accounting policies of revenue recognition (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

I.T. Project (continued)

In case of fixed-price contracts, the customer pays the
fixed amount based on a payment schedule. If the services
rendered by the Group exceed the payment, a contract asset
is recognised. If the payments exceed the services rendered,
a contract liability is recognised.

If the contract includes an hourly fee, revenue is recognised
in the amount to which the Group has a right to invoice.
Customers are invoiced on a monthly basis or according to
agreed payment terms and consideration is payable when
invoiced.

Maintenance and consulting services

Revenues from maintenance and consulting services are
recognised on a time proportion basis over the period of the
contract or when the relevant services have been rendered,
as appropriate.

Finance and operating lease income

The revenue recognition for the lease income under finance
and operating leases are stated in Note 36.18.

Financing components

For contracts where the period between the transfer of the
promised goods or services to customers and payment by
the customers exceeds one year, the transaction prices were
adjusted for the time value of money. For the sales with credit
terms ranging from 30 to 90 days, no element of financing is
deemed present, which is consistent with market practice.
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6 HthhAKRHEMUKZE (B58)> 6 OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS/

‘B2 (LOSSES), NET

—E_ME TE=F
2024 2023
ABBFT ANEBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BT B Government subsidies 1,252 1,870
Hih Others 540 708
HAs A Other income 1,792 2,578

HEME EBIRREBZWE Gain on disposal of property, plant and
equipment 129 -
PER U, (B518) F38 Net exchange gains/(losses) 2,544 (214)
Efth Others 972 (60)
Hihzm, (B518) > $ 48 Other gains/(losses), net 3,645 (274)

130 EZEHN R B R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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7 BEBIDZAX 7 EXPENSES BY NATURE
—E-mE 2=
2024 2023
ARHEFT ANEHEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BERRSEEEZEHRRERARIEE Costs of hardware and software for I.T. projects
ISR DN and cost of goods sold 436,606 480,771
BEEGHNHZ (BEEEME) Employment benefit expenses (including
(H13%8) directors’ emoluments) (Note 8) 79,465 133,582
SNEIER Sub-contracting fee 311 790
MEWIBRBREBINE W5£13) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
(Note 13) 3,770 3,450
EREEEITE H1at14) Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 14) 5,061 8,889
MG ERRM A (Hat14) Expenses relating to short term leases (Note 14) 194 98
RBERZ Travelling expenses 4,324 5,737
FRREEER Legal and professional fees 3,525 3,159
BHE Consultancy fees 11,863 18,128
WAERT Office expenses 2,873 3,215
ELEESE HE15) Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 15) 1,046 3,281
1ZELEM Bl & Auditors’ remuneration
—BIZART - Audit services 1,858 2,562
FERE (BE) #E HiE18) (Reversal of)/provision for impairment
of inventories (Note 18) (3,276) 4,846
EEHX Advertising expenses 800 1,230
MIRREERXS Logistic and warehouse expenses 2,935 4,525
Hihpaz Other expenses 5,579 6,852
556,934 681,115
BRARR Representing:
& A Cost of sales 470,998 581,098
HERKHMAS Selling and distribution expenses 34,281 37,163
— MR RITHAEX General and administrative expenses 48,164 53,837
EER Research and development expenses 3,491 9,017
556,934 681,115
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EEEFAMAX 8 EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT EXPENSES
BEEEMEzBRESMBEIZNT ! Employment benefit expenses, including directors’ emoluments, consist
of:
—E_ME TE=F
2024 2023
ABBFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
e TEREM Wages, salaries and allowances 60,145 100,324
BTESKEBZERE Share options granted to directors and
employees - 948
TE4T Bonus 7,457 11,149
BIRERA—EBERTE Pension costs — defined contribution plans 3,172 6,690
BRI R E AF = Welfare and other benefits 8,691 14,471
79,465 133,582
MEWA—FE 9 FINANCE INCOME - NET
ZEZMNE —Z2=F
2024 2023
ARBEFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FE WA Finance income
RITEMFEWA Interest income from bank deposits 2,442 1,842
R E R A Finance cost
HEaG SR Wat14) Interest expenses for lease liabilities (Note 74) (273) (206)
ERLE A Net finance income 2,169 1,636

EZEHN R B R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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10 FRriGMBEX 10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

KABIEEREERENEBE - FSENESRLIR The Company is exempted from taxation in Bermuda. Hong Kong profits
BESAELER RESTEBEZMAEREREF tax has been provided for at the rate of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) on the
116.5% (CE =4 :16.5%) 2 M RIg&HK*#E estimated assessable profits arising in or derived from Hong Kong. Group
B-BHE_Z_NFE+ZA=+—HILEFE" companies established and operating in the PRC, Taiwan, the United
FE8E - EEABERIREEZEB AT States and Vietnam are subject to corporate income tax at the rate of
BN EEMSHREIDF525% 20% K& 25%, 20%, 30% and 20% (2023: 25%, 20%, 30% and Nil) respectively,
30%5220% (ZE =4 : 25%~20% 30% & for year ended 31 December 2024, except for those specified in below.

) LU ETBRERRSN

RESMEMCERNBEERER EPmME Two of the subsidiaries in the PRC were approved by the relevant
FEFABIEMERAMSRBREMLE B2 local tax bureaus under the preferential tax policy for the high and new
CEEESChEZEERECEMERRAE technology enterprises, and were entitled to a preferential corporate
15% ° income tax rate of 15% from 2023 until 2025.
—E-MNE B =4F
2024 2023
ARHEFT ANEHEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EHRIE Current taxation
—REE — Current year 3,890 4,102
—REFTFEERETSR — Under provision in prior year 248 839
4,138 4,941
EIEFTB M (1523) Deferred income tax expenses (Note 23) (756) (2,305)
3,382 2,636
HRAEBRS&E_S-_MF+_-_A=+—H81: As the Group'’s total revenue is less than EUR 750million for the year
FENERAGRKRISOBEERN T BAEER ended 31 December 2024 and all entities within the Group have an
FMEERNERRIEBIR15%  FILL R effective tax rate that exceeds 15%, the Group has no related current or
OECDX /&R Al » A& B A5 B BD HA 3¢ deferred tax exposure under OECD Pillar Two model rules.
IEIER T BB o
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FrisiRE>Z @

FEBMBRENABEZNE BRAEAR
BHERBREZMETHREIMELE Z BRI
BZEFTMT :

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The taxation on the Group’s loss before income tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average tax rate
applicable to loss of the consolidated entities as follows:

—ETmE —Z2=F
2024 2023
AREFT ANEBEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FRPT1STRATES 18 Loss before income tax (9,061) (14,195)
BERARERAE AR RN 2 Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable
EMREFEZRE to profits in the respective jurisdiction (3,123) (5,661)
BEZFRZ WA Income not subject to tax (118) (182)
ARz ZH Expenses not deductible 1,689 5,366
RENHMEQATES Tax effects of associates’ results reported, net of
NRBEE (RIRE) tax - 1,182
W SRIEFT SR 2 Other temporary differences for which no
HmE R MER deferred income tax were recognised (426) (14)
HRIFFER SR ERNIRIERIEE E Derecognition of previously recognised deferred
tax asset 3,544 1433
HRBEERERRD 2 Recognition of temporary difference previously
B R ERE not recognised - 953
TEERIRLEREREEZ Tax losses for which no deferred income tax
MRIER B assets were recognised 2,302 871
RBFFERERRE Under provision for previous year 248 839
MBEES Tax incentives (734) (2,151)
SRRz Income tax expense 3,382 2,636

EIEFFSREENRBEERBEERRT  UA
AREEBARKERR B EIREERNEHNES
ReR _—_E_ME+_B=+—H > x"&EET
ERREBPEAERFAEDREFBEBARE
36,245,00070 (Z2 =4 : AR 120,996,000
7o) BRIRIEFT SN E E AR 5,451,000 (=
T =4 ARM3,149,0007T) b5 kBB
BHEEIMHRERFRUAGEE FETAF
NIRBEBEBENR S _AEE _E_NEEH
(ZE_=ZF R Z_NEE_T_N\EH
BE®R  MEEFARNRESEIEEmH
Hfo

ETHRIEEREGEEEFRATAZRAEHBR
ZHEINMIBED B A5%R21% X B _UE
T+ A=+ RB UERETHEERAEFA
T ZAREHREF ARKIL,382,000 T (ZFE =
F: ANR#125,115,0007) R EN 23801
FIEIEFR SR I & & AR 17,332,000 (ZF
=4 : AR09,158,0007T) ' RRABZZEHIE
BRARBRE-

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-forwards
to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit through future
taxable profits is probable. As at 31 December 2024, the Group did
not recognise deferred income tax assets of RMB5,451,000 (2023:
RMB3,149,000) in respect of tax losses from PRC and US subsidiaries
amounting to RMB36,245,000 (2023: RMB20,996,000). These unutilized
tax losses can be carried forward against future taxable income. A PRC
subsidiary’s tax losses will expire within 2025 to 2029 (2023: expire
within 2024 to 2028) and US subsidiary’s tax losses are without expiry
date.

The withholding tax rate for unremitted earnings of certain subsidiaries
operated in PRC and Taiwan are 5% and 21%, respectively. As at
31 December 2024, deferred income tax liabilities of RMB7,332,000
(2023: RMB9,158,000) have not been recognised for withholding tax
that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of certain PRC and
Taiwan subsidiaries of RMB94,382,000 (2023: RMB125,115,000) as such
accounts will be reinvested.

EZEHN R B R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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10.1 SEAFRE MR T TR 10.1 ACCOUNTING POLICY FOR CURRENT

HARPFS M X SR Ris s B RN A R
BRZREZBRMSRIAENELRE
L R M = R R AR B AR A S R PR IEIR 1B
EENBREHFHHAE-

EHFRFR

EHFMSRAXNDEARRFARKERESE
ERRVWANBRNREAREETHAARE
ETNRES B - EEEEMTEMNBERRE
ERB TR BB RO IR B R AT EREUE I
WEBEBER T RERR N FRBEBIR
AREREGREEE

ERBAETRITEHDEHEERGR LK
&%@%E%%ﬁﬂﬁmﬁéé& fRAaRE
AT EMREEERREEEEARTE-

EHREER A B o T o 6 i B HE Ath
RGN ERTREEDNEEARM-TE
BERT E%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%fﬁ%ﬁé% i 5%
ERERmER

INCOME TAX

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on
the current period’s taxable income based on the applicable income tax
rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and
liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period in the
countries where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and generate
taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in
tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on
the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a
legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.
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11 EEFIERERZ [KEBEFH(2 11 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
B {761 ) (55622%) 553831F (DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION
(AE) (REBEEZEMmER) R 383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
,Jj ) (5622GE) REA LT ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES

|

%
e
&

(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HONG KONG LISTING

N
/

RULES)
(a) EEKREREITEHRASFHM (a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
HEZZNF+A=+—HILHFE> The remuneration of each of the directors of the Company for the
RNBEZESZFHMETMT : year ended 31 December 2024 is set out below:

HEAEEFARREFATESZEAARLHE
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

HEZEH
LYNGE
H¥ARIZER
EHZEMRS
BfifEfHH
Emoluments
paid or
receivable in
respect
of director's
HENES other
ETEHER BBfR services in
BENEES FEf &M connection
HhERZ Employer's  Remuneration with the
fE5t%E  contribution paidor  management
Estimated toa receivable of the affairs
BT ER2E money retirement in respect of ~of the Company
ik &  Discretionary Housing value of benefit accepting office or its subsidiary ELh S
ESf4 Name of Director Fees Salary bonuses allowance  other benefits scheme as director undertaking Total
ANEBFT AEEFT AEBFT AEBFT AEEFT AEBFT ANEBFT AEEFT ABBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB000
HES Executive directors
EEREE Mr. CHANG Chuan-Wang
() (Note ) 84 - - = = o - - 8
BERLE Mr. CHENG, Yee Pun - 1,256 215 - - 16 - - 1,487
st Sub-ota 8 1,256 215 - = 16 - - it
FHTER Non-executive directors
Kim Hyun Seok’z4 Mr. Kim Hyun Seok - - - - - - - - -
REVRALE (i) Mr. Chang Kuo-Chin (Note i} - = - o = - - - -
BIETRE (H) Mr. Kung Pel-Yuan (Note /i) = = > = = - - - -
BBEYL (W) Ms. Huang Pi-Chun (Note /i) - = = o - - - - -
B EHTESE  Independent non-executive
directors
BeAkE Mr. KAN Ji Ran Laurie 109 - - S = = = - 109
RERYE Prof. ZHANG Xiaoquan 109 = o - - - - - 109
HERRE Mr. Kam Chi Sing 109 - = = = - - - 109
g Sub-total 321 - - o o - - - 307
st Total 411 1,256 215 - - 16 - - 1,898
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11 EEFZRED (KEFHE(L 11 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

=
B {7 61) (55622%F) 553831F (DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION
(AE) (REBEEZHmER) R 383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
HI) (35622GE) REFEE LT ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
A EER) @ (DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT

BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HONG KONG LISTING
RULES) (continued)

(a) ESEKESITBASHMN &) (a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (continued)
HE_Z=_F+"HA=+—HLFE> The remuneration of each of the directors of the Company for the
RRNBEZEFZHMEHNOT ¢ year ended 31 December 2023 is set out below:

AEAREARATIHTATESZEAREAHE
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

HESEM
ENSE
HYREZER
EHZEMRS
ERREIHH
Emoluments paid
or

receivaple in
respect

of director's other
BIRHKERN HENES services in

SRR BUEAH connection
Htgfz Employer's FEfTEE with the
fEatEE contribution Remuneration management
Estimated toa paid or receivable of the affairs
BIEA EREH money retirement in respect of ~ of the Company
ik i Discretionary Housing value of benefit  accepting office  or its subsidiary fast
EEns Name of Director Fees Salary bonuses allowance other benefits scheme as director undertaking Total
NEEF NEEFT NE#FL NEEFT NEEFT NEEFL NEEFT NEEFT NEEFL
AMB 000 AMB'000 RMB'000 AMB 000 AMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 AMB'000 RMB 000
RTES Executive directors
BEWFKE (Wativ) Mr. CHIEN Yi-Pin (Note i) - - - - - - - - -
BhftkE Mr. CAI LiTing

(#iTR) (Chief Executive Officer)

(Hatv) (Note ) - - - - - - - - -
BRESLE (Watvi) Mr. KAO, Chao Yang (Note v) - - - - - _ _ _ _
BEREE Mr. CHENG, Yee Pun - 1,221 202 - - 16 - - 1,439
It Sub-total - 1,221 202 - - 16 - - 1,439
FHTES Non-executive directors
PARK Ho Jin% M. PARK Ho Jin (Note vi)

(istvii) - - - - - - - - -
Kim Hyun Seok?% 4 Mr. Kim Hyun Seok (Note vii)

(i) - - - - - - - - -
BIUERITES  Independent non-executive

directors
BRELE Mr. TANG Tin Lok, Stephen

(Hratx) (Note x) 81 - - - - - - - 81
BeARE Mr. KAN Ji Ran Laurie 108 - - - - - - - 108
RERHER Prof. ZHANG Xiaoquan 108 - - - - - - - 108
HEREE Mr. Kam Chi Sing

(Hytix) (Note ix) 28 - - - - - - - 28
1t Sub-total 325 - - - - - - - 325
st Total 325 1,221 202 - - 16 - - 1,764
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BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HONG KONG LISTING
RULES) (continued)

(a)

Note i:

Note ii:

Note iii:

Note iv:

Note v:

Note vi:

Note vii:

Note viii:

Note ix:

Note x:

EEER KR AR AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (continued)

Mr. CHANG Chuen-Wang was appointed as an executive director
on 26 March 2024.

Mr. CHANG Kuo-Chin was appointed as a non-executive director
on 21 August 2024.

Mr. KUNG Pei-Yuan and Mr. HUANG Pi-Chun were appointed as a
non-executive director on 26 March 2024. Mr. KUNG Pei-Yuan was
resigned as a non-executive director on 21 August 2024.

Mr. CHIEN Yi-Pin was resigned as an executive director on 26

March 2024.

Mr. CAl LiTing was resigned as an executive director on 26 March
2024.

Mr. KAO, Chao Yang was resigned as an executive director on 26
March 2024.

Mr. PARK Ho Jin was resigned as a non-executive director on 29
March 2023.

Mr. KIM Hyun Seok was appointed as a non-executive director on
29 March 2028.

Mr. KAM Chi Sing was appointed as an independent non-executive
director on 28 September 2023.

Mr. TANG Tin Lok, Stephen was resigned as an independent non-
executive director on 28 September 2023.
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11 EFFHRES (KES#HE(2 11 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
) E3831% (DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES

(b)

IamEHEMAL

FEBFNLGESHMA LR -5 (C
BT-ZF R RESF RZHFMNZ
INGERICVPA Yk

FREMGTEHS (CEZ=F:M42) A
TZHEEBIT -

ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HONG KONG LISTING

RU LES) (continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

One (2023: One) of the five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group for the year were directors whose emoluments
are reflected in the analysis presented in Note 11(a).

The emoluments payable to the remaining four (2023: four)
individuals during the year are as follows:

—E-mE B =
2024 2023
AEBBFT ANE¥EFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
e TERRE Wages, salaries and allowances 2,748 2,809
TE4T Bonus 1,336 1,232
BARET A Pension costs — defined contribution
—ERBHEETE plans 145 149
@A R HAF) &= Welfare and other benefits 285 352
4,514 4,542
BRTITATZHMEUTEERR : The emoluments of the remaining individuals fell within the following
bands:
AE
Number of individuals
o1t B 5 ==
2024 2023
AE#500,0017cE A B #1,000,0007T RMB500,001 to RMB1,000,000 2
AE%1,000,0017cE AR #1,500,00070 RMB1,000,001 to RMB1,500,000 2
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(c)

(d)

(e)

(f

EEZRAEN RBERA =

FRNBBREEREREARATIREFAT
T2 AR 75 M & W ER SRR U EBRAE ) 2R 1K 48
FBER A (TR =F 1 H) -

MERUESREMAETFE=ZAZNE

FR EARBDTERELABDERHBES
RBMAERNSE=ZFAENAE (CF

TZFE)

ERBREZ ZFEFZREFZEA
ERERZEHNERZER BUERK
Hhx B2 &8

RERFFREAERE > KA HERF
ZFRAE (MNER) TEITIERESE %
EREFER 2 EANBRBREERNES
ERMEBEZERZERER AUERKE
thZ (CEZ=F 1 H) -

BEENXB - HHASHPZERTE

RERBAFNEAGE AATDESHE
EARBZRIITAAEREBAR
BEARRG ZHREHTERRBEEESR
ERERFE (T2 Z=F 1 8 -

11 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HONG KONG LISTING
RULES) (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f

Directors’ retirement benefits and termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any retirement
benefits or termination benefits in respect of their services to the
Company and its subsidiaries for the year (2023 Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

During the year, the Company has not paid any consideration to
any third parties for making available directors’ services to the
Company (2023: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
controlled entities with such directors

There were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings entered into
by the Company or subsidiary undertaking of the Company, where
applicable, in favor of the directors, or body corporate controlled
by or entities connected with any of the directors at the end of the
year or at any time during the year (2023: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements
or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company was a party and in
which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year (2023: Nil).
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12 BkiEGiE

(a)

(b)

B

RERNBRENDBBEFANRREEAE
BEABGBERUBETEER (FEE
BFRM) INEFHIHTHE-

12 LOSS PER SHARE

(a)

Basic

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable
to equity holders of the Company by the weighted average number
of ordinary shares in issue excluding treasury shares, during the
year.

T mE =%
2024 2023
NABRERTFE AR Loss attributable to equity holders of the
BiE (AREFT) Company (RMB’000) (12,443) (16,831)
BEITEERMEFSH Weighted average number of ordinary shares in
(F1&) issue ("000) 701,543 701,543
SREXEE Basic loss per share
(95 HAZEN LB (rounded to RMB cents) (1.77) (2.40)
%8 (b) Diluted

SBREBEEENRAEEETEINEE
femiEF e LRKRAAEEEESE
RESBMtE - RBERERESE AT &
THROAEENBEEEEBR SE
EORATE (EEREABDRNESHMN
BEROHENTHE WENRMEE
EIREBERTEBREMMNEEENE
EESE - LA ENRNBEEEER
REREETEMIETHRNDEEME
fEge

BE_Z_NERE_=ZF+"A1
=+ —BLEFE AREBREAREEN
e eRBEBIREEGRENGR S
LEREIRIR

Diluted losses per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. Shares issuable
under the share option schemes are the only dilutive potential
ordinary shares. A calculation is made in order to determine the
number of shares that could have been acquired at fair value
(determined as the average daily quoted market share price
of the Company’s shares) based on the monetary value of the
subscription rights attached to the outstanding share options.
The number of shares calculated as above is compared with the
number of shares that would have been issued assuming the
exercise of the share options.

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, diluted loss per

share was of the same amount as the basic loss per share as the
share options were anti-dilutive.
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13 ME - KB R=BE

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

R EE
Bl HEMERE R e
Furniture,
Computer Leasehold fixtures and
equipment improvements equipment Total
AREFT AREFT AEBEFT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
NZE-WmE—HF—H At 1 January 2024
B Cost 40,244 4,519 14,822 59,585
REHTE Accumulated depreciation (34,414) (4,519) (14,161) (53,094)
IREEE Net book amount 5,830 - 661 6,491
BE_T”_ME+-HA=+—H Year ended 31 December 2024
LHEE
HRARRERE Opening net book amount 5,830 - 661 6,491
ERELR Exchange difference (36) (8) (75) (119)
hE Additions 10,378 745 908 12,031
HE Disposal (33) - (4) (37)
e (Hz7) Depreciation (Note 7) (3,638) (39) (93) (3,770)
HAARERERE Closing net book amount 12,501 698 1,397 14,596
RZE_ME+"HA=+—H At 31 December 2024
B A Cost 50,761 5,256 18,320 74,337
REtinE Accumulated depreciation (38,260) (4,558) (16,923) (59,741)
IREFE Net book amount 12,501 698 1,397 14,596
RZE-=f—H—H At 1 January 2023
B A Cost 38,736 4,519 14,775 58,030
REITE Accumulated depreciation (31,063) (4,501) (14,071) (49,635)
IREFE Net book amount 7,673 18 704 8,395
BE_ZT-=%+-HA=+—H Year ended 31 December 2023
LHEE
HYERmEE Opening net book amount 7,673 18 704 8,395
ERELE Exchange difference 13 - 1 14
nE Additions 1,485 - 47 1,632
e (Hat7) Depreciation (Note 7) (3,341) (18) (91) (3,450)
HAAREEFE Closing net book amount 5,830 - 661 6,491
RZEZ=%+"H=+—H At 31 December 2023
(DS Cost 40,244 4,519 14,822 59,585
REHinE Accumulated depreciation (34,414) (4,519) (14,161) (53,004)
IREFE Net book amount 5,830 - 661 6,491
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13 ME KB R=E @ 13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
Wizt Notes:
(a) FEREENTEREGHAERMOBGUT ¢ (a) Depreciation incurred during the year is charged to the consolidated income

statement as follows:

ZEImE TR
2024 2023
ARBFT ANEBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
SHE A Cost of sales 3,142 2,683
HE RAAHMAS Selling and distribution expenses 3 65
— MR AT General and administrative expenses 625 702
EE4RER Total depreciation 3,770 3,450
14 FHESEREEER 14 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES
(i) MNEHBEEABRTEIDIZEEE (i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet
EHEEAGERIITTIEMEEZS The consolidated balance sheet shows the following amounts
g relating to leases:
—EAE ==
2024 2023
AEBEFT ANEETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FHEEE Right-of-use assets
BN Computer equipment 3,052 3,480
YN Offices 8,801 5,692
RE Vehicles 425 224
12,278 9,396
HEaRE Lease liabilities
Vi) Current 4,146 3,082
JERE Non-current 4,990 2,568
9,136 5,650
FAABEFERAEEEAAREKT?,575,000 Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year were
7T (ZEZ=F AK¥5,868,0007T) ° RMB7,575,000 (2023: RMB5,868,000).
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14 FHAEEERAEEE = 14 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES (continued)
(i) FRAEESE=Z (ii)

Measurement of right-of-use assets

ERAEREEEANTHEINEERRM

The recognised right-of-use assets relate to the following types of

144

assets:
ElEE WAE _E et
Computer

equipment Offices Vehicles Total
AEBEFT AREFT AREFT ANREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
RZZE_WFE—HA—H At 1 January 2024 3,480 5,692 224 9,396
AE Addition - 6,873 702 7,575
e (Ha7) Depreciation (Note 7) (306) (4,254) (501) (5,061)
ERELR Exchange differences (122) 490 - 368

RZIEZME At 31 December 2024
+ZB=+—H 3,052 8,801 425 12,278
RZEZ=%5—B—H At 1 January 2023 8,341 3,784 107 12,232
wE Addition - 5,635 233 5,868
e (HaE7) Depreciation (Note 7) (4,973) (3,800) (116) (8,889)
EREE Exchange differences 112 73 - 185

RZEZ=% At 31 December 2023
+=-B=+—H 3,480 5,692 224 9,396
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14 EFRAREEREEGEE® 14 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES (continued)
(iii) MEHMNBRPEDRZEEE (iii) Amounts recognised in the consolidated income statement
EHAERI T TV ERAEE S8 The consolidated income statement shows the following amounts
relating to leases:

—E-mE TET=F

2024 2023

AREFT ANEEFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

HEsENEME (M) Interest expense for lease liabilities (Note 9) 273 206

SIS ARz (MET) Expenses relating to short-term leases (Note 7) 194 98

(iv)

AZE_NEZHAERSREEREAS A
R#4,713,000T (ZB2Z=F : AR
10,185,0007T) ©

FEBZEEERHREARSG A

FEREESERAE BERE KA
B HEGHNERRETEHMRIFEIE-

HEFERZENELESZ TESEET
() B9 6% % e 16 14 o 7B 68 133 5 7 B 0 4 £ 22
HoOEHEARANEEEERATERE
HIFRSN-HEEETTBIFEERTA

(iv)

The total cash outflow for leases in 2024 was RMB4,713,000
(2023: RMB10,185,000).

The Group’s leasing activities and how these are
accounted for

The Group leases various offices, computer equipment and
vehicles. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 1
year to 4 years.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a
wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements
do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in
the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may
not be used as security for borrowing purposes.
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15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

KB EH &
Hthax 448 4 E G et
Acquired
patents and
other
software Computer
component software Total
ANEBEFT ANEBEFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
H-ZE-_mWE—H/F—H At 1 January 2024
%N Cost 20,286 13,715 34,001
RET Accumulated amortisation and
impairment (17,188) (13,269) (30,457)
IREFE Net book amount 3,098 446 3,544
BE-ZT-_ME+=-"H=+—H Year ended 31 December 2024
IFE
MRV ER R (E Opening net book amount 3,098 446 3,544
iy (ByzE7) Amortisation (Note 7) (600) (446) (1,046)
BE FHEEb)) Impairment (Note (b)) (2,325) - (2,325)
PE & 7= &8 Exchange difference (173) - (173)
HARERERE Closing net book amount = = =
W_E_ME+"_B=+—H At 31 December 2024
BN Cost 19,839 13,715 33,554
RET R E Accumulated amortisation and
impairment (19,839) (13,715) (33,554)
REEE Net book amount - = =
HW-ZE=-=%—HF—H At 1 January 2023
%N Cost 19,805 13,715 33,520
Rt 8 Accumulated amortisation (4,354) (12,614) (16,968)
FREDFE Net book amount 15,451 1,101 16,552
BE_E_=F4+_"-H=+—H Year ended 31 December 2023
IHFE
HAYERERE Opening net book amount 15,451 1,101 16,552
s (Wat7) Amortisation (Note 7) (2,626) (655) (3,281)
BAE HEEb)) Impairment (Note (b)) (10,634) - (10,634)
PE 7 7= &8 Exchange difference 907 - 907
HARERERE Closing net book amount 3,098 446 3,544
W_E2_=%+"B=+—H At 31 December 2023
DN Cost 20,286 13,715 34,001
REr R E Accumulated amortisation and
impairment (17,188) (13,269) (30,457)
REEE Net book amount 3,098 446 3,544
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15 BI2EE @

(@ FRELNEHEESHFAMERIORDT

15

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Notes:

(a) Amortisation incurred during the year is charged to the consolidated income
statement as follows:

T mE - e
2024 2023
ARETFT NEBETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
& B AR Cost of sales 600 2,626
— MR T General and administrative expenses 446 655
HiHARER Total amortisation 1,046 3,281
(b) LSt Bt B8 ) R EL At 8 (4 48 1 RO BB (b) Impairment on the acquired patents and other software component

Personify Inc. (TPersonify)) ZEBHEEHEMNS
M8 B RORES2BH M RIE—RFIRENIGE
CHREANEEEERT SBENSaaSER K
MEEE TR

BEIEEIREPersonifyREEL BN (TREE
B 2EREE ((FREE) RAFE
MENREEREERES ((AFEREER
) BEOKEOEHE BEEREFEHAEE
st EPersonifylR & EL B AR [0l S REE
THE-ZAEERAUEEBRIICESS
HAENMFRBMBREFENRARER
BB _E_RENKRATHRES 76% A
Personify & EEBMNE S " AFERELE
SEAERERE

BHE_S_NWE+_B=+—HLEEE Y
PersonifyE & B9 58 KK 2 FEHH o BB i¥ Personify
REeEEEMMNI RO SEERNEERGE &
E_S_NE+_RA=Z+—HILEE - BEE
ZEBRPersonifyREELBANETLEEN
FE R B A R 12,325,0007C 1 & 7] 8 & g

B
&t ©

Personify, Inc. (“Personify”), a subsidiary of the Group, through its
sophisticated computer vision and deep learning technology, provides a series
of SaaS products and software development kit tool on high quality virtual
background experience on video-conference application.

Management determined the recoverable amount based on the higher
of value-in-use (“VIU”) and the fair value less cost of disposal (‘FVLCD”)
calculations of the Personify cash-generating unit (“CGU”). Management
performed valuation on the recoverable amount of the Personify CGU based
on VIU calculation. The calculation use pre-tax cash flow projections based
on financial budgets prepared by management and approved by the Board
of Directors covering a two years period with a revenue decline rate of 2025
of 76% and Personify CGU is unable to generate any positive cash flow from

2025 onwards.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the demand for Personify products
was below expectation. As the recoverable amount of the Personify CGU was
below its carrying amount, an impairment loss in respect of the intangible
assets directly attributable to the Personify CGU of RMB2,325,000 was
recognised in the consolidated income statement for the year ended 31
December 2024.
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15 BCEE @ 15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
151 B EENEHER 15.1 Accounting policy on intangible assets

Fr B EHREMBASERG K Acquired computer software is capitalised on the basis of the
LHUMEHEMEENRABEREAR I costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software.
ERARTIBARERG RS EAHE These costs are incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific
AmES  NESESF A EREHAN software, and are amortised using the straight-line method over
BAR R o their estimated useful life of 3 to 5 years.

FrUt BB e 481~ E5) 2 R 2Rk Acquired software components, patents, domain names and
FUS B AR A B e B A o ELmT #2 AR R 5t trademark are capitalised on the basis of the costs acquired.
A5 BR R B AR A8 E T A They are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. They are
FHAP Y o amortised using the straight-line method over their estimated useful

lives of 8 years.

ERFEREENRESTEE 2= For accounting policy of impairment of non-financial assets, see Note
36.6° 36.6.
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16 nLHE

ERNEZKRE 16 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES

REBERBIZ2KRELEEHUWT - The movements of investment in associates are as follows:
—E-mE —EFT=F
2024 2023
AEBBFT ANE¥EFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
—HA—H At 1 January 399 7,138
KEEDHEIE Share of loss for the year (22) (4,730)
HE—RBHERE 2 RERBE Impairment loss on investment in an associate - (2,019)
PERERE Exchange difference (29) 10
w+ZA=+—H At 31 December 348 399

MTFHIIAEBR _E_OMER-T =
+ZRA=+—BHZHEATFE T X
ERABZRAERETBERMAEN AAERMBE
FHe

RZE_mMER-_ZF_=ZF+-R=+—8"
REMEARZTEREFBNT !

SR
HEMEIER
Place of
business/country
establishment/

o

5%

Set out below are the details of the associates of the Group as at 31
December 2024 and 2023. The associates as listed below have share
capital consisting solely of ordinary shares, which is held indirectly the
Group.

Details of the principal investments in associates as at 31 December
2024 and 2023 are as follows:

FrAEEEZ DL MEME StERAE

% of ownership Nature of the

Name of entity incorporation interest relationship Measurement method
—E_mME —B=F
2024 2023
FYTEHAERBRERSRMER P 25% 25%  MEti %
BRAE (TEA) (ZEZ=F: R)
FYITEA ERBRESRMAE  The PRC Note i Equity method
BRAE)(TEADL) (2023: same)
FRMKERLAR (TEE)) =] 20% 20% Mg %
(Z2Z=F R
GNL LTD. (“GNL”) Taiwan Note ii Equity method
(2023: same)
FINTERERZERAD s 15% 15% [yt %
:7:3) (ZBZ=F 1 8R)
FNTHREREBRAT The PRC Note iii Equity method
(THR)) (2023: same)
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16

150

REATIZE®’E &
Hiat :

[0) FUTEAERBRESMAEERAR (TE
Bl AR _E-_—E+_AtHaEMmINE
RAB ZABINBHEREEBERE -1
T CF—RBZH+—H AEETL—HR
RipsE LR BARE10,000,0007T U ERE A
%R -BHE_T_ME+_B=+—H %
HANEECEYHE (CE=F : HF) °

(ii) BREREERAR (B3R ARZT_FA
AABSEMBRINERAT -ZABRERM
BB GREFHR -AEEPR -T2
FENA=+HTZRER UR{E2,000,000
A (HER ARKEA55,0007T) Ui E220%
Mg - BE_E_NE+"BA=+—HI*F
> AEERIEGEEEHARE22,0007T (2
LT =F L EHEBEEYAR42,0005T) ©

iy FNTEHERHEEBERAR (BRI AR_F
—NWEZBZ+tHEMRINBRAT -
ZNTNERMEVPANEL IS &R R THR
EXREGEREMYBARASR - RN _T
—NE=ZBZ+RB AEEBT L HRER
o UAREBARES53,000c BB B FF15% MR
BoREBUIAABRRSEZAEEEVLEEZ
FREE EAFERTEBILEERGER
BE-FIIABHNEEATEERBEEZNR
HREE - R_E—NAF+BA=+—H &
BRWREER2HRE

BEARERNHREQARZER AR ZIARE

& o

ERFEREENRETSHER 2RNE
36.6°

16

INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (continueq)

Note:

[0) FUITEAIEREERMERBRAS (‘BRI is a limited liability company
incorporated on 7 December 2021. It is engaged in the manufacturing and
trading of medical equipment. On 21 January 2022, the Group entered into a
shareholder agreement to acquire 25% shareholding of El&l at consideration
of RMB10,000,000. As of 31 December 2024, the investment in Bl &l was fully
impaired (2023: same).

(ii) GNL LTD. (“GNL”) is a limited liability company incorporated on 9 September
2022. It was engaged in provision of IT software and electronic materials.
On 30 September 2022, the Group entered into a shareholder agreement
to acquire 20% shareholding of GNL at consideration of NTD2,000,000
(equivalent to RMB455,000). For the year ended 31 December 2024, The
Group recognised a share of loss of approximately RMB22,000 (2023: share of
loss of approximately RMB42,000).

(i) FYNTEERIE AR AE (‘BR") is a limited liability company incorporated
on 27 February 2019. It was engaged in the provision of interactive video
conference and other |oT solutions under the brand name of VPANEL. On 26
March 2019, the Group entered into an investment agreement to acquire 15%
shareholding of EF# at consideration of RMB353,000, which was settled by
injection of intangible assets of the Group at equivalent value to i, the
fair value of which was determined by an independent qualified valuer in the
PRC. The injected intangible assets are softwares and trademark internally
generated by the Group. The investment in EBF was fully impaired as at 31
December 2019.

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interest in
associates.

For accounting policy of impairment of non-financial assets, see Note
36.6.
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17 BAFEFAAIEBGZEHEE 17 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

BATEFABGIEZEMEESE TS Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss include the
15 . following:
—EWE —ET=F
2024 2023
ARHEFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
ERBEE Non-current assets
JE EMRARTE S BEE0)%(1)) Unlisted equity securities (Note (i) and (ii)) 30,503 46,307
JEERES (22 i0) Unlisted fund (Note (i) 29,936 30,301
60,439 76,608
BAFEFABRzEMEEZEITHNT . Movement in the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is as
follows:
—EOE =
2024 2023
AREFT ANEETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
W—HB—H At 1 January 76,608 74,560
NFE (B8 WmPEE Fair value (losses)/gains, net (17,087) 964
fE A= RE Exchange differences 918 1,084
W+-_B=+—H At 31 December 60,439 76,608

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3§ 151



AHBBRRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 BAFEFAEGZZEMEE 17 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
#) PROFIT OR LOSS (continueq)

Wizt Notes:

FLEHRAEZLHCQEUFAEFEN—ER
B _B_NMER_E_=F+"ZB=+—
B EEREZATFEBRATERBHR= (M=
3.2) ¢

A B NE+—B+_B AEBEBEBILE
=/ RET72,916 1% 1 IF LT BEE R
22.03% > fA1E%2,000,000E T FEER AR
14,048,0007t) s R ZZEZZTFHAB/\H » K&
B R ZEILE =R 18,220RFEINRD 2 1k
ZIE - EEE0.50%89 A& > L& 4500,0003% 7T
(FHER AR 13,464,0007T) °

BRREAB—REFUEMNEMRILIZARA
B TEF IR EERFERERKRM  BARE
MERENB R B ERE -

EETREZATFENLSERBLIBE L
BEXEERUTELRATNR S M4
+ZA=+—HZWBWAB#®ZES HRIT
—HREEGERRETREDT (2ERE
AELBRZRABLRATNR S =

+ZA=+—BNHEEH) - AFEBRS
SHATEELHR (H5E3.2) cHE_T_UE
+ZA=+—HLEEE AFEBEARKE
16,722,000t (ZEZ=F : AFERZARKE
924,0007T) ERGH R mRMER o ZIE LR

EHEUETHE

RIZZ—FRNANB AEEEBIFE=
BT EREGEHE UWEABREB AR
ERAFEAMN—RAEREES - REE
T ZFE+RA=t+—HIEFEE XER
BMZREARK21,000,00070 ) BEREANRE
30,000,0007T * {4 & £ R HEMIE% °

FEFESZAFEBRATFEBR= (M=
32) MEEZZWNF+ZHE=1+—HIEHF
B AFEBEARESS5000T (CE =4
NFEUWEARE144,00070) REHFEERS

(i) Unlisted equity securities included an investment denominated in TWD. As at
31 December 2024 and 2023, the fair value of this investment is within level 3
of the fair value hierarchy (Note 3.2).

(if) On 12 November 2019, the Group purchased 72,916 shares from an
independent third party, representing 2.03% of shareholdings of an unlisted
entity at consideration of USD2,000,000 (equivalent to RMB14,048,000).
On 8 May 2020, the Group purchased 18,229 additional shares from this
independent third party, representing 0.50% of shareholdings of the unlisted
entity at consideration of USD500,000 (equivalent to RMB3,464,000).

The investee, a limited liability company incorporated in Delaware, is mainly
focus on the first digital and fully scalable sensing technology to solve the
noise immunity and tuning challenges of traditional touch sensors.

The fair value of the unlisted investment was determined by reference
to market approach with calibration analysis from latest financing round
to valuation date using movement of enterprise value divide by revenue
multiples of comparable companies as at 31 December 2024. (reference to
recent comparable transaction and the movement of market capitalization
of comparable companies as at 31 December 20283). The fair value is within
level 3 of the fair value hierarchy (Note 3.2). During the year ended 31
December 2024, a fair value loss of RMB16,722,000 (2023: fair value gain
of RMB924,000) was recognised in the consolidated income statement. The
unlisted equity security is denominated in USD.

(iff) On 8 June 2021, the Group entered into a Limited Partner Agreement with
an individual third party to invest in a private investment fund registered in
the PRC as a limited partner. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group made an additional investment of RMB21,000,000, totaling invested
RMB30,000,000, representing 6% equity interest of this fund.

The fair value of the unlisted fund is within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy
(Note 3.2). During the year ended 31 December 2024, a fair value loss of
RMB365,000 (2023: a fair value gain of RMB144,000) was recognised in the
consolidated income statements. The unlisted fund is denominated in RMB.

BB ELTESUANRESHE.
BREEATEEERKAZGER ERRER Refer to Note 3.2 to the consolidated financial statements for information
WER B2 e HYHRERMES.20 about the valuation methods and assumptions used in determining fair
value.
EREmMEENGSER 2HME36.7° For accounting policy of financial assets, see Note 36.7.
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18 78 18 INVENTORIES
—E-mE —E-=
2024 2023
AEBBFT ANE¥EFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
B KR 1 Hardware and software 131,604 94,311
R ERE Less:provision for impairment (8,293) (11,569)
FE—F% Inventories — net 123,311 82,742
Mt Notes:
0] BRAMI Wt ARNEBEFEGHBEERLEAN (i) The cost of inventories was recognised as expenses and included in cost of
FERAE AR436,606,0007T (ZE - =4 : sales attributable to the Group’s operations amounted to RMB436,606,000
AR #§480,771,0007T) ° (2023: RMB480,771,000).
(ii) FEEGESHNT (ii) Movement in the provision for inventories is as follows:
—ENE TET=F
2024 2023
ARMEFT ANRMEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
R EA] At the beginning of the year 11,569 6,723
FERE (BE) #E (Reversal of)/provision of impairment of inventories (3,276) 4,846
RER At the end of the year 8,293 11,569
18.1 FEMEHEE 18.1 Accounting policy on inventories
FERMAKRIEZRZIEMENRESE Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
AR o BLATH I MM I AT E o A IR Cost is determined by using the weighted average method. Net
FEAREBBEREFPNEFEERE realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course
AR EiEEER - of business, less applicable variable selling expenses.
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19 ANEERGHNERE 19 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT

LIABILITIES
AEBEHEI TINEAZRFANERHEZEERE The Group has recognised the following assets and liabilities related to
& : contracts with customers:
(a) BHNEE (a) Contract assets
—E_NE —E2I=F
2024 2023
AREFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EHEE Contract assets
—%=5h — third parties = 1,220
—BEATL - related parties 3,176 232
MENEE Contract assets — gross 3,176 1,452
e, izt g Less: loss allowance (12) -
FENEE Contract assets — net 3,164 1,452

BEMNEETEZEAERRINNREEAN
ExlBERREEZTIREABZENA
Bl aNEERNEMASBERGFEE

i SRR I o rights become unconditional.

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s rights to receive
consideration for work completed but not billed as at the reporting
date. The contract assets are transferred to receivables when the

BHNEEZREEREAFTERE-

The carrying amounts of contract assets approximate their fair

values.
(b) EHEE (b) Contract liabilities

Sl 111 - —EC=F
2024 2023
ANEEFT AR FT
RMB’000 RMB’000

aRamE Contract liabilities
—%=5 — third parties 11,600 9,417
—BEATL — related parties 2,252 1,914
MmMENERE Total contract liabilities 13,852 11,331
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19 ENEERSHNER@®

(b)

BHNERE @&
BHERTIEZHRBERNRINERZE
mBHREHRZRBALKI ZZER
TRBER WATERIMERRHIEH
AR 75 By B 5T ©

HRERARZEBER  SHNEEAR

e

TREINNAREHBER Z WA E
EEoNEaERZzERE

19 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

(b)

Contract liabilities (continued)

The contract liabilities primarily relate to the deposits or payments
received in advance for sales of goods not yet delivered to
customers or services not yet performed. Revenue is recognised
when goods are delivered to customers or when services are
performed.

Contract liabilities have increased due to timing difference in
payments by customers.

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised
in the current reporting period relates to carried-forward contract
liabilities.

—_EWE —ET=F
2024 2023
ARETT ANEETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
STARIR S4B B ERZ Revenue recognised that was included in the
BRI A contract liabilities balance at the
beginning of the period
FE W =R IE Receipts in advance 11,331 37,015

TRITEEBRERBAGHNELEZRE
TEYEE-

The following table shows unsatisfied performance obligations
resulting from fixed-price long-term contracts.

—EME —ET=fF
2024 2023
ARBEFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
R+ZA=+—HZEEEH 5 Aggregate amount of the transaction price
EHERETRASHZ allocated to long-term contracts that are
X ZESELEE partially or fully unsatisfied as
at 31 December
e —F Not later than one year 1,039 417
BiE—F R ABEAF Later than one year and not later than
five years 280 -
1,319 417
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20 EEKRHEERIERIAE 20 TRADE AND LEASE RECEIVABLES
—E_NE —ET =4
2024 2023
ABBFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
S EWRRIE (5t (@a) Trade receivables (Note (a))
—%=h — third parties 173,490 148,850
—RBEE AL — related parties 82,728 120,382
____________________________________________________ 256,218 269,232
HEAESEWIREBE—-& (Wt () Finance leases receivables — total (Note(c)) 3,629 4,869
CERHEREWIRIE —48%8 (f13£(d)) Trade and lease receivables — gross (Note (d)) 259,847 274,101
B EIEERE (WEob) Less: loss allowance (Note (b)) (69,266) (68,811)
EEREERWIEE 548 Trade and lease receivables — net 190,581 205,290
A EERBEEWRIE Less: trade and lease receivables
—JEREE S - non-current portion (2,328) (3,629)
HELEERKEE —REID Trade and lease receivables — current portion 188,253 201,661
EELAERKEBEZREEHEEQAFER The carrying amounts of trade and lease receivables approximate their
He fair values.
Wizt Notes:
(a) FTEEZAHBIHECEEH KN TF=1+XKE (a)  Majority of the Group’s sales are made with credit terms generally ranging from
NTR-SERBRBEREZHAHZRE DT 30 days to 90 days. The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on invoice
W date is as follows:
—EIME B =F
2024 2023
AREFT ANEBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
N AR e Less than 60 days 132,033 155,549
AAEE-BIA4E 60 days to 120 days 31,107 29,040
—BZt+t—XkEZBA~tX 121 days to 360 days 19,865 15,250
BiB=H/ 1+ X Over 360 days 73,213 69,393
256,218 269,232
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20 EEKRTEEEIERIE @

Mtst -

(b)

(c)

(&

RIEZWE+ZA=+—H > BUWEERE
HARMEB3,772,0007T (ZEZ=F: AR
61,610,0007T) EEHIRBEE -BRAEER
THERWIRIBE Z B EEHEEE N 3.1(0)(i)E
BoHE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HLFE"
EERAEREIRENGEERERRDAARK
762,0007T (ZZ2Z =% AR#742,0007t) o &
EIENE+ZHA=+—HIEFE TENK
ElJcAT s S ERBRE (T =4 | Wk
B EH & 2 FE UK BRTE A R 1 780,0007T) ©

FhE R EREURARIE
RIE_NMER_E_=F+_B=+—H%

HERERRBEREERENRESN KR
T

20 TRADE AND LEASE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

(c)

At 31 December 2024, trade receivables of approximately RMB63,772,000
(2023: RMB61,610,000) were fully provided for. Movement in the loss
allowances for trade and lease receivables is disclosed in Note 3.1(b)(ii).
During the year ended 31 December 2024, reversal of loss allowance for
trade and lease receivables of RMB762,000 were made (2023: RMB742,000).
For the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no recovery of previously
written off trade receivables (2023: a recovery of previously written off trade
receivables of RMB780,000).

Finance leases receivables

The reconciliation between the gross investment in the lease and the present
value of the minimum lease payments receivable at as 31 December 2024 and
2023 is as follows:

—TmE ===
2024 2023
ARBETFT ANEETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
JERENFE W TR IE Non-current receivables
MERE-EWRAIELREE Finance leases — gross receivables 2,513 3,992
REBEEALE WA Unearned finance income (185) (363)
2,328 3,629
TR Eh FE U TR IE Current receivables
MERE - ARIELREE Finance leases — gross receivables 1,479 1,479
REBEEALE WA Unearned finance income (178) (239)
1,301 1,240
RhE SR RIE— 488 Finance leases receivables - total 3,629 4,869
—TImE -
2024 2023
ARETFT ANEETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
R E A FE R FRIEAREE © Gross receivables from finance leases:
—frBB—F - No later than 1 year 1,479 1,479
——FEEMEZM - Between 1 year and 2 years 1,479 1,479
—MEE=FH - Between 2 years and 3 years 517 1,479
—ZEENFEZE - Between 3 years and 4 years 517 517
—NEERFEZM - Between 4 years and 5 years = 517
3,992 5,471
R R B R B ANV R AR B A Unearned future finance income on finance leases (363) (602)
REREREPEE Net investment in finance leases 3,629 4,869
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20 EEKLTHEEIERIE @

158

Htat -

(c)

&

MEHERKRE (&

R-E_NE+_B=+—H &HEDE
HOERIOENMERERELHET 2 EAE
BRER(CEZ=ZFHR) -HNENETE
AR —BREEAZEFEEREHNEENBR
DBREmAE MAEHERN ZSHEZSER
EESEFAEA KMZESER—ERER

B

20 TRADE AND LEASE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(c)

Finance leases receivables (continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the balance represents a smart school project under
two finance leases arrangements for 9 years and 10 years respectively (2023:
same). The project constitutes a finance lease since the contract conveys the
right to control the use of identified assets under this project, for a period of
time in exchange for consideration and at the end of the lease term, these
leased assets will be transferred to the lease without any consideration.

(d) BERAERERIEU T EEHE (d) Trade and lease receivables are denominated in following currencies:
ZEZNE -
2024 2023
AREFT ANEBTFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR RVMB 108,774 132,647
ESH usD 117,404 125,219
mat NTD 17,170 14,593
HEE VND 9,321 -
BX7T EUR 7,178 1,642
259,847 274,101

20.1 ERSEXEWRIEN S HIKE 20.1 Accounting policy on trade receivables

EERNRERT —REXLBEPME
miEWRBATMERZRHRIE &
FRWIRBE W EIFARR —F 8 UR @0
MEESEEERFT ATRERRE) -
HWDBERRBEE  SRIRIFRBEE

25

EERKREN S REGGECESTRRE
RoMRFHOSBEARMES D LIEATF
BEER - AEESWRSNREREMET
BEERIERIE AILEBIRAERFX
EIREBH AT E - AR A BB EBER
Bt - SE 2 RMIEES.1(b) ©

EERBIRENRAHEEERRNET
RHEEREBERWERE

ERTRMEBEENENTHER SR
36.7°

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for products
sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business. If
collection of trade receivables is expected in one year or less (or
in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are
classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-
current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of
consideration that is unconditional unless they contain significant
financing components, when they are recognised at fair value. The
Group holds the trade receivables with the objective to collect the
contractual cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. See Note
3.1(b) for a description of the Group’s impairment policies.

Trade receivables are presented on the consolidated balance sheet
within trade and lease receivables.

For the accounting policy on impairment of financial assets, see
Note 36.7.
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21 FAdHIE-REsREMEWEIE 21 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

—EMNE TE=F
2024 2023
AEBBFT ANEBTFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
JETREN SR Non-current portion
BB Prepayments 146 71
REIE D Current portion
I FRIE Prepayments 46,662 29,890
A HEE Rental prepayments 603 152
E haT U] 18 Other tax recoverable 6,158 4,198
H e U R IE Other receivables 1,977 2,749
o EEIERE Less: loss allowance (109) (106)
55,291 36,883
TE FRIE A TFIB Prepayment to a related party 478 174
____________________________________________________ 55,769 37,057
FENRIE - RE R EMEWFIEAA%E  Total prepayments, deposits and other receivables 55,915 37,128
RE_NWEER_E_=F+"A=+—H" As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, prepayments mainly represented
BARBFrZANHEREEFEZENE payments in advance to suppliers for the purchases of inventories.
;—\j)’\ )
BAREBE SR EMERZREBU TGS Prepayments, deposits and other receivables are denominated in
8 : following currencies:
ZEIMNE TEC=F
2024 2023
AEBEFT ANEETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BT HKS$ 482 397
AR RMB 38,546 30,304
E7T Uusb 7,004 1,785
el NTD 7,108 3,948
HEE VND 2,091 -
Hi Others 264 694
55,495 37,128
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HERREEEY 22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
—E_ME TE=F
2024 2023
ABBFT ANEBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
WOTRE FAASTNEAREERR Cash at banks, maximum exposure to credit risk 186,282 189,755
FERE Cash on hand 6 1
BERASEEY Cash and cash equivalents 186,288 189,756

RITRENFARBEEARITERNFENZE
0.01%ZE1.82%FEFAZXHERHME (ZF =
F:0.01%%E1.80%) c BFHIBITRAELE
& AR 196,683,000t (CE_=F: AR
98,381,00070) X B EIRITIRFEHES A
R#2,214,00070 (ZEBZ=4 : AR#39,000
78) 3 B %= A B e 8 B E O B B S BR U T
PR o

RERFEEEEYUTIEHEE

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates of 0.01% to 1.82% per annum during the year (2023: 0.01% to
1.80%). The remittance of the funds out of the PRC bank accounts of
RMB96,683,000 (2023: RMB98,381,000) and Vietnam bank accounts of
RMB2,214,000 (2023: RMB39,000) is subject to exchange restrictions
imposed by the PRC and Vietnamese governments, respectively.

Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in following currencies:

—EUE — =
2024 2023
AREFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BT HK$ 1,676 3,693
AR RMB 86,167 94,503
S usD 68,684 85,529
Bl NTD 24,246 4,668
HmEE VND 2,214 39
Hith Others 3,301 1,324
186,288 189,756
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23 IRIEFRISH 23

ERZTERTRENGARE 2 EHREIRE
EHRMERaBERE URERLEMEREE
RBBRFE-MBEEAMZERRERITRE
BRRNEBBURZFERNARM MARKRFHE
BEEGBBEERF ELXAMENEELEEERE

DEFERRED INCOME TAX

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset current income tax recoverable against
current income tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets
and liabilities relate to income tax levied by the same taxation authority
on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an

i o IMEHTERUW T - intention to settle the balances on a net basis. The offset amounts are as
follows:
—E-MNE B =4F
2024 2023
AEBBFT ANE¥EFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FIEFRSIMEE - Deferred income tax assets:
— B RiBE 128 B B W E — Deferred income tax assets to be recovered
FEIEFTBMEE after more than 12 months 5,113 5,993
— #1218 8 Uk [El g9 — Deferred income tax assets to be recovered
EIEFTSMEE within 12 months 1,701 1,324
6,814 7,317
EIEFRSREE Deferred income tax liabilities:
—BFRiBE12ERBEEN — Deferred income tax liabilities to be recovered
RIEPRISTR A& after more than 12 months (1,509) (2,680)
(1,509) (2,680)
RIEFRSIRE E > 358 Deferred income tax asset, net 5,305 4,637

BIEFFSHREE, (BE) RENZEFHEN

The net movement on the deferred income tax assets/(liabilities) account

T is as follows:
—EME ==
2024 2023
AEBEFT ANEETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
W—HB—H At 1 January 4,637 2,349
sFAGHEIER BaE10) Credited to consolidated
income statement (Note 10) 756 2,305
B R E%8 Exchange differences (88) (17)
W+B=+—H At 31 December 5,305 4,637
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23 IRILEFRIFIN @ 23 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)
FRELZEEREBEEEEEHEREZEBRZ The nature of items giving rise to deferred tax assets and their respective
#E R RPRE—MBEEEANERIEHE 0 movements during the year without taking into consideration the
T offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction are as follows:
RAREIAL2
R SHEERRRG HEsE SRHBEZATHEFR B it

Fair value loss
on financial assets

Loss allowances for at fair value through
Accrued expenses financial assets Tax losses profit or loss Provisions Total
ZECmE  CZCcE CZECmE CZCCE 0 ZECME CRCCE ZECmE RIS ZEomE  CZCZE CECmE IR
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

ARBRFR  ARETT  ABRFZ  ARETZ  ARRFR  ARETZ ARKFR  ARKTT  ARKFR  ARETT  ABRFT  ABETT
RMB'000  RUBU0O  RMB'0O0  RWBU0O  RMB'000  RVBO00  RMB'000  RMBU00  RMB000  RWBD0  RMB0A0  RMBYND

r-A-H At 1 January 1,324 1,358 1,598 1,265 9,996 7,426 876 859 1,134 291 14,928 11,199
(ER) /SAAHTIAR (Charged)/credited to
consolidated income

statement an (34 (246) 3 4,179 2412 ) 5) (438) 87 4304) 3543
ERER Exchange differences - - - - 118 158 (35) 2 (13) 6 70 186
RAZEZ+-H At 31 December 1,701 1304 1,352 1508 5,935 9,996 933 876 683 114 10,604 14928
FRELEERESECEHEEEREZEZ The nature of items giving rise to deferred tax liabilities and their
#E) R RRE—MBEEEANERIEHE) 0 respective movements during the year without taking into consideration
e the offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction are as follows:

BATESABRZ

EREEZATERE A2 iEF Bz EIOR @t

Fair value gain
on financial assets

at fair value through Withholding tax on
profit or loss undistributable profit Total
ZEINE ZZT-F ZEINE “TT-F ZEINE “TT=F
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

AREFT AREFE ARBFRZ AREFT ARBFZ AREFR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

®—B—H At 1 January 8,782 8,294 1,509 556 10,291 8,850
nks/ GtA) &HABER (Charged)/credited to

consolidated income statement (5,150) 285 - 953 (5,150) 1,238
ERELE Exchange differences 158 203 - - 158 203
®K+ZA=+—H At 31 December 3,790 8,782 1,509 1,509 5,299 10,291
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23 IREFRER @

23.1 ARIEEFISMOTHR

23 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)

23.1 Accounting policy for deferred income tax

EEFRSMIOMEERBEZRERE
REHMBREMREREEZ BY KT
EE> UABFEAFHEHERF -2
EIERMEBESENEEEHE SRR
AR SRR EAEFT IS IR T AR TR S HAK
BEMRERBEMGZRE ER B
WIRMAN S RAMELEFMISNEERE
BIRIEFFSIMEENER-

ERAIEBRRERNSEUDAZSE
YR EEREIER > 5 SRR A
BE-

s 7= &2 [ B +22 1l 185 [0 5 A5 1% = BR BO s )
REBRUESGHR T RARRER 8%
EMBREREETTUEBIEBRE
Y BR 1B Re 10 B A B BT 7 22 5 DARE ST o

EEOEURITREMNBHEENRNEEE
REEREEERASRRER —RHH
MAERE RERNBEEREERN TH&
i o

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws)
that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of
the reporting period and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax
liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary
differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary
differences between the carrying amount and tax bases of
investments in foreign operations where the Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and
it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities
and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation
authority.
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24 EXEMIRIA 24 TRADE PAYABLES
—E-mg —E-=&
2024 2023
ABBFT ANEBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EEEMIRIE Trade payables
—%=h — third parties 165,520 106,424
—RBEE AL — related parties 5,191 3,272
170,711 109,696
ABAREFEFZEEBENFEF=1TENTEX The majority of the suppliers grant credit period ranging from 30 to 90
(CEBEZ=F . =+Ft+AHXR) days (2023: 30 to 75 days).
EEENRERSEZEHHBEZRESTUT - The ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice date is as
follows:
ZEZME —Z2=F
2024 2023
AREFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
DR+ XR Less than 60 days 149,575 103,557
ANTRE—BHIZ+X 60 days to 120 days 18,718 3,860
BiE—B8+xX Over 120 days 2,418 2,279
170,711 109,696
EEERMRENEEEREQATEMESE LY The carrying amounts of trade payables approximate their fair values and
TAEHEHE - are denominated in following currencies:
ZEIME - 3
2024 2023
ABBFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR RMB 91,160 66,450
ETT UsbD 51,514 31,596
malk NTD 26,466 11,650
HEE VND 1,571 —
170,711 109,696
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25 EstERAKREMEMRIA 25 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES
—EMNE ==
2024 2023
AEBBFT ANEBTFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
P& &t ¥ & R ACAL Accrued salaries and bonuses 13,540 30,031
FEF R ER% Accrued operating expenses 13,005 13,472
HMEMRE Other tax payables 566 1,777
HMENHIE Other payables 838 992
27,949 46,272
EtERAMEMENRENREEREQAFE The carrying amounts of accruals and other payables approximate their
HE WA T EEEHE - fair values and are denominated in following currencies:
—EOE ==
2024 2023
AEBEFT ANEETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BT HK$ 2,447 2,768
AR RMB 6,859 23,879
E7T usD 9,490 9,267
el NTD 8,047 10,284
HrEE VND 1,091 -
Hi Others 15 74
27,949 46,272
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26

27

166

B2 K B 7 i B

26 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

& 4= Share capital
R1p& B mE
Number of Nominal
shares value
TR ANEEFT
‘000 RMB’000
RZE2-_=%—F— EI NTETZF  Asat 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023,
+-B=+—HB-ZZE”-WW&F—AH 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024
—BrRZIZ2ZNE+ZA=+—H 701,543 68,447
10 E Share premium
AR FT
RMB’000
RNZE_=F—F—HB-ZZ =% As at 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023,
+-B=+—B-ZZE-_IWE—AH 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024
—BERZZE-_AF+"HA=+—H 213,865

B ie 5t &
REARTRB—=F/\A =+ BN 25
B E BEER2RHIBRA > BOFEER

ERRRERR IAEEFEREZER) 2
ARzBHERBES (BFEELARIXERNFA
BNEARKREERZENES  TRENT
RIFRTRAmERILED) (INEEFBETZ
EEEFZEAFAEA ; Ki)EEBREMRK
KREBRZEAEGHSEBH KEFH R
AR BB EAAHEF EEBIITT
BRABR - BHFFEA (BEEUBRES
BEAN oEm- 2T HAL (BEFASHE
B RVWESE2ENEBEDAERTEHAE
EEAREEERFHEMRZERMALER
FEpgmE -

RiREERES S REMEREMNRITE
ZFIARARTEEREECTERY FEITZR
PEBERE TREBNEMBREARATEH#
TRABHMZHEFT10% (EXRBDRBEARB
RIESHEIFERDZBRENES RO HE >
ESRREMATEM0%LRIRN) » URIR
BEiERES 8 R EREMABEADRITEZ
f‘]’EEFJT@%H%&E%T%?EGZHQTQ%(E "BEE
BBEARBDITREHITRAZ30%

27 SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company on 30
August 2013, in the sole discretion of the Board, to grant options to (i)
any full time or part time employees of the Group; or any invested entity,
an entity in which the Group holds an equity interest, (including any
directors, whether executive or non-executive and whether independent
or not, of the Company or any subsidiary or any invested entity); (i)
any holder of any securities issued by the Group; and (iii) any business
or joint venture partners, contractors, agents or representatives,
consultants, advisers, suppliers, producers or licensors, customers,
licensees (including any sub-licensee) or distributors, landlords or tenants
(including any sub-tenants) of the Group or any invested entity; or (iv) any
person who, in the sole discretion of the Board, has contributed or may
contribute to the Group or any invested entity.

The aggregate number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and other schemes must not in aggregate exceed 10%
of the total issued capital of the Company as at the adoption date unless
the Company obtains a fresh approval from the shareholders to renew
the 10% limit on the basis that the maximum number of shares in respect
of which options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme
together with any options outstanding and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme and any other scheme shall not exceed 30% of the
issued share capital of the Company from time to time.
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27 BREE @ 27 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (ontinued)
BE_ZE_NE+_A=+—HLEFERER Movement of the options granted under the share option scheme for the
PRI EIR HP BB BT ¢ year ended 31 December 2024 are as follows:

BREHE
Number of share options
RZB-mE S :3 RERERE
2HEME/ -B-H +ZB=1-H ShHERE  BHEEHZ
RiHA# 4RIANE WATE FREL EREH ERRK ERiTE WATE i3 (i35 SRUTHE
Closing price
per share
immediately
Outstanding Outstanding before
Name or as at Granted Expired Forfeited Exercised as at Exercise the grant
category of 1 January during during during during 31 December price per date of
Date of grant participants 2024 the year the year the year the year 2024 Exercise period share option share option
() A Er
(Note (j) HKS HKS
g%
Director
“Z-tE\A=+-B BEERE 300,000 - - - - 300000 ZE-AENBZt-HE 1.684 1.55
ZRTCENAEHE
31 August 2017 Mr. CHENG Yee Pun 31 August 2019 to
30 August 2027
ZZ-\E+-E+IH BERRE 500,000 - - - - 500000 ZEZEE+-FIAE 0686 066
BN \E+-A+-H
12 November 2018 Mr. CHENG Yee Pun 12 November 2020 to
11 November 2028
ZZZZEMANR gERRE 500,000 - - - - 500000 “Z-MEMENRE 0310 031
Z2-ZEMATA
8 April 2022 Mr. CHENG Yee Pun 8 April 2024 to
7 April 2082

1,300,000 - - - - 1,300,000
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27 BRRESE @ 27 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (ontinued)
BE T _NE+-_A=+—HULEFERER Movement of the options granted under the share option scheme for the
et R E R EEEHM T | (& year ended 31 December 2024 are as follows: (continued)
BREYE
Number of share options
RZE-mE RISZmE RERERE
BHEHE/ -A-H tZB=+-H BhHERE HHAEHZ
RiAs EIRE HAfTE ERRL FRXH ERRH EniTR WA (i3 (i35 SRUTE
Closing price
per share
immediately
Outstanding Outstanding before
Name or as at Granted Expired Forfeited Exercised as at Exercise the grant
category of 1 January during during during during 31 December price per date of
Date of grant participants 2024 the year the year the year the year 2024 Exercise period share option share option
() BT AT
(Note () HKS HKS
&8
Employees
“2-tE\A=t-B KEAVER 2,850,000 - - (1,800,000) - 1050000 ZE-hnENA=+-BE 1.684 1.55
ZZZLENRZHH
31 August 2017 Continuous contract 31 August 2019 to
employees 30 August 2027
“E-\E+-B+ZR HEAYES 4,460,000 - - (1,440,000) - 3020000 ZE-EE+-B+IRE 0.686 0.66
2 \Et-B1-H
12 November 2018 Continuous contract 12 November 2020 to
employees 11 November 2028
Z3Z2EMANA BEaNER 6,610,000 - - 430,000) - 6,180,000 ZE-MEMANRE 0310 031
ZE-ZEMAtH
8 April 2022 Continuous contract 8 April 2024 to
employees 7 April 2032
13,920,000 - - 3,670,000) - 10,250,000
15,220,000 - - 3,670,000) - 11,850,000
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27 BREE @ 27 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (ontinued)
BHE_ZE_=ZF+"A=+—HLEFERER Movement of the options granted under the share option scheme for the
PRI EIR HP BB BT ¢ year ended 31 December 2023 are as follows:

BREHE
Number of share options
RZBZZE RZBZZE RERERE
2HEME/ -B-H +ZB=1-H ShHERE  BHEEHZ
RiHA# 4RIANE WATE FREL EREH ERRK ERiTE WATE i3 (i35 SRUTHE
Closing price
per share
immediately
Outstanding Outstanding before
Name or as at Granted Expired Forfeited Exercised as at Exercise the grant
category of 1 January during during during during 31 December price per date of
Date of grant participants 2023 the year the year the year the year 2023 Exercise period share option share option
() A Er
(Note (j) HKS HKS
g%
Director
“Z-tE\A=+-B BEERE 300,000 - - - - 300000 ZE-AENBZt-HE 1.684 1.55
ZRTCENAEHE
31 August 2017 Mr. CHENG Yee Pun 31 August 2019 to
30 August 2027
ZZ-\E+-E+IH BERRE 500,000 - - - - 500000 ZEZEE+-FIAE 0686 066
BN \E+-A+-H
12 November 2018 Mr. CHENG Yee Pun 12 November 2020 to
11 November 2028
ZZZZEMANR gERRE 500,000 - - - - 500000 “Z-MEMENRE 0310 031
Z2-ZEMATA
8 April 2022 Mr. CHENG Yee Pun 8 April 2024 to
7 April 2082
“E_"EMANR Enfirs 800,000 - - - - 800000 ZEMEMENBE 0310 031
ZE-ZEMAtH
8 April 2022 Mr. CAI Liting 8 April 2024 to
7 April 2032

2,100,000 - - - - 2,100,000
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27 BRRESE @ 27 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (ontinued)
BE T _—F+-_A=+—HLEFERER Movement of the options granted under the share option scheme for the
et R E R EEEHM T | (& year ended 31 December 2023 are as follows: (continued)
BREYE
Number of share options
RZBZZE [t 3 RERERE
2HEHE/ -A-H tZB=+-H BhHERE HHAEHZ
RiAs EIRE HAfTE ERRL FRXH ERRH EniTR WA (i3 (i35 SRUTE
Closing price
per share
immediately
Outstanding Outstanding before
Name or as at Granted Expired Forfeited Exercised as at Exercise the grant
category of 1 January during during during during 31 December price per date of
Date of grant participants 2023 the year the year the year the year 2023 Exercise period share option share option
() BT AT
(Note fj) HKS HKS
&8
Employees
“E-tEN\BSt-B BELHES 3,050,000 - - (200,000) - 2850000 ZE-AENBZT-RE 1.684 155
ZZZLENRZHH
31 August 2017 Continuous contract 31 August 2019 to
employees 30 August 2027
“5-\5+-B1tZR HKEANES 4,760,000 - - (300,000) - 4460000 ZESE+-F+IAZ 0.686 0.66
ZEI\E+-B1-H
12 November 2018 Continuous contract 12 November 2020 to
employees 11 November 2028
Z3Z2EMANA FEANER 6,210,000 - - (400,000) - 5810000 ZE-MEMANRE 0310 031
ZE-ZEMAtH
8 April 2022 Continuous contract 8 April 2024 to
employees 7 April 2032
14,020,000 - - (900,000) - 13,120,000
16,120,000 - - (900,000) - 15,220,000

Wist - Notes:

(i) BREREENEBHANRENEEAERE (i) The share options forfeited during the year due to the resignation of employees
REREIRZE MR EARR IR - MR E BB REER within vesting period or the offer of share options was rejected by the
TERF IR R IB B IR 5% M #8 We > B SE /i 7t 5% candidates. Where shares are forfeited due to failures by the employees to
ERMBREMERRENE B satisfy the service conditions or rejection of the offer, any expenses previously

recognised in relation to such shares are reversed effective the date of the
forfeiture.
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28 f#Efd 28 RESERVES
RIS EEHE
BEXBRERRE Share option Statutory
B Capital ERHE reserve reserve EEHE
Capital redemption Exchange (#27) (W) Retained st
reserve reserve reserve (Note 27) (Note (i) earnings Total
NEEFT NEEFT NEEFT ANEEFT NEEFT NEEFT NEEFT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB'000
RZZZME—A—H  At1January 2024 44,065 1,942 (10,388) 4,013 30,448 84,059 154,139
FEES Loss for the year - - - - - (12,443) (12,443)
SMNEBEER Currency translation differences - - 2,450 = = = 2,450
BREITHE Appropriation to statutory reserve - - - - 5,608 (5,698) -
EEBERETE - Employee share option scheme -
EERBEE value of employee services - - - (1,545) = = (1,545)
RIBZME At 31 December 2024
+ZB=+-H 44,065 1,942 (7,938) 2,468 36,146 65,918 142,601
RZZEZZE—A—H At1January 2023 44,065 1,942 (11,689) 3,350 29,878 101,175 168,721
FEHE Loss for the year - - - - - (16,831) (16,831)
SMNEBEER Currency translation differences - - 1,301 - - - 1,301
BREATHE Appropriation to statutory reserve - - - - 570 (570) -
EEERETE - Employee share option scheme -
BER%EE value of employee services - - - 663 - 285 948
RZEZZE At 31 December 2023
+ZA=+-8 44,065 1,942 (10,388 4,013 30448 84,059 164,189
Vi Note:
(i) FEFARZAEREBIRRBEZTRASZ (i) Statutory reserve of a subsidiary in The PRC can be utilised to offset future
RAREIESIEMEEB R losses or increase the capital of the subsidiary.
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29 EHEERER 29 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS
(a) PBRFIEBRAIGEAKSEHMEREN (a)  Reconciliation of loss before income tax to cash generated from
HER - operations:
—EmE —ET=F
2024 2023
ARBETFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FRPTISTRAIES 18 Loss before income tax (9,061) (14,195)
U TIEEEHBE . Adjustments for:
FMEWA Interest income (2,442) (1,842)
FMERXZ Interest expense 273 206
ME BB REREINE (WE13) Depreciation for property, plant and
equipment (Note 13) 3,770 3,450
EREEESERE Wati14) Depreciation for right-of-use assets
(Note 14) 5,061 8,889
mEEE#ME (Wat15) Amortisation of intangible assets
(Note 15) 1,046 3,281
EFEERE (BRE) BE (Wat18) (Reversal of)/provision for impairment of
inventories (Note 18) (3,276) 4,846
THEERBRHED Reversal of loss allowance
for financial assets (762) (1,522)
DEBERBD 2 ES Share of results of associates 22 4,730
KRE—BHE AR ZRERBE Impairment loss on investment in an
associate - 2,019
HEWME BB R&REB WS B5Eb) Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment (Note b) (129) -
EILBEEZRERRE Impairment loss on intangible assets 2,325 10,634
BATFEFAEGZESHEEZ Fair value losses/(gains) on financial assets
NTERE () at fair value through profit or loss 17,087 (964)
RS Share option expenses (1,545) 948
12,369 20,480
EEE T Changes in working capital:
=78 Inventories (37,394) 60,549
EE A EEWRERE Trade and lease receivables 15,251 15,647
BHEE Contract assets (1,700) 15,281
ETIE B R EMEREIE Prepayments, deposits and other
receivables (18,810) 12,500
EEREMIRIE Trade payables 60,906 (58,769)
FEST & A R E A E A RIS Accruals and other payables (18,352) (3,785)
BHEE Contract liabilities 2,504 (25,724)
REEEMAAERE Cash generated from operations 14,774 36,179
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29 EHHEERER® 29 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS (continued)
(b) MEaMHREREXR VE -BEARBZ (b)  In the consolidated statement of cash flow, proceeds from disposal
FTiSIBEIE © of property, plant and equipment:
2024 2023
ARHEFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
HEME -BREKRZBZMERE Proceeds from the disposal of property,
plant and equipment 166 -
B RERE Less: Net book amount (37) -
HEME BB RSB W FEE Net gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment 129 -
(c) EXBEmEIHZAEHIER (c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities
HESE HEaE
—REaHa —FERE A HEaGERE
Lease liabilities ~ Lease liabilities
- current - non-current Total lease
portion portion liabilities
NEETFT ANRETFT ANEETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
R-ZE-_=F5—HF—H As at 1 January 2023 8,548 945 9,493
ReRg Cash flows (10,087 - (10,087)
FREEE . Non-cash movements:
SNERE Exchange differences 170 - 170
WEHRE Acquisition of leases 2,539 3,329 5,868
HESGENEMS Interest expense on lease liabilities 206 - 206
HitIER&EH Other non-cash movement 1,706 (1,706) -

RZBZ=%+-B=+—R As at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024

k-2-mE—-F—H 3,082 2,568 5,650
Reneg Cash flows (4,519) - (4,519)
FREEH . Non-cash movements:

SNEZE Exchange differences 157 - 157

ERE Acquisition of leases 3,114 4,461 7,575

HESGENEMS Interest expense on lease liabilities 273 - 273

HitIFREEH Other non-cash movement 2,039 (2,039) -
RZ2_ME+-F=+—H Asat31December 2024 4,146 4,990 9,136
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30 #EI D ZzERMTIA 30 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
REEHZEINEMTEZREGENOT ! The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments

as at the balance sheet date are as follows:

—E-NE TET =4
2024 2023
ABHEFT ANEBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EMEE- Financial assets —
BEER AT R EMEE financial assets at amortised cost
HERWERIE—$E Trade receivables — net 186,952 200,421
& R EAME RIS Deposits and other receivables 1,868 2,643
HERREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 186,288 189,756
375,108 392,820
BATESAABEZEMEE Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss 60,439 76,608
EHEaE- Financial liabilities - financial liabilities at
BIBHER AN RZERMEE amortised cost
EEREIRIE Trade payables 170,711 109,696
e & A R E M ENRIE Accruals and other payables 13,843 14,464
HEAE Lease liabilities 9,136 5,650
193,690 129,810

174 EZEHN R B R AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited



B R RN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 &K 31 COMMITMENTS
(a) REHREXRE (a) Operating lease commitments
TEBAFAN As lessee
RIZE_WNERZZEZ=Z5+2ZA At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the future aggregate minimum
=+—B > FoOBHEEHEEETERBA lease payments in respect of office under non-cancellable short-
EARREBHEENREBRAEGESE term leases are recognised as expenses on a straight-line as
RARZWT - follows:
2024 2023
ABBFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
e —5 Not later than one year 94 67
TEABLHFAN As lessor
RIZE2EZONFEFRZZEZ=9+2I2A At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the future minimum lease
=t+—B >  FOUREKCERE T2 REKE payments receivable under non-cancellable operating leases are as
BERENROT : follows:
—E-ME —EC=F
2024 2023
ANEHEFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BB —5 Not later than one year 34 969
34 969
32 kS 32 DIVIDENDS
BHE_ T _NEA_E_ZF+"A=+—H During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Company did
IEFE ARABAEHIKGRKE not recommend the payment of dividend.
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FEALRS

RIEZME+ZA=+—H>34.07% (=
TT=F 134.07%) 2 A RBRMHHBEFSK
Holdings Limited (R&BFMAILZAR) &
BREA M10.24% (ZFEZ=9F :110.24%) =
AT RPEFDG Fund, L.LP.EERE FSK
Holdings Limited#/A&FDG Fund, L.P.ARZEKIE
K75% 2 BIREB AN

MAEENETB2EEAEZEMAMERNESR
MENERNBEHE-SMBNEERR
BEAREBARZTANEL  AZALHRR
REAERERE-FEALIUREARE
fg o

PR R EMEL D P RAYREE A L& RS
AEAREBEATHREHBEBPITINEKX
AL R URMEA LR R EENGHE
T o

(a) HEREALZXS

33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

As at 31 December 2024, 34.07% (2023: 34.07%) of the Company’s
shares were directly held by FSK Holdings Limited, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong and 10.24% (2023: 10.24%) of the
Company’s shares were directly held by FDG Fund, L.P. FSK Holdings
Limited is a limited partner of FDG Fund, L.P. contributing to about 75%
of its total commitment.

Parties are considered to be related to the Group if the Group or any
member of its key management personnel or their close family members
has the ability, directly or indirectly, to exercise significant influence over
the parties in making financial and operating decisions, or vice versa.
Related parties may be individuals or entities.

The following is a summary of significant related party transactions
entered into in the ordinary course of business between the Group and its
related parties and the balances arising from related party transactions in
addition to the related party information shown elsewhere in the financial
statements.

(a) Transactions with related parties

—EUE B
2024 2023
Jiogs AREFT ANEEFT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
EEALTIHES R Sales of goods to related parties () 17,073 13,658
‘R E A TIREIRTS Rendering of services to related parties (i) 221,361 321,583
HAEALTHEESR Purchases of goods from related parties (0 8,740 19,089
RIZE2EZNFEFRZZ2EZ=9+ZA As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, amounts due from/(to) related
=+—H>EY () BEATREBEA parties are included in below:
UFIEE
—FmE —E-=
2024 2023
AREFIT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EEEWIRIE Trade receivables 82,728 120,382
BHEE Contract assets 3,176 232
e FENRIEREMEWTIE Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 478 174
FEfT & AR TIE Trade payables (5,191) (3,272)
BRHEE Contract liabilities (2,252) (1,914)
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33 FAEALRG @& 33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (ontinued)
(a) HBEAEALZRS (#E) (a) Transactions with related parties (continued)
st : Notes:
(i) HEZZ-_MNE+ZBE=+—HIE (i) During the year ended 31 December 2024, sales and purchases of
ErifERBESERNBRBERITNS & goods are charged at prices mutually agreed by the relevant parties,
FAHEZBERKE BB EEETER representing Hon Hai Precision Industry Company Limited and its group
MBERABDREEERENT (HIBIB companies (‘Hon Hai Group”) (2023: Same).

BEER) CET=F 48R °

(ii) IR G HBMEALTHBIHBE 58S (ii) Terms of services are mutually agreed by the relevant parties, Hon Hai
£®/- Group.
(b) ETEEBEASZIRM (b) Key management personnel compensation

—TWmE TEC=F
2024 2023
AREFT ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
TE - #e k2 Wages, salaries and allowances 1,667 1,546
TEAT Bonus 215 202
BRE A —EREHRETE Pension costs — defined contribution plans 16 16
1,898 1,764
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34 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENTS

34 ZRFZEERRRKFEE
& OF THE COMPANY

—E_ME —EFT=HF
2024 2023
ik ABBFT ANEBFT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BE ASSETS
EREEE Non-current assets
RFARNEE Investments in subsidiaries (a) 1 1
EW F A B 7R IE Amounts due from subsidiaries 185,754 184,442
_______________________________________________________ 185,755 184,443
REEE Current assets
TR & R M EWEIE Prepayments, deposits and other
receivables 354 402
RERREEBY Cash and cash equivalents 381 55
_______________________________________________________ 735 457
WEE Total assets 186,490 184,900
Exm EQUITY
TATERREARGRERER Capital and reserves attributable to
equity holders of the Company
(@ Share capital 68,447 68,447
B 17 (B Share premium 213,865 213,865
H B Reserves (b) (96,635) (98,430)
a@;g@ _________ Total equity 185,677 183,882
=R LIABILITIES
mENEE Current liabilities
FExtER R EMELRIE Accruals and other payables 813 1,018
FS=Ri=] Total liabilities 813 1,018
HERSKREE Total equity and liabilities 186,490 184,900
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34 FRTIZzEEEBRRH#AGRE 34 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENTS

B = OF THE COMPANY (continued)
(a) F2F (a) Subsidiaries
RIZE_WNERZZEZ=Z5+2ZA Particulars of significant subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024 and
=tT—HZEIZBFRAEHUT : 2023 are as follows:
RUTEEMBREBD L

Percentage of
equity interest held

SR HRES
27 R TELEE REETRE ZEImE “RCCF EEBRER TELH
Place of
Incorporation/  Principal place Registered and Type of
Company establishment of operation issued capital 2024 2023 legal entity Principal activities
ERRARE
Interests held directly
ERBRAS HRELES REEYEHE 1% 100% 100% BREERT REZR
Grand Ditto Limited British Virgin British Virgin usD1 100% 100% Limited liability Investment holding
Islands Islands company
RERRAS HRELES REEYEHE 1% 100% 100% BREERF REZR
Upright Ample Limited British Virgin British Virgin usD1 100% 100%  Limited liability Investment holding
Islands Islands company
BERERRAT HRELES REEYEHE 1% 100% 100% BREERF TEEx
Bright Deal Investments Limited British Virgin British Virgin usD1 100% 100% Limited liability Dormant
Islands Islands company
Diamond Harvest Holdings Limited ~ EBEZ#E HERUEE S 100% 100% BREFAH REZR
Diamond Harvest Holdings Limited  British Virgin British Virgin usD1 100% 100% Limited liability Investment holding
Islands Islands company
REREEL
Interests held indirectly
BERXERAT BE B 80,000,001 100% 100% BREAAST BERERBAE
BRRR
Grand Field Technology Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$80,000,001 100% 100%  Limited liability Smart manufacturing and
company office solutions
ZEENBRBERNERAT = = 150,000,000%7 & # 100% 100% BRETAT BRENERBAE
BARHE
Maxnerva Technology Service Inc. Taiwan Taiwan NTD150,000,000 100% 100%  Limited liability Smart manufacturing and
company office solutions
Maxnerva Technology Services US [ E35 1% 100% 100% HREFAE RERRREERAE
LLC BRRR
Maxnerva Technology Services US ~ United States United States usD1 100% 100% Limited liability Investment holding and
LLC company smart office solutions
Retail Hardware Solutions LLC e E3E FMER1,0005 7T 100% 100% BREFAH REBEBAME
BARHE
Retail Hardware Solutions LLC United States United States Registered capital of 100% 100%  Limited liability Provision of temperature
USD1,000 company screening access
control solutions
Personify, Inc. E3E] E3E 10%7T 100% 100% BREEAD BEBAZRANE
Personify, Inc. United States United States usb10 100% 100% Limited liability Smart office solutions
company
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(a)

FRAF (#)

34 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENTS

OF THE COMPANY (continued)

(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

RUTEERFREED L

Percentage of
equity interest held

B3l AT HREX
27 R TEEEHY REETRE —EmE “2TCF EERBER TEEH
Place of
Incorporation/  Principal place Registered and Type of
Company establishment of operation issued capital 2024 2023 legal entity Principal activities
Personify (Vietnam) Company HE HE 50,0008 % & 100% 100% BRETAR BEBAZRARER
Limited
Personify (Vietham) Company Vietnam Vietnam VND50,000 100% 100% Limited liability Smart office solutions
Limited company
Maxnerva Technology Services HE i 11,000,000,000 100% - BR&ERERA BENERBAE
(Vietnam) Limited Company HEE BARE
(i)
Maxnerva Technology Services Vietnam Vietnam VND11,000,000,000 100% - Limited liability Smart manufacturing and
(Vietnam) Limited Company company office solutions
(Note i)
ZEE (BB BHRERBERAT FE F ARER 100% 100% BREFAF BENERHBAE
(hatii) 10,000,000% 7% BARE
ZR[E (BB BHNERE the PRC the PRC Registered capital of 100% 100%  Limited liability Smart manufacturing and
A R/AE)(Wisecloud Technology USD10,000,000 company office solutions
Service Inc.) (Note iif)
EEE %) IRRBEERAT HE F ARER 100% 100% BREFAF BENERHBAE
(hatii) 80,000,00070 A & % BARE
ZRE (8 HEREERAR the PRC the PRC Registered capital of 100% 100%  Limited liability Smart manufacturing and
(Maxnerva (Wuhan) Technology RMB&80,000,000 company office solutions
Services Limited) (Note i)
ZEE (R BHRERBERAT FE F ARER 100% 100% BREFAF BENERHBAE
(hatii) 20,000,00070 A & % BARE
ZRE (R 2B EREERAE the PRC the PRC Registered capital of 100% 100%  Limited liability Smart manufacturing and
(Maxnerva (Shenzhen) Technology RMB20,000,000 company office solutions
Services Limited) (Note i)
btaE - Notes:
(i) BHE_Z_NEE_E-_=%+"A8 (i) None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital in issue at any time during

=St+t-HLEFEFARE EFATH
BEABERTZEEES-

(i) Maxnerva Technology Services (Vietnam)

Limited Companyf? — 2 —

SERARIL ©

mE—HAEA

(i)  HRPEEFMAIZERNE AT L EE
HENARL BEERHRABFNS

BEIEREX -

the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

(i) Maxnerva Technology Services (Vietnam) Limited Company was

incorporated on 5 January 2024,

(iif) The English names of the group companies incorporated in The PRC
represent the best effort by the directors in translating its Chinese name

as they do not have official English names.

EEER KR AR AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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#

(b) ETRBRZfEEES

34 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENTS

OF THE COM PANY (continued)

(b) Reserve movements of the Company

BRREIHE BRfE  BRERE ER ZHER M
Capital Share
redemption Capital option Exchange Accumulated
reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total
NEETFr  ANEEFn AREFn AEEFn  ABEFT  ARETZ
AMB 000 RMB 000 AMB 000 AMB 000 AMB 000 AMB 000
RZ2Z=%-F—-H At 1 January 2023 1,942 77,250 3,350 (12,279) (169,442) (99,179)
FEHR Loss for the year - - - - (2,235) (2,235)
ERER Exchange translation difference - - - 2,036 - 2,036
EEBRETE- Employee share option scheme -
EERBEE value of employee services - - 663 - 285 948
RIEZ=F+ZA=+-H At 31 December 2023 and
R-E-mE—F-A 1 January 2024 1,942 71,250 4,013 (10243)  (171,302) (98,430)
FEBR Loss for the year - - - - (2,633) (2,633)
ERER Exchange translation difference - - - 5,973 - 5,973
EEBRE S - Employee share option scheme -
EERBE®R value of employee services - - (1,545) - - (1,545)
RZE-ME+-FE=1+-H At 31 December 2024 1,942 77,250 2,468 (4,270) (174,025) (96,635)

35 AEE

35 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

A ZEMFE+ZA=t+—HB rx&EEA—F
FEETHRANEE G EERER UK
AEBIIBERBERNER ZEBESEAF
ENAKRBERESBEL AEE-

As at 31 December 2024, the Group was the defendant in an on-going
litigation. Combining with facts and the progress, as well as the opinions
of the external legal counsels of the Group, it is uncertain whether the
entity has committed wrongdoing and the amount of potential claims is
uncertain.
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AU 5 &5 B UL B O B 75 R AR I B) BEER AR
ZHMTEREER RSB ARBEN > IEFBER
EFME2RNAMAEFEENERER LEHHR
KTAHEEENKBRBERADARAEFAT
MRz NPT -

36.1 5HERRRED Tt EE

(a)

EEER KR AR AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited

FAE

FRABIERERHABFEGEN
FIEER (BEEBITEER) - BX
ERERABSEZERMARTED
BNERNER T ZEROET
WHEENBBENZERNENR
I E LM AEBRERZE
B-FRAZENEERELAER
ZABHEHAR FAREEH
BRIz BEFEEAHFAR-

EEANRB 2B F  HEER R
FZREFRETFUHF - ERF
RESERTIEREEELRMA
B RERGRTTFTUHH - FL
BINEGFHREN U BEFEE > MY
TR G A EE MR B ER — B o

36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

This note provides a list of other potentially material accounting policies

adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements.

These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented,

unless otherwise stated. The financial statements are for the Group

consisting of Maxnerva Technology Services Limited and its subsidiaries.

36.1 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

(a)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated
from the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when
necessary to ensure consistency with policies adopted by the
Group.
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36.1 AHRAKREEEHERE (@)

(b)

BERE

BMEADEAERAEBEARLEN
BEmEfERBoEfENE
BoBREBERT AEBREF20%
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—Ho

REDIRNRENRTEREN
5136.6FT I BUR TR E R = o

36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continved)

36.1 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
(continued)

(b)

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence but not control or joint control. This is generally the
case where the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the
voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for
using the equity method of accounting.

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments
are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or
losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s share
of movements in other comprehensive income of the investee
in other comprehensive income.

Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted
investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity,
including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the other
entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest
in these entities. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity-accounted
investees have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments
is tested for impairment in accordance with the policy
described in Note 36.6.
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36.2

36.3

36.4

BIMBERR

RFRBEVRER M A FRBES] R B
REERENEREGRE - FARME
BHREAABBRBERKERER BT

MK EBEEIRKRSIHANTFRBMNEER
BlE MBIV HFREPNRER
HEBRGHUBTRERPRKRED FEE
(BEEHE) NIREE WARKRZSE
RENRERANR FRASNKREFRE

At o

2

okt

B4R &

BENMNRESANARTEEERR
ANERHHABHRENFR -

TEEERRANBEIRERL BT
BIEDEHIRIR - (FH R M RENNT
EERIERTIBEERRA-

SMBME

(a) DEEFMZHEE
AEEBETEER I MBERERAME
EENRAEREREEMEZE
ERBRRBERACER (TR
W) SHE KRB ZYEERRE
T MEHBBREURAT KRAE
EEZEREBEARBEHK -

(b) XGREE
SINERZIRBRZHINEEREE
Mt ENEERRNEXRERI
FEEB - HEZERFEENER
BBURKINESHENEREER
BERFREZMEELNERE
B TER) R ARERD

S IME W m R BRI R AR
MEfz (B5R) 2 FREI25]

36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

36.2

36.3

36.4

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of investment.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required
upon receiving dividends from these investments if the dividend
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in
the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker.

The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the executive directors that make
strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The Company’s functional
currency is Hong Kong dollars while the consolidated
financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the
Company’s and the Group’s presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-
measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation
at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the
income statement.

Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the
income statement within “Other gains/(losses), net”.

EEER KR AR AT Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continved)

36.4 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(b)

(c)

Transactions and balances (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at
the date when the fair value was determined. Translation
differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value
are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For
example, translation differences on non-monetary assets
and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the
fair value gain or loss and translation differences on non-
monetary assets such as equities classified as fair value
through other comprehensive income are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation
currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented
are translated at the closing rate at the date of that
balance sheet;

(if) income and expenses for each income statement
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of the
transactions); and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of any net investment in foreign entities, are
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a foreign
operation is sold, the associated exchange differences are
reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on
sale.
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36.5

36.6
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36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

36.5

36.6

Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less
depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income
statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their cost amounts, net of their residual values if any, over their
estimated useful lives or, in the case of leasehold improvements,
the lease term as follows:

Computer equipment 3 to 5 years
Leasehold improvements Shorter of lease term or 5 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3 to 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount (Note 36.6).

Gain or loss on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within
“other gains/(losses), net” in the income statement.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Non-financial assets that are not subject to depreciation or
amortisation are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might
be impaired. Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from
other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-
financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting period.
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36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continved)

36.7 Financial assets

(a)

(b)

(c)

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets as following
measurement categories: (i) those measured subsequently at
fair value through profit or loss; and (i) those to be measured
at amortised cost. The classification depends on the entity’s
business model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows. Management determines
the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

For assets measured at fair value through profit or loss, gains
and losses will be recorded in profit or loss. For investments
in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will
depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable
election at the time of initial recognition to account for the
equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when
its business model for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the
financial assets have expired or have been transferred and
the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards
of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”), transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL
are expensed in profit or loss.
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Measurement (continued)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on
the Group’s business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are two
measurement categories into which the Group classifies its
debt instruments:

° Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. A gain or loss on
a debt investment that is subsequently measured at
amortised cost and is not part of a hedging relationship
is recognised in the consolidated income statements
when the asset is derecognised or impaired. Interest
income from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest rate
method.

° Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not
meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are
measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at FVPL and is not part
of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss
and presented net in ‘Other gains/(losses), net’ in the
period in which it arises.

° Financial assets with embedded derivatives, for
example, a convertible bond, are considered in their
entirety when determining whether their cash flows are
solely payment of principal and interest.
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36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continved)

36.7 Financial assets (continued)
(c) Measurement (continued)
Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments
at fair value. Changes in the fair value of financial assets
at FVPL are recognised in Other gains/(losses), net in the
consolidated income statement as applicable.

(d) Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected
credit losses associated with all instruments subjected
to the expected credit loss assessment. The impairment
methodology applied to debt instruments other than financial
assets through profit or loss depends on whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk. Note 3.1(b)
details how the Group determines whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk.

For trade and other receivables (excluding other tax
receivables), contract assets and finance leases receivables,
the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by
HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognised from initial recognition of the receivables, see
Note 3.1(b) for further details.

36.8 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is
reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be
contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal
course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or
bankruptcy of the Group or the counterparty.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3§ 189



BHMBRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 HthrAlgEEAETHRBE @

36.9

BHNEERGHNER

EHNEERFAEBEERNEREER MR
BR# A U AR E 2R - 2R ERE UL
ANEZ R R EEGR BNREERR
BB EGRAINBAORE)  SNEE
B A FEWRRIE - B E E R E M 5E36.7
FREEREESE 29 RIKE-

BNEEAEERRNEAERERREZ
EREEERAMBTET -

36.10 RERBFEFEY

RRBREREXRERMS R KREE
EYEEFERSRRITERAER

36.11 B3 7

ZERINEEm - BETHRONPER
BEAERIE A TE R T R A PRISRIE
(BRIR12) BYIOIRL

36. 12 (T & £ ARIA

ENEERERT —REXBEROMH
EEEERRARBMEFLARNE
o MNP & 22 AR TR ~ HM B (I RUIE R 8
SFEANSNYBERE-—FRUAN WELE
BEEERT ATRERRE) BN HE
AnBaE,; SRIZ2JEIFRBEaRE-.

R EERE Bt RERESTER
M RATERES BRI AEEREZE
REBIHR AT E -

36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

36.9 Contracts assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred
to a customer. A contract asset becomes a receivable when the
Group’s right to consideration is unconditional, which is the case
when only the passage of time is required before payment of
the consideration is due. The impairment of contract assets is
measured, presented and disclosed on the same basis set out in
Note 36.7.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration.

36.10 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and deposits held
at call with banks.

36.11 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

36.12 Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that
have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Trade payables, other payables and accruals are
classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or
less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If
not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables, other payables and accruals are recognised initially
at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.
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36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continved)

36.13 Employee benefits

(a)

Pension obligations

The Group participates in various defined contribution
retirement benefit plans which are available to all relevant
employees. These plans are generally funded through
payments to schemes established by government or
trustee-administered funds. A defined contribution plan is a
pension plan under which the Group pays contributions on
a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis into a separate
entity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to
pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient
assets to pay all employees the benefit relating to employee
service in the current and prior periods.

Hong Kong

Employees of the Group in Hong Kong are required to
participate in a defined contribution scheme as defined in
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”). The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group under independently administered funds.

Under the MPF Scheme, each of the Group and its
employees makes monthly contributions to the scheme at
5% of the employee’s relevant income, as defined in the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance. Both the
Group’s and the employee’s contributions are subjected to a
cap of HK$1,500 per month, with contributions beyond these
amounts being voluntary. The contributions are fully and
immediately vested to the employees.

The PRC

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group
contributes to state-sponsored retirement plans for its
relevant employees in the PRC. The Group and its relevant
employees make monthly contributions to the plans at the
respective statutory rates on the relevant income (comprising
salaries, allowances and bonus). The Group has no further
obligations for the actual payment of post-retirement benefits
beyond its contributions. The state-sponsored retirement
plans are responsible for the entire post-retirement benefits
payable to retired employees.
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36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

36.13 Employee benefits (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Pension obligations (continued)

Taiwan

The Company participates in a defined contribution pension
plan (the “New Plan”) under the Labor Pension Act (the
“Act”), covering all regular employees in Taiwan. Under
the New Plan, the Company contribute monthly an amount
based on 6% of the employees’ monthly salaries and wages
to the employees’ individual pension accounts at the Bureau
of Labor Insurance. The benefits accrued are paid monthly
or in lump sum upon termination of employment. The Group
has no further obligations for the actual payment of post-
retirement benefits beyond its contributions.

All contributions to pension plans are fully and immediately
vested and the Group had no unvested benefits available to
reduce its future contributions.

Bonus plan

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised as a
liability when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of services rendered by employees and
a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made. Liabilities
of bonus plan are expected to be settled within twelve
months and are measured at the amounts expected to be
paid when they are settled.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when
they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the
estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are
not recognised until the time of leave.
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The Group operates a share-based compensation plan for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participates
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. The fair
value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant
of the options is recognised as an expense. The total amount to be
expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the options
granted:

° including any market performance conditions (for example,
an entity’s share price);

° excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions (for example, profitability,
sales growth targets and remaining an employee of the entity
over a specified time period); and

° including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (for
example, the requirement for employees to save).

Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about
the number of options that are expected to vest. The total expense
is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over
which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of options that are expected to vest based on the
non-market performance and service conditions. It recognises the
impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the income
statement, with a corresponding adjustment to equity. When
the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The
proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs
are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share premium.
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36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

36.15 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when: the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation;
and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not
recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any
one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the
provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense
within “finance costs” in the income statement.

36.16 Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

Interest income is presented as finance income where it is earned
from financial assets that are held for cash management purposes.
Any other interest income is included in other income.

36.17 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where
there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and
the Group will comply with all attached conditions. Government
grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the profit
or loss over the period necessary to match them with the costs
that they are intended to compensate. Government grants are
presented in “other income” in the consolidated income statement.
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Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by
the Group, except for all short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the lease and
non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on
a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value
of the fixed lease payments.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension
options are also included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is
generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee
would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an
asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease
period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability; and

° any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of
the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. If
the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the
right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful
life.
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36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

36.18 Leases (continued)

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and
vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases
are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value
assets comprise IT equipment and small items of office equipment.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor
is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over the lease
term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the underlying asset and
recognised as expense over the lease term on the same basis as
lease income. The respective leased assets are included in the
balance sheet based on their nature.

Lease income from finance lease recognised as finance income
based on a pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on
the lessor’s net investment outstanding in respect of the finance
lease. At commencement of the lease term, the lessor should
record a finance lease in the balance sheet as a receivable, at an
amount equal to the net investment in the lease. The derecognition
and impairment requirements of HKFRS 9 apply to a lessor’s net
investment in a lease.

36.19 Dividend distribution

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared,
being appropriately authorised and no longer at the discretion of
the entity, on or before the end of the reporting period but not
distributed at the end of the reporting period.
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